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Chairman’s Statement

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

 

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Hevol Services Group Co. 
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present 
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting 
Period”).

ADVANCING INTO SOUTHWESTERN CHINA AND EMBARKING ON A NEW 
JOURNEY

The year of 2023 is a historic year for the Group as the Group set up its operation headquarters 
in Chengdu, and established a dual-headquarters operation model in Beijing and Chengdu. 
Relying on the solid economic foundation and property market with huge potential in China’s 
southwestern provinces, the Company focused on developing market and expanding business, 
increased market share, enhanced scale effect, optimized regional layout, and improved 
regional service ability and market competitiveness. Meanwhile, under the Group’s strategic 
principle of “four unwaverings” – unwavering adherence to the three-year development plan, 
unwavering commitment to service quality foundations, unwavering adherence to third-party 
entrustment development and unwavering adherence to the principle of benefit sharing, the 
Group has successfully fought the three major battles of “quality, expansion and value-adding” 
and achieved excellent results during the year, with sustained and steady growth in operation 
revenue, profitability and management scale.

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2023, Hevol Services Group Co., Limited and its 
subsidiaries achieved revenue of approximately RMB1,313.3 million, representing an increase 
of approximately 26.1% over the same period in 2022; in particular, the revenue from property 
management services amounted to approximately RMB987.5 million, representing a year-on-year 
increase of approximately 26.7%; the revenue from community value-added services amounted to 
approximately RMB253.5 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 43.7%; 
the revenue from value-added services to non-property owners amounted to approximately 
RMB72.3 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 15.4%; the Group’s 
gross profit was approximately RMB336.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 
13.9% over the same period in 2022.

During the year, the Group realized net profit of about RMB114.1 million, an increase of 
approximately 10.1% compared with the same period in 2022. The net profit attributable to 
shareholders of the Company amounted to about RMB77.9 million, an increase of approximately 
13.4% compared with the same period in 2022. The basic earnings per share was approximately 
RMB13.91 cents.
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As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total number of 335 projects under management, with 
a total gross floor area (GFA) of approximately 55.8 million sq.m., an increase of approximately 
8.6% compared with approximately 51.4 mill ion sq.m. by the end of 2022, of which the 
Southwestern China GFA was approximately 29.6 million sq.m., accounting for approximately 
53.0% of the total GFA under management. The Group had contracted a total of 359 projects, 
with a total contracted GFA of approximately 64.7 million sq.m., an increase of approximately 3.7% 
compared with approximately 62.4 million sq.m. by the end of 2022.

SOLIDIFYING QUALITY STANDARDS AND ENHANCING CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE

Following China’s emphasis on grass-roots management and community service, the property 
service boundaries have been gradually extended, and the property industry has entered the 
stage of independent development. The property management enterprises have returned 
to pursuing high-quality services. As a member of the Top 100 property management 
enterprises, the Group adheres to strategic policy of “unwavering commitment to service quality 
foundations”, and has improved the “five-enjoyment service system”: strengthened the service 
contact points management, and provided refined, professional and intelligent property services 
for property owners, in order that owners may have the best service experience and security. 
Through five-level inspections, the Group continuously summed up experience to consolidate 
basic service foundations. The Group adheres to the initial aspiration in service, understands the 
essence of service, and practices quality management throughout the organization, and strives to 
realize the service concept of “A Happy Life With Hevol”.

STEADY EXPANSION TO ACHIEVE BUSINESS DIVERSIFICATION

Following the orderly development of the property management industry promoted by policies, 
local communities actively responded by establishing property owner committees, and the 
property services in existing market showed a positive trend of openness and marketization. The 
Group attached great importance to the third-party entrustment market development, seized 
industry opportunities, strengthened its position in existing markets through the continuous 
accumulation of industry experience and focus on service quality, and achieved steady growth in 
scale. In 2023, the Group optimized its business processes, improved its training and incentive 
system, and provided strong support for third-party entrustment business expansion. On the 
management front, the Group constantly explored new fields and business models, improved the 
professional service capabilities across niche segments, and further diversifies it business through 
comprehensive enhancement. The Group aspires to become a comprehensive property services 
provider.
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FOCUSING ON THE NEEDS OF PROPERTY OWNERS AND REFINING 
HOUSE-AND-CAR SERVICES

Through years of operational experience, the Group has established value-added service 
systems featuring services like home life, house rental and sales, home furnishing, community 
tours, community retail, constantly enriched service categories according to property owners’ 
needs in daily life to improve their satisfaction. During the year, the Group clearly defined 
the house-and-car business as the core of value-added services, and built a house-themed 
housekeeper service system focusing on property owners’ needs such as house replacement, 
rental, renovation, home renewal, as well as a car-themed housekeeper service system focusing 
on the needs of car wash and care, maintenance and repair. With a professional and pragmatic 
attitude, the Company continued to refine the value-added services and improve service quality.

A new journey has begun. The Group will continuously improve service quality and create a 
beautiful and comfortable living environment for property owners, enrich community value-added 
services categories to meet property owners’ needs. The Group will strengthen the third-party 
entrustment market expansion and steadily expand the business scale, adhere to the path of 
high-quality development and create greater return on investment for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my gratitude to all shareholders, business 
partners, property owners, customers and suppliers for their long-term support and trust to the 
Group, and also the management and all staff for their hard work and contribution to the Group.

Liu Jiang
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

The year of 2023 is the first year to fully 
implement the spirit of the 20th National 
Congress of the China Communist Party, 
and the year of economic recovery and 
development after three years of COVID-19 
pandemic prevention and control. Under 
constant pressure, China has embarked on 
a road of economic recovery and achieved 
remarkable results. As the overall economy 
ga ins momentum, the property serv ice 
industry has made steady progress on the 
road of exploring high-quality development. 
On December 27th, 2023, the Nat ional 
Deve lopment  and Re fo rm Commiss ion 
issued the Catalogue for Guiding Industrial 
Restructuring (2024 Edition), and the property 
service industry has been adjusted from the 
previous categorizat ion of “Encouraged 
–  O t h e r  S e r v i c e s ”  t o  “ E n c o u r a g e d  – 
Business Services”. This further clarifies the 
positioning and nature of the industry, demonstrating continued strong support from the national 
government for the property sector. As an important sector that is close to residents and serves 
society, property service enterprises will have broader development opportunities going forward, 
and the Group will always adhere to the service concept of “A Happy Life With Hevol” and 
continue to provide property owners and customers with more quality services.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a renowned market player in the property management industry in China, and 
has been engaged in property management services for more than 22 years. Leveraging on its 
comprehensive strength in property management services, the Group has won the title of “Top 
100 Property Services Enterprises in China” issued by China Index Academy for consecutive 
years, and its comprehensive ranking rose from 32nd in 2022 to 29th in 2023. During the year, the 
Group won multiple awards such as “2023 Top 2 Growing Listed Property Enterprise in China”, 
“2023 Top 5 Independently Developed Listed Property Enterprise in China”, “2023 Leading 
Property Service Quality Brand in China”, “2023 Leading Property Value-added Service Operation 
Enterprise in China” and “2023 Leading Tech-Empowered Property Management Enterprise in 
China”.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group provided property management services, community 
value-added services and value-added services to non-property owners in 42 cities in 17 
provinces and municipalities in China, with a total number of 359 contracted projects and a total 
gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 64.7 million sq.m. (2022: 62.4 million sq.m.). The total 
number of projects under management amounted to 335, with a total GFA of approximately 55.8 
million sq.m. (2022: 51.4 million sq.m.). The Group maintained a steady growth in total contracted 
GFA and GFA under management.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,313.3 million, 
representing an increase of approximately 26.1% compared to the same period in 2022; gross 
profit of approximately RMB336.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 13.9% 
compared to the same period in 2022. The Group recorded net profit after tax for the twelve 
months ended 31 December 2023 of approximately RMB114.1 million, representing an increase 
of approximately 10.1% compared to the same period in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Property Management Services

The Group provides a range of property management services for property owners and residents 
as well as property developers, including security, cleaning, greening, gardening services as well 
as repair and maintenance services. The Group’s property management portfolio focuses on 
serving residential communities and also involves other types of properties, such as commercial 
properties and government offices, schools, hospitals and other professional services projects.
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Leveraging the momentum of digital technologies, the Group actively embraced changes and 
enhanced the quality of property service through technological prowess. Through the application 
of advanced digital technologies and intelligent systems, the Group realized comprehensive 
property management service upgrade. Leveraging big data analytics and artificial intelligence 
technologies, the Group deeply analyzes data to gain keen insights into owners’ needs and 
preferences. This enables the delivery of more tailored services. Through the application of smart 
security systems, community safety management is strengthened in a comprehensive manner, 
cultivating a secure and comfortable living environment for owners. The application of digital 
technologies not only improved the efficiency and quality of property services, but also further 
enhanced property owners’ satisfaction and sense of belonging.

As of 31 December 2023, the revenue from property management services amounted to 
approximately RMB987.5 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB208.1 million 
or approximately 26.7% as compared to approximately RMB779.4 million in the same period in 
2022. For the twelve months ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue generated from 
property management services, representing approximately 75.2% of the Group’s total revenue 
for the period.

Market expansion is highly valued by the Group and elevated as one of its three strategic 
pr ior i t ies. Southwestern China, a key focus region for the Group’s presence, saw the 
establishment of an operation headquarters in Chengdu at the end of 2023 to fully support the 
development of regional market in Southwestern China. During the year, the Group optimized 
the business processes and incentive systems, improved the post-expansion evaluation system of 
market expansion and achieved excellent results. Over 60 new projects were contracted, and the 
saturated income of new projects was approximately RMB200 million.

On 31 December 2023, the Group managed 335 property services projects across 42 cities in 17 
provinces and municipalities in China, with a total contracted GFA of about 55.8 million sq.m., 
an increase of about 8.6% compared with 51.4 million sq.m. in the same period in 2022, mainly 
covering six regions in China, namely Northern China, Northeastern China, Eastern China, Central 
China, Southwestern China and Southern China.
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Geographical Coverage

The table below sets out the breakdowns of (i) revenue from property management services and 
(ii) GFA under management classified by geographic regions which the Group provides property 
management services for the periods indicated:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Revenue generated 

from property 
management services

GFA under  
management

Revenue generated 
from property 

management services
GFA under  

management
RMB’000 % ’000 sq.m. % RMB’000 % ’000 sq.m. %

         

Northern China(1) 107,759 10.9 6,099 10.9 103,650 13.3 5,463 10.6
Northeastern China(2) 42,082 4.3 2,845 5.1 42,534 5.5 2,660 5.2
Eastern China(3) 186,409 18.9 12,247 22.0 153,574 19.7 9,060 17.6
Central China(4) 16,762 1.7 1,062 1.9 14,038 1.8 633 1.2
Southwestern China(5) 545,679 55.2 29,561 53.0 388,502 49.8 30,098 58.6
Southern China(6) 88,781 9.0 3,951 7.1 77,124 9.9 3,476 6.8

         

Total 987,472 100.0 55,765 100.0 779,422 100.0 51,390 100.0
         

Notes:

(1) “Northern China” includes Beijing, Tianjin, Tangshan and Hohhot.

(2) “Northeastern China” includes Harbin, Shenyang, Panjin and Dandong.

(3) “Eastern China” includes Shanghai, Hangzhou, Jiaxing, Suzhou, Kunshan, Jingjiang, Jiangyin, Taixing, Xinghua, 
Xuzhou, Xinyi, Huaian and Huangshan.

(4) “Central China” includes Changsha, Yiyang, Yueyang, Huaihua and Zhumadian.

(5) “Southwestern China” includes Chongqing, Chengdu, Neijiang, Guiyang, Zunyi, Qiannanzhou and Panzhou.

(6) “Southern China” includes Dongguan, Zhongshan, Foshan, Jiangmen, Huizhou, Sanya, Lingshui, Wenchang and 
Ledong.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s property management projects have expanded to 42 cities 
in 17 provinces and municipalities in China. The following diagram illustrates the geographical 
coverage of the Group’s properties under management:

Harbin, Shenyang, Panjin, Dandong
Northeast China

Shanghai, Hangzhou, Jiaxing, 
Suzhou, Kunshan, Jingjiang, 
Jiangyin, Taixing, Xinghua
Xuzhou, Xinyi, Huai’an, Huangshan

East China

Changsha, Yiyang, Yueyang
Huaihua, Zhumadian

Central China

Chongqing, Chengdu, Neijiang
Guiyang, Zunyi, Qiannan, Panzhou

Southwestern China

Beijing, Tianjin, 
Tangshan, Hohhot

North China

Dongguan, Zhongshan, Foshan, 
Jiangmen Huizhou, Sanya, 
Lingshui, Wenchang, Ledong

South China

Northeast 
China

Southwestern
China

Central 
China

East 
China

North 
China

South 
China
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

The Group managed a diverse portfolio of property management, comprising primarily residential 
properties and, to a lesser extent, non-residential properties. Non-residential properties include 
commercial properties and other types of professional service projects. The table below sets 
out the breakdowns of its: (i) revenue generated from property management services by type of 
properties, and (ii) total GFA under management by type of properties for the periods indicated:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Revenue generated 

from property
management services

GFA under  
management

Revenue generated 
from property

management services
GFA under  

management
RMB’000 % ’000 sq.m. % RMB’000 % ’000 sq.m. %

         

Residential properties 873,350 88.4 52,275 93.7 689,089 88.4 46,322 90.1
Non-residential properties 114,122 11.6 3,490 6.3 90,333 11.6 5,068 9.9         

Total 987,472 100.0 55,765 100.0 779,422 100.0 51,390 100.0         
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The table below sets out the breakdowns of (i) revenue from property management services by 
type of property developer; and (ii) total GFA under management by type of property developer 
for the periods indicated:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Revenue generated 

from property 
management services

GFA under  
management

Revenue generated 
from property 

management services
GFA under  

management
RMB’000 % ’000 sq.m. % RMB’000 % ’000 sq.m. %

         

Hevol Real Estate Group(1) 211,474 21.4 8,810 15.8 196,430 25.2 8,257 16.1
Other property developers 775,998 78.6 46,955 84.2 582,992 74.8 43,133 83.9

         

Total 987,472 100.0 55,765 100.0 779,422 100.0 51,390 100.0
         

Note:

(1) Refers to Hevol Real Estate Group Limited (和泓置地集團有限公司) (“Hevol Real Estate”) and its subsidiaries.
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

Community value-added services

As an extension of the Group’s property management services business, the Group provides 
community value-added services to property owners and residents according to their needs. 
The Group’s community value-added services help to satisfy the needs of property owners and 
residents for quality life, enhance customer experience, as well as to create a healthier and more 
convenient living community. The community value-added services, mainly includes home-living 
services, real estate brokerage, housing decoration and renovation services, bulk purchases for 
community, online community business platform, parking space rental, and public facilities rental.

During the year, the Group achieved leap-forward growth in its community value-added services. 
Centered around owners’ asset management needs, services such as property rental, sales and 
renovations were provided to maintain and enhance owners’ asset values. Attentive to owners’ 
pursuit of cultural interests, diverse accompanying tourism services were launched. Meanwhile, 
the Group paid greater attention to owners’ home life needs and enriched community lifestyle 
support services. Focusing on improving owners’ satisfaction, a convenient and comfortable home 
living environment was cultivated. The Group aims to serve as a steward for quality community 
living through such property management services.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue from community value-added services reached 
approximately RMB253.5 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB77.1 million, 
or approximately 43.7% as compared to approximately RMB176.4 million in the same period in 
2022. For the twelve months ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue generated from 
community value-added services, representing approximately 19.3% of the Group’s total revenue 
for the period.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Revolving around the needs of property developers, the Group mainly provides site services 
and diverse property management services for property developers, and provides full-cycle and 
full-process services before property sales and delivery. Leveraging the Group’s professional 
service standards in the property management industry, property developers are comprehensively 
aided in enhancing their brand value.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue from value-added services to non-property owners 
amounted to approximately RMB72.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB13.1 
million, or approximately 15.4% as compared to approximately RMB85.4 million over the same 
period in 2022. For the twelve months ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue generated 
from value-added services to non-property owners, representing approximately 5.5% of the 
Group’s total revenue for the period.
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PROSPECT

The Group adheres to the service concept of “A Happy Life With Hevol”, and is committed to 
improving service quality and continuously innovating and optimizing the property management 
service system. In the future, the Group will further increase technology investment, promote 
smart property development and improve management efficiency. The Group will strengthen 
team building, cultivate more outstanding property management service talents and provide 
more professional and intimate services for property owners and customers. Meanwhile, the 
Group will actively explore new markets, seek more cooperation opportunities, expand business 
coverage and promote high-quality development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group derived revenue from: (i) property management services; (ii) community value-added 
services; and (iii) value-added services to non-property owners. Overall revenue increased by 
approximately RMB272.1 million, or approximately 26.1% from approximately RMB1,041.2 million 
in 2022 to approximately RMB1,313.3 million in 2023. Such growth was primarily attributable 
to an increase in revenue from property management services by approximately RMB208.1 
million, or approximately 26.7% and increase in revenue from community value-added services 
by approximately RMB77.1 million, or approximately 43.7% which is due to the impact of the 
acquisition of two major subsidiaries in 2022, and the Group’s intensification of market expansion 
efforts to acquire new property service projects, resulting in an increase in the total GFA under 
management, alongside the Group’s active development and enrichment of existing community 
value-added service categories. Two major subsidiaries which were acquired in April and October 
of 2022 aggregately contributed approximately RMB213.5 million and approximately RMB55.2 
million of revenue from property management services and community value-added services in 
2023, respectively. The Group’s total GFA under management increased by approximately 8.6% 
from approximately 51.4 million sq.m. in 2022 to approximately 55.8 million sq.m. in 2023, and 
the number of projects under management increased from 291 to 335.
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The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s total revenue by business segment for 
the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022 Change
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

       

Property management  
services 987,472 75.2 779,422 74.9 208,050 26.7

Community value-added  
services (including  
rental income) 253,536 19.3 176,407 16.9 77,129 43.7

Value-added services to  
non-property owners 72,275 5.5 85,392 8.2 (13,117) (15.4)

       

Total 1,313,283 100.0 1,041,221 100.0 272,062 26.1
       

Property management services

Property management services primarily include property management fees paid for providing 
security, cleaning, greening and gardening and repair and maintenance services to residential, 
commercial and other types of properties. Revenue increased by approximately RMB208.1 
million, or approximately 26.7%, from approximately RMB779.4 million in 2022 to approximately 
RMB987.5 million in 2023. Such increase was primarily attributable to the increase in the total 
GFA under management resulting from the Group’s intensification of market expansion efforts 
to acquire new property service projects and the impact of acquisitions of two major subsidiaries 
in 2022, which in aggregate contributed approximately RMB213.5 million of revenue from 
property management services in 2023. The Group’s total GFA under management increased by 
approximately 8.6% from approximately 51.4 million sq.m. in 2022 to approximately 55.8 million 
sq.m. in 2023, and the number of projects under management increased from 291 to 335.
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Community value-added services

Revenue from community value-added services increased by approximately RMB77.1 million or 
approximately 43.7% from approximately RMB176.4 million in 2022 to approximately RMB253.5 
million in 2023. Such revenue is divided into three segments, including (i) home-living services, (ii) 
parking space rental and (iii) public facilities rental, which amounted to approximately RMB106.2 
million, RMB93.5 million and RMB53.8 million, respectively, in 2023. Revenue from home-living 
services, parking space rental and public facilities rental amounted to approximately RMB85.8 
million, RMB48.4 million and RMB42.2 million, respectively, in 2022. Such increase was mainly 
due to the the increase in revenue brought by the Group’s active development and enrichment 
of existing community value-added service categories and the impact of the acquisition of two 
subsidiaries in 2022 which contributed a total revenue from community value-added services of 
approximately RMB55.2 million in 2023.

Value-added services to non-property owners

The Group provides a wide range of value-added services to non-property owners including sales 
site services, sales assistance services and ancillary property management services. Revenue from 
value-added services to non-property owners decreased by approximately RMB13.1 million, or 
approximately 15.4% from approximately RMB85.4 million in 2022 to approximately RMB72.3 
million in 2023. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to a decrease of revenue from sales 
assistance services to Hevol Real Estate Group and other property developers resulted from 
impact of domestic real estate market.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales of the Group primarily comprises staff costs, sub-contracting costs, utility expenses, 
repairs and maintenance costs, cost of providing ancillary property management services, 
material costs and sales taxes. Cost of sales increased by approximately RMB231.2 million or 
approximately 31.0% from approximately RMB745.9 million in 2022 to approximately RMB977.1 
million in 2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to: (i) increase of the Group’s staff costs by 
approximately RMB31.5 million from approximately RMB297.3 million in 2022 to approximately 
RMB328.8 million in 2023 due to the increasing staff costs as a result of business expansion and 
acquisition of subsidiaries, (ii) the increase of repairs and maintenance expenses by approximately 
RMB92.1 million from approximately RMB208.2 million in 2022 to approximately RMB300.3 
million in 2023 resulted from an increasing costs of repairs and maintenances incurred for certain 
older public facilities in the residential communities; and (iii) an increase of utilities expenses 
of approximately RMB37.6 million resulting from the increase in property service projects and 
the increase in sub-contracting costs of approximately RMB37.6 million as some services such 
as greening and security were outsourced to other service providers. The increase of cost of 
sales was substantially in line with the growth rate of revenue, primarily due to the synchronous 
increase in the cost resulted from the Group’s business expansion.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The table below sets forth the Group’s gross profit and gross profit margin by business segment 
for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Gross 
profit

Gross 
profit 

margin
Gross 
profit

Gross 
profit 

margin Change
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

       

Property management  
services 218,379 22.1 187,654 24.1 30,725 16.4

Community value-added  
services (including  
rental income) 98,666 38.9 79,720 45.2 18,946 23.8

Value-added services to  
non-property owners 19,171 26.5 27,934 32.7 (8,763) (31.4)

       

Total 336,216 25.6 295,308 28.4 40,908 13.9
       

Overall gross profit of the Group increased by approximately RMB40.9 million, or approximately 
13.9% from approximately RMB295.3 million in 2022 to approximately RMB336.2 million in 
2023. The increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to the economies of scale brought 
by the expansion of the Group’s business. Overall gross profit margin of the Group decreased 
from approximately 28.4% in 2022 to approximately 25.6% in 2023. Such decrease was primarily 
attributable to: (i) an increase in staff costs resulted from business expansion and acquisition 
of subsidiaries; (ii) newly acquired subsidiaries with lower gross profit margin in the segment of 
property management services; and (iii) an increase in the cost of repairs and maintenances of 
certain older facilities in the residential communities.

Property management services

Gross profit for the Group’s property management services increased by approximately RMB30.7 
million, or approximately 16.4% from approximately RMB187.7 million in 2022 to approximately 
RMB218.4 million in 2023. The increase of gross profit is primarily attributable to an increase in 
total GFA under management as a result of the Group’s intensified market expansion efforts to 
acquire new property service projects. Gross profit margin decreased from approximately 24.1% 
in 2022 to approximately 22.1% in 2023 as a result of an increase in staff cost resulted from 
business expansion and acquisition of subsidiaries and the impact of lower gross profit margin on 
newly acquired subsidiaries.
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Community value-added services

Gross profit for the Group’s community value-added services increased by approximately 
RMB19.0 million, or approximately 23.8% from approximately RMB79.7 million in 2022 to 
approximately RMB98.7 million in 2023. The increase was mainly due to an increase of revenue 
such as home-living and other services, leasing of car parking spaces and leasing of common 
facilities etc., which due to the increase in the total GFA under management and the efforts of the 
Group actively developed and enriched community value-added services categories. Gross profit 
margin decreased from approximately 45.2% in 2022 to approximately 38.9% in 2023 resulted 
from the increase in costs incurred for repairs and maintenances of those parking facilities and 
installation of high-tech equipment in the residential communities.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Gross profit of value-added services to non-property owners of the Group decreased by 
approximately RMB8.7 million, or approximately 31.4% from approximately RMB27.9 million in 
2022 to approximately RMB19.2 million in 2023. Such changes were attributable to a decrease 
of sales assistance services provided to Hevol Real Estate Group and other property developers 
resulting from impact of real estate market in the PRC. Gross profit margin decreased from 
approximately 32.7% in 2022 to approximately 26.5% in 2023, which was mainly attributable to an 
increase in staff costs resulting from an increasing salary and decrease of revenue from sales site 
services and ancillary property management services with relatively higher gross profit margin.

Other Income and gains and losses

Other income of the Group increased by approximately RMB23.5 million, or approximately 
145.1% from approximately RMB16.2 million in 2022 to approximately RMB39.7 million in 2023, 
which was mainly due to an increase of recovery of bad debts amounted to approximately 
RMB38.3 million, set off by loss on disposal of a subsidiary amounted to approximately RMB14.0 
million.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group mainly include staff costs, travelling and entertainment, 
professional fees, telecommunication, utilities, depreciation and amortization. Administrative 
expenses of the Group increased by approximately RMB40.8 million, or approximately 28.0% 
from approximately RMB145.8 million in 2022 to approximately RMB186.6 million in 2023, 
primarily due to: (i) an increase in staff costs resulting from the expansion in the business scale 
of the Group; (ii) an increase in administrative expenses included in newly acquires subsidiaries, 
(iii) an increase of amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment resulted from the acquisition of subsidiaries; and (iv) an increase of professional fees 
related to legal, internal control, auditing, valuation, compliance and due diligence for efficiency 
management.
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ECL allowance on trade and other receivables 

The ECL allowance on trade and other receivables slightly decreased by approximately RMB1.5 
million or approximately 3.2% from approximately RMB47.0 million in 2022 to approximately 
RMB45.5 million in 2023. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors. The Group has considered making individual assessment on the 
recoverability of trade receivables from related parties. Impairment of other receivables from 
third parties (excluding prepayments and advances to employees) are assessed collectively 
and individually and measured as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL. The increase in the ECL 
allowance on trade and other receivables was primarily driven by the increased trade receivables 
and certain upward adjustments of ECL rates based on the collection profile for sales in the past 
36 months as well as the corresponding historical credit losses during that period and the current 
and forwarding-looking macroeconomic factors mainly including current situation in the domestic 
real estate sector and the economic growth of domestic market, affecting the customer’s ability 
to settle the amount outstanding.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group increased by approximately RMB13.6 million, or approximately 
92.5% from approximately RMB14.7 million in 2022 to approximately RMB28.3 million in 2023, 
primarily due to the inclusion of tax effect on non-taxable income and utilisation of tax losses 
previously not recognised.

Profit for the Year

Profit for the year of the Group increased by approximately RMB10.5 million, or approximately 
10.1% from approximately RMB103.6 million in 2022 to approximately RMB114.1 million in 2023, 
primarily due to the profits generated from new property service projects acquired as the Group 
intensified its market expansion efforts.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets decreased from approximately RMB127.5 million as at 31 December 2022 
to approximately RMB107.1 million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to 
amortisation and depreciation for the year with aggregate amount of approximately RMB16.3 
million and written off of customer relationships amounted to approximately RMB6.5 million 
resulted from disposal of a subsidiary.

Investment Properties

Investment properties which consisted of certain car parking spaces and shop premises, increased 
from approximately RMB40.5 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB55.0 
million as at 31 December 2023 mainly due to investment property additions for the year of 
approximately RMB23.9 million, set off by disposal and depreciation of investment properties of 
aggregately approximately RMB9.4 million.

Goodwill

Goodwil l decreased from approximately RMB481.5 mil l ion as at 31 December 2022 to 
approximately RMB461.3 million as at 31 December 2023, due to the decrease in goodwill of 
approximately RMB20.2 million as a result of the disposal of a subsidiary, Guizhou Xingji Property 
Services Company Limited (貴州星際物業服務有限公司) (“Guizhou Xingji”).

Other Receivables

Other receivables represented deposits paid for certain projects which to be completed and 
repaid over one year.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables include trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables. 
Trade receivables are mainly related to property management services as well as value-added 
services. Trade receivables of the Group decreased from approximately RMB421.1 million as at 
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB388.3 million as at 31 December 2023, primarily due 
to a decrease in sales site services, sales assistance services and ancillary property management 
services provided to the related parties. Other receivables mainly consist of deposits, 
prepayment and other receivables and payment on behalf of property owners. Other receivables 
decreased from approximately RMB222.6 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately 
RMB177.0 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to (i) a reallocation of other receivables of 
approximately RMB25.3 million to non-current assets; and (ii) a decrease in amounts of deposits 
and other receivables, payment on behalf of property owners and advances to employees 
resulted from the disposal of a subsidiary. The Group seeks to strengthen strict control over its 
outstanding receivables, performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers and makes frequent 
contact with customers to encourage regular payment of management fees.
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Contract Liabilities

The Group’s contract liabilities mainly arise from advance payments made by customers while 
the underlying property management services are yet to be provided. Contract liabilities of the 
Group increased by approximately RMB39.2 million from approximately RMB295.7 million as at 
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB334.9 million as at 31 December 2023, primarily due 
to the managing of an increasing number of property service projects from 291 in 2022 to 335 in 
2023.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables of the Group increased from approximately RMB123.4 million as at 31 December 
2022 to approximately RMB128.4 million as at 31 December 2023, primarily due to an increasing 
materials and utilities expenses paid for the Group’s business expansion. Other payables mainly 
consist of accrued staff costs, accrued charges and other payables and collected amounts on 
behalf of property owner committees and property owners. The decrease of other payables 
of the Group from approximately RMB430.6 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately 
RMB307.2 million as at 31 December 2023 was primarily due to a decrease of: (i) accrued charges 
and other payables of approximately RMB46.2 million resulting from netting off an amount 
due to the former shareholder of Chongqing Xinlongxin Property Management Co., Ltd. (重
慶新隆信物業管理有限公司) (“Chongqing Xinlongxin”) of approximately RMB36.9 million and 
the decrease in accrued charges and other payables of approximately RMB9.3 million from the 
disposal of a subsidiary; (ii) consideration payables of approximately RMB53.0 million resulted 
from settlement of consideration for acquisitions of Chongqing Xinlongxin and Guiyang Xinglong 
Property Management Co., Ltd. (貴陽興隆物業管理有限公司) (“Guiyang Xinglong”) amounted 
to approximately RMB36.9 million and approximately RMB16.1 million, respectively; and (iii) 
financial guarantees of approximately RMB12.7 million resulted from the seller of Guiyang 
Xinglong settled the indemnity to the Group against the losses arising from the litigations and 
claims against Guiyang Xinglong which had been incurred before the acquisition date.

Liquidity, Capital Structure and Financial Resources

The Group’s bank balances and cash increased by approximately RMB102.3 million from 
approximately RMB275.9 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB378.2 million 
as at 31 December 2023, primarily due to (i) an increase in bank borrowing of approximately 
RMB46.0 million; and (ii) an increase of advance payments of property management fees made by 
customers and an increase in management fee received resulted from an increase in number of 
projects under management from 291 in 2022 to 335 in 2023. Our cash and cash equivalents are 
denominated in RMB and HKD. The Group’s financial position remained solid. As at 31 December 
2023, the Group’s net current assets increased from approximately RMB60.9 million as at 31 
December 2022 to approximately RMB142.6 million as at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 
2023, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 1.18 times (31 December 2022: 1.07 times), 
which was mainly due to a decrease of other payables arising from settlement of consideration 
payables for acquisitions of Chongqing Xinlongxin and Guiyang Xinglong. The Group has a 
borrowings of approximately RMB55.0 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately 
RMB9.0 million) which certain of the Group’s investment properties of approximately RMB12.1 
million were pledged for a borrowings of RMB4.0 million.
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Asset Charges

As at 31 December 2023, certain investment properties of the Group of RMB12.1 million (2022: 
RMB12.8 million) were pledged for a bank borrowing of RMB4.0 million (2022: RMB5.0 million). 
Certain trade receivables of the Group of RMB70.0 million (2022: Nil) were pledged for bank 
borrowings for RMB40.0 million (2022: Nil).

Material Acquisition and Disposals of Assets

On 1 December 2023, Guizhou Furuiying Information Consultancy Limited* (貴州福瑞盈信息諮詢
有限公司) (the “Seller”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Yang Wujun 
(楊武均), Mr. Che Ziyong (車子勇) (together, the “Purchasers”), and Guizhou Xingji entered 
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Seller agreed to dispose of and 
the Purchasers agreed to acquire in aggregate 51% equity interest of Guizhou Xingji at a total 
consideration of RMB25,500,000. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company 
dated 1 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, the Group did not conduct any material 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Significant Investment Held and Future Plans for Material Investment and Capital Assets

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant investment. The Group has no 
future plan for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this annual report.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total 
interest-bearing debt less cash and cash equivalents. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the 
gearing ratio of the Group maintained at net cash position.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its treasury policies 
to ensure the liquidity requirements from daily operation as well as capital expenditures are met. 
The Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity positions, while surplus cash will be invested 
appropriately with the consideration of the credit risks, liquidity risks and market risks of the 
financial instruments.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s exposures to currency risk mainly arise from its bank balance of RMB373.9 million 
(2022: RMB270.4 million) denominated in RMB placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion 
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange 
control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group does not hedge its foreign currency 
risk. However, management monitors the foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

The Group had 4,849 employees as at 31 December 2023 (31 December  2022: 5,146 
employees). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total staff costs were 
approximately RMB446.5 million (2022: RMB383.4 million). The remuneration package of the 
employees included salary, bonus and other cash subsidies. Employees were rewarded on a 
performance related basis, together with reference to the profitability of the Group, remuneration 
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions within the general framework of 
the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group was subject to social insurance contribution 
plans or other pension schemes prescribed by the local governments and was required to pay 
on behalf of the employees, a monthly social insurance fund covering pension fund, medical 
insurance, work-related injury insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance, the 
housing provident fund, or other mandatory provident fund schemes on behalf of the employees. 
The Group hosted comprehensive internal staff training programmes for its staff to improve 
and enhance their technical and service skills, as well as to provide them with the knowledge 
of industry quality standards and work place safety standards. The Group provided orientation 
training to new hires and introduce them to the Group’s corporate culture to understand its 
service standards and procedures. The Group also provided training courses and regular seminars 
on various aspects of its business operations, such as quality control and customer relationship 
management, to the Group’s employees. The Group had also adopted a share option scheme, 
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and in note 26 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Share Option Scheme

On 14 June 2019 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company adopted a share option scheme (the 
“Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected 
participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our Company with the view to achieving 
the following objectives: (i) motivate the selected participants to optimise their performance 
efficiency for the benefit of our Group; and (ii) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an 
on-going business relationship with the selected participants whose contributions are or will be 
beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.
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According to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the participants of the Share Option Scheme 
include (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of our Company or any of 
its subsidiaries; (ii) any Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of our Company 
or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and 
such other persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will contribute or have contributed to 
our Company or any of its subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the above, following the amendment of 
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, Share grants may only be made to eligible participants as defined 
in the amended Chapter 17 after 1 January 2023, being the effective date of such amendment.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company must not in 
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue immediately following completion 
of the capitalisation issue (as defined in the Company’s prospectus dated 27 June 2019 (the 
“Prospectus”)) and the global offering (as defined in the Prospectus), being 40,000,000 shares 
(representing approximately 7.14% of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report), 
excluding for this purpose shares which would have been issuable pursuant to options which 
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme (or any other share option 
schemes of the Company). The maximum number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued 
upon exercise of the share options granted to each participant (including both exercised and 
outstanding share options) under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of 
the Company in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares in issue at the date of grant, 
unless otherwise separately approved by shareholders in general meeting with such participant 
and his close associates (or his associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from 
voting. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.0 to the Company by way of 
consideration for the grant. To the extent that the offer to grant an option is not accepted by any 
prescribed acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.
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Subject to the terms of grant of an option, an option may be exercised at any time after the date 
upon which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted in accordance with the vesting 
schedule. The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board 
in its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has 
been granted. A grantee may be required to achieve any performance targets as our Board may 
then specify in the grant before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be 
exercised. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the 
Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, 
save that such price must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a day 
on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average of 
the official closing prices of our shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets 
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of 
a Share.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the 
Adoption Date unless terminated earlier by the shareholders in general meeting. As of 31 
December 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme was approximately five years and 
five and a half months.

No option of the Company was granted to the Company’s employees and other eligible 
participants since the Adoption Date and up to 31 December 2023.

Further details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in “Appendix V – 
Statutory and General Information – D. Share Option Scheme” of the Prospectus.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Wenhao (王文浩), aged 45, was appointed as executive Director, general manager 
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 13 February 2019. Mr. Wang is responsible for 
overseeing the daily operations of the Group.

Mr. Wang has over 21 years’ of experience in property management. Prior to joining the Group, 
from May 2002 to May 2005, Mr. Wang served as assistant to the director of management 
department and customer service manager of Shenzhen Jindi Property Management Co., Ltd. 
(深圳市金地物業管理有限公司). From June 2005 to May 2007, Mr. Wang worked as a project 
manager of Beijing Angang Property Services Limited Company (北京安港物業服務有限公司) 
and was mainly responsible for providing pre-project property services as well as formulating 
project management plans and operation manuals. Mr. Wang was general manager of Beijing 
Hevol Property Services Company Limited (北京和泓物業服務有限公司) (“Beijing Hevol Property 
Services”) from May 2007 to April 2018. From September 2015 to April 2018, Mr. Wang also 
served as a director and the director of the strategic development department of Beijing 
Hongsheng Investment Co., Ltd. (北京泓升投資有限責任公司).

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in administrative management from The Open 
University of China (國家開放大學) in China in July 2019. Mr. Wang was accredited by China State 
Construction Engineering Corporation (中國建築工程總公司) as an electrical engineer in June 
2011.

Ms. Hu Hongfang (胡洪芳), aged 56, was appointed as Director on 9 August 2018 and was 
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 
13 February 2019. Ms. Hu is responsible for the overall strategic planning, business development 
and financial management of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hu served as assistant accountant of the Xuzhou West Station 
of the Jinan Bureau of the Ministry of Railways (鐵道部濟南局徐州鐵路西站) from August 1992 
to March 2003. She was the manager of the finance department and accountant of the Xuzhou 
Railway Advertisement and Decoration Information Networks Co. Ltd. (徐州鐵路廣告裝飾信息網絡
有限公司) from April 2003 to November 2005. From December 2005 to May 2007, Ms. Hu served 
as the deputy general manager and chief financial officer of Chongqing Qishan Shiye Co., Ltd. 
(重慶祺山實業有限公司). From June 2007 to March 2022, Ms. Hu served as the executive director 
and general manager of Chongqing Hevol Property Services Company Limited (重慶和泓物業服務
有限公司).

Ms. Hu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from East China Jiaotong University (華東交通
大學) in China in July 1991. Ms. Hu was accredited as an accountant by Ministry of Finance of the 
PRC in May 1996.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Jiang (劉江), aged 56, is the founder of the Group. He was appointed as Director on 28 
May 2018 and was redesignated as non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 13 
February 2019. Mr. Liu is responsible for the provision of guidance for the overall development of 
the Group. Mr. Liu is the Chairman of the nomination committee of the Board.

Mr. Liu has over 29 years’ of experience in property development and management. From 
February 1995 to March 2001, Mr. Liu worked in Beijing Longyang Real Estate Development Co., 
Ltd. (北京龍洋房地產開發有限公司) as deputy general manager. Mr. Liu has been serving as the 
chairman of Hevol Holding Group Limited (和泓控股集團有限公司) (“Hevol Investment”) since 
March 2001. Mr. Liu is also the founder and controlling shareholder of Hevol Real Estate Group.

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from East China Jiao Tong University (華東交
通大學) in China in July 1991.

Mr. Zhou Wei (周煒), aged 50, was appointed as non-executive Director on 13 February 2019. 
Mr. Zhou is responsible for the provision of guidance for the overall development of the Group.

Prior to joining Hevol Real Estate Group in 2003, Mr. Zhou took up different positions in different 
design and architecture institution or companies. Mr. Zhou served as the general manager in the 
research and development centre of Hevol Real Estate from August 2003 to September 2015. Mr. 
Zhou served as the director of Beijing Hongsheng from September 2015 to April 2019 and served 
as the vice president of Hevol Real Estate from April 2018 to January 2021.

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in architecture from the North China University of 
Technology (北方工業大學) in China in July 1995.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Qian Hongji (錢紅驥), aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 14 June 2019. He is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to 
the Board. He is a member of the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration 
committee of the Board.

From May 1999 to May 2004, Mr. Qian was a lawyer and a partner of Beijing Fenglian Licheng 
Law Firm (北京豐聯立成律師事務所). From May 2005 to present, Mr. Qian has worked at Beijing 
Dacheng Law Firm (北京大成律師事務所) as senior partner and global director.

Mr. Qian has been an independent non-executive director of China Biotech Services Holdings 
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8037), since March 
2018.

Mr. Qian obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from China Youth University of Political Studies 
(中國青年政治學院) in China in July 1998 and a master’s degree in law from Peking University in 
China in January 2009. Mr. Qian is a practising lawyer in the PRC.

Mr. Fan Chi Chiu (范智超), aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 14 June 2019. He is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the 
Board. He is the chairman of the audit committee.

Mr. Fan has over 15 years’ of experience in accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Fan worked 
as a senior auditor of PricewaterhouseCoopers from October 2007 to June 2011 and an analyst 
in Barclays Investment Bank from July 2011 to February 2014. Mr. Fan was a finance director of 
Vantasia Holdings (H.K.) Limited from April 2014 to March 2015. Mr. Fan joined ELL Environment 
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code 1395), in April 
2015 as the financial controller and was the chief financial officer from June 2015 to September 
2021. He was an executive director of Grace Wine Holdings Limited, the shares of which are 
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8146), from July 2017 to September 2021. He has been 
acting as a Chief Investment Officer of AB Builders Group Limited, the shares of which are listed 
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1615), since November 2021. He has also been acting as an 
independent non-executive director of (a) Shinelong Automotive Lightweight Application Limited, 
the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1930), since June 2019; and (b) 
Weihai City Commercial Bank Co., Ltd., the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock 
code: 9677), since June 2020.

Mr. Fan obtained his bachelor’s degree in professional accountancy from the Chinese University 
of Hong Kong in December 2007. Mr. Fan was accredited as a certified public accountant by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in January 2011.
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Dr. Chen Lei (陳磊), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 14 
June 2019. He is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board. 
He is a member of the audit committee and the remuneration committee.

Dr. Chen has over 14 years’ of experience in accounting and management studies. He has been 
teaching at the Guanghua School of Management of Peking University since July 2008 and he is 
currently an associate professor of Accounting at the Guanghua School of Management, Peking 
University. Dr. Chen also serves as an associate editor for China Management Accounting Review 
(中國管理會計).

Dr. Chen has been an independent non-executive director of (a) Daqin Railway Co., Ltd. (大秦
鐵路股份有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 
601006), since May 2017; and (b) Dong Yi Ri Sheng Home Decoration Group Co.,Ltd. (東易日
盛家居裝飾集團股份有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 002713), since August 2017. He acted as an independent non-executive director of 
(a) Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (北京大北農科技集團有限公司), the shares of 
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002385), from December 2013 to 
February 2020; (b) HuaDian Heavy Industries Co., Ltd. (華電重工股份有限公司), the shares of which 
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601226), from June 2017 to February 
2020; and (c) Dawning Information Industry Co., Ltd. (曙光信息產業股份有限公司), the shares of 
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603019), since May 2015 to May 
2021.

Dr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in international finance from Tsinghua University in 
China in July 1996. He also obtained his master’s degree in business from Indiana University in 
the United States in September 1999 and doctor of philosophy in management science from the 
University of Texas at Dallas in August 2004. Dr. Chen was awarded the completion certificate for 
training in senior management of listed companies by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in May 2012.
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Dr. Li Yongrui (李永瑞), aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 14 
June 2019. He is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board. 
He is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination committee 
of the Board.

Dr. Li is currently an associate professor in School of Government Management of Beijing Normal 
University (北京師範大學). Dr. Li has been a lecturer in management studies in Beijing Normal 
University (北京師範大學) since July 2003 and an associate professor of Beijing Normal University 
(北京師範大學) since June 2005.

Dr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in science from Guizhou Normal University (貴州師範大學) 
in China in July 1991 and master’s degree in sport pedagogy from Liaoning Normal University (遼
寧師範大學) in China in July 1997. Dr. Li graduated from Beijing Sport University (北京體育大學) 
in China with a doctor’s degree in education in July 2001 and he was a psychology postdoctoral 
researcher at Beijing Normal University (北京師範大學) in China from July 2001 to July 2003.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Pengfei (李鵬飛), aged 49, was appointed as deputy general manager of the Company on 
13 July 2021. Mr. Li is responsible for the daily operation and market development of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as a director of marketing planning division of Hevol 
Real Estate Group from September 2003 to July 2015. From July 2015 to December 2019, Mr. Li 
worked as the President of Beijing Shequbanjing Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (北京社區半
徑信息技術有限公司). From January 2020 to March 2022, Mr. Li served as the general manager of 
the Group’s companies in Shanghai region.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil architecture from Beijing Institute of 
Civil Engineering and Architecture in July 1996. Mr. Li also obtained his Executive Master of 
Business Administration in Northwest University in China in December 2017.

Mr. Wang Wenhao and Ms. Hu Hongfang, executive Directors of our Company, are also members 
of our senior management team. See their biographies in the paragraph headed “Executive 
Directors”.



33Annual Report 2023

 

Biography of Directors and Senior Management 

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Lap Keung (李立強), aged 41, was appointed as company secretary of the Company on 
13 February 2019.

Mr. Lee worked at BDO Limited from September 2008 to February 2011 and his last position was 
senior auditor. From February 2011 to January 2012, Mr. Lee worked at Ernst & Young and his 
last position was senior auditor. Mr. Lee worked as an auditor at Mazars CPA Limited from March 
2012 to May 2015 and his last position was assistant manager. From February 2017 to May 2017, 
Mr. Lee served as a compliance officer at Jimei Securities Limited. From June 2015 to August 
2017, Mr. Lee worked at Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited, the shares of which are 
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1159), as a senior internal audit manager. Mr. Lee had 
been serving as an independent non-executive director of Palinda Group Holdings Limited (百
利達集團控股有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8179), 
since 22 February 2019 to 8 September 2022. Mr. Lee has been serving as company secretary of 
Trendzon Group Holdings Limited (卓航控股集團有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1865), since 5 September 2023.

Mr. Lee obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting from the City University of Hong Kong 
in November 2008. Mr. Lee qualified as a Hong Kong Certified Public Accountant by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July 2012.
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The board of Directors of Hevol Services Group Co. Limited is committed to maintaining high 
corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential in providing a 
framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”), enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and 
enhance its transparency and accountability.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has adopted and complied with the 
principles and code provisions (“Code Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code 
(“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY 
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its codes of conduct 
regarding securities transactions by its Directors and employees (the “Securities Dealing Code”).

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors whether the Directors have complied 
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023 
and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code and the Securities 
Dealing Code throughout the said period. No non-compliance event was found during the above 
period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and should take 
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to perform his/her 
responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing 
them.

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively 
responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is fully responsible 
for the formulation of business policies and strategies in relation to the business operation of the 
Group, including dividend policy and risk management strategies. The management is delegated 
the authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management and operation of 
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company arranged for appropriate cover on 
Directors’ and senior management’ liability insurance policy to indemnify the Directors and senior 
management for liabilities arising from the corporate activities. The coverage and the amount 
insured under such policy are reviewed annually by the Company. No legal actions were made 
against any of the Directors in relation to their duties performed for the Company during the 
year.



36 Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

 

Corporate Governance Report 

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised eight Directors, consisting of two executive 
Directors, two non-executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenhao (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Hu Hongfang

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang (Chairman)
Mr. Zhou Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fan Chi Chiu
Mr. Qian Hongji
Dr. Chen Lei
Dr. Li Yongrui

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company are disclosed 
in the section headed “Biography of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report. 
Save as disclosed in such section, to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no other 
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships) among 
the Directors and senior management of the Company.



37Annual Report 2023

 

Corporate Governance Report 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had met the requirements of Rules 
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of at least three independent 
non-executive Directors (among which, at least one independent non-executive Director shall 
possess appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 
expertise).

The Company has also met Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of 
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.4, the Board established mechanism(s) to ensure independent 
views and input are available to the Board, in particular, (i) independent non-executive Directors 
are encouraged to actively participate in the Board meetings; (ii) to discourage the re-election of 
long-serving independent non-executive Directors; (iii) the number of independent non-executive 
Directors must comply with the requirement under the Listing Rules; and (iv) the independent 
non-executive Directors shall devote sufficient time to discharge their duties as a Director. 
Furthermore, the Directors may access external independent professional advice to assist their 
performance of duties at the expense of the Company. The Board will review the implementation 
and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on an annual basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the company secretary of the Company confirmed that he 
had received not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his knowledge and 
skills.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board by virtue of their 
independent judgement and their views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. They 
bring an impartial view on the Company’s strategies, performance and control.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry 
expertise and management experience and have provided their professional advice to the Board.

The Board also considers that the independent non-executive Directors can provide independent 
advice on the Company’s business strategies, results and management so as to safeguard the 
interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each independent 
non-executive Director pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all 
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence 
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

According to Code Provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their 
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The Company has established 
procedures for training and development of Directors. Newly appointed Directors will be 
provided with comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment and, subsequently, necessary briefing and professional development so as to ensure 
the Directors have adequate understanding and strengthen their awareness of the business and 
operation of the Group, their responsibilities and obligations under the statutory and common 
law, the Listing Rules, laws and other regulatory requirements and governance policies, enable 
the Directors to discharge their duties properly. The company secretary maintains proper records 
of training attended by the Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, each of the Directors has complied with Code 
Provision C.1.4, and  the summary of training received by the Directors is as follows:

Directors 
Type of 

trainings(1)
  

Mr. Liu Jiang (Chairman) A&B
Mr. Wang Wenhao (Chief Executive Officer) A&B
Ms. Hu Hongfang A&B
Mr. Zhou Wei A&B
Dr. Chen Lei A&B
Dr. Li Yongrui A&B
Mr. Fan Chi Chiu A&B
Mr. Qian Hongji A&B

Notes:

(1) A: attending seminars and/or conferences relevant to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities or corporate 
governance.

 B: reading materials relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities or corporate governance or regulatory 
updates.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board and board committees (the “Board Committees”) meet regularly to discuss and 
formulate the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. 
Directors may participate either in person or through electronic means of communications.

Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all 
Directors with an opportunity to attend regular meetings and discuss the matters on the agenda.

For other Board and Board Committees meetings, reasonable notices will be given. The agenda 
and accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors or Board Committees members 
at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the 
papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When any Directors or Board Committees 
members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and 
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of 
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors for information 
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are recorded in sufficient detail 
including the matters considered by the Board and the Board Committees and the decisions 
reached, and any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and 
Board Committees meeting are sent to the Directors for consideration within a reasonable time 
after the date on which the meeting was held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for 
inspection by Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have made active contribution to the 
affairs of the Group and four Board meetings were held to consider, among other things, various 
transactions contemplated by the Group and to review and approve the interim and annual 
results of the Group.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors 
to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving 
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

As at the date of this annual report, it is considered that the Directors are well acknowledged to 
the business and the operation of the Group.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF THE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four Board meetings and one general meeting were 
held. Information regarding the attendance of Board meetings by individual Directors is as 
follows:

Attendance/Number of meetings held

Name of members of the Board/
the Board Committees

Board 
meeting

Audit 
Committee 

meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

meeting
General

meetings
      

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Wenhao (Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Ms. Hu Hongfang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Jiang (Chairman) 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Zhou Wei 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive  
Directors:

Dr. Chen Lei 4/4 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1
Dr. Li Yongrui 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Fan Chi Chiu 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A 0/1
Mr. Qian Hongji 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 0/1

Other than regular meetings, the Chairman has also met with non-executive Directors (including 
independent non-executive Directors) without the presence of executive Directors, to facilitate an 
open discussion among the non-executive Directors on issues relating to the Group.

Independent non-executive Directors who have no material interest in the transaction would 
be present at such Board meeting. The Board procedures are in compliance with the articles of 
associations of the Company (the “Articles“), as well as relevant rules and regulations. For the 
year ended 31 December 2023, there were no significant changes to the Articles.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Liu Jiang (“Mr. Liu”) is the Chairman and Mr. Wang Wenhao (“Mr. Wang”) is the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company. The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are 
segregated. Mr. Liu and Mr. Wang are not connected in any respect. The Chairman provides 
leadership for the Board and ensures that there is clear division of responsibilities at the Board 
level. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management of 
the Company, supervising the businesses of the Group and ensuring that Board Committees work 
smoothly and effectively.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves its right to decide all major matters of the Company, including approval 
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk 
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of 
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and 
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice in 
performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and consult with 
the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the senior 
management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the 
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered 
into by the management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the 
Directors and their corporate governance functions include:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with laws and 
regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the 
Directors and senior management;
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(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manuals applicable to 
the employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and 
offer proposals and report relevant matters to the Board;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the corporate governance rules and disclosure in 
its corporate governance reports; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with its whistle-blowing policy.

The corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in the discharge of its 
corporate governance function.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company with 
an initial term of three years effective from 12 July 2019 (the “Listing Date”). The respective 
executive Directors or the Company may terminate the contract by serving not less than three 
months’ written notice to the other party.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors has signed a 
letter of appointment with the Company with a term of three years commencing from the Listing 
Date. In accordance with their respective letters of appointment, each of the independent 
non-executive Directors is entitled to receive a fixed amount of director’s emoluments while the 
non-executive Directors shall not receive any remuneration.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company has a service contract with the Company that is not determinable within 
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors (or the nearest number but no less than 
one-third of the Directors, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three (3) are subject to 
retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting and each Director shall retire by rotation at 
least once every three years at an annual general meeting. Any Director newly appointed by the 
Board to fill a causal vacancy of the Board or serve as a new Director shall submit himself/herself 
for election by Shareholders at the next general meeting after appointment.
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The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in 
the Articles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and 
offering proposals regarding the appointment, re-election and succession plans of Directors to 
the Board

BOARD COMMITTEES

As part of good corporate governance, the Board has set up a Remuneration Committee, 
an Audit Committee and a Nomination Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the 
Company’s affairs. Each Committee has its own specific delegated authorities and operates within 
defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company. All the Board Committees should report to the Board on their decisions or 
recommendations made.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely 
Mr. Fan Chi Chiu, who acts as the chairman, Dr. Chen Lei and Mr. Qian Hongji.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, inter alia, reviewing and monitoring the financial 
reporting, risk management and internal control systems of the Company, and assisting the 
Board in fulfilling its responsibility over the audit; making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor; and reviewing the Company’s 
financial control, risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee should 
meet at least twice a year to discuss and review the financial information, the risk management 
and internal control systems and relevant matters. The proceedings of the Audit Committee 
meetings are the same as that of the Board meetings. The terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee are currently available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee had reviewed the audit planning 
memorandums, the draft of the audited consolidated financial statements, of the annual results 
announcement and of the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, 
the draft of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements, of the interim results 
announcement and of the interim report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023, 
financial reporting and compliance procedures, compliance and internal control report, risk 
management and internal control system, the remuneration of external auditors, the adequacy of 
resources, qualifications and experience of the employees of the Group’s accounting and financial 
reporting function department, and their training plans and budget.
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The Company’s annual results announcement and annual report for the year ended 31 December 
2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the 
attendance of each member is listed under the section headed “Attendance Records of the 
Directors” above on a named basis.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and 
non-audit services provided by the Group’s external auditor, is set out below:

Category of services
Fee paid/

payable
RMB’000

  

Audit services 2,815
Non-audit services 600
  

Total 3,415
  

During the year ended 31 December 2023, significant non-audit service assignments included 
agreed-upon procedures of the Company’s interim report, with fee paid amounting to 
approximately RMB600,000.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Dr. Li Yongrui, who acts as the chairman, Dr. Chen Lei and Mr. Qian Hongji.

The responsibilities and authorities of the Remuneration Committee are clearly defined by its 
terms of reference, which include but not limited to making recommendations to the Board 
on the remuneration policy and assessing the performance of the executive Directors and the 
senior management. During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee was primarily 
responsible for the following duties:

(i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the 
remuneration of all the Directors and senior management of the Company and on the 
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(ii) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the 
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;
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(iii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of executive 
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights compensation 
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or 
appointment;

(iv) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(v) considering factors such as the level of remuneration paid by comparable companies, 
the time commitment and responsibilities of Directors and senior management, and the 
employment conditions of the Company and its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated 
entities;

(vi) considering the level of remuneration required to attract and retain Directors to manage 
the Company successfully;

(vii) ensuring that no Director or any of his or her associates is involved in deciding his or her 
own remuneration. For the avoidance of doubt, members of the Committee must not be 
involved in deciding his or her own remuneration;

(viii) reviewing and approving compensation payments and arrangements to Directors and 
senior management of the Company for loss or termination of their office or appointment, 
or dismissal or removal for misconduct and to assess whether the proposed payments or 
arrangements are fair, not excessive, reasonable, consistent with the relevant contractual 
terms, or otherwise appropriate; and

(ix) advising shareholders of the Company on how to vote in respect of any service contracts of 
Directors that require shareholders’ approval in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Board together with the Remuneration Committee monitors the performance of the executive 
Directors and the senior management. Such division of responsibilities ensures a balance of 
power. The Remuneration Committee shall meet at any time when necessary. The terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 
the attendance of each member is listed under the section headed “Attendance Records of the 
Directors” above on a named basis.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for formulating policies on 
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group. Details of the remuneration 
of each of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 11(a) to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Details of the 5 individuals with the highest emoluments (including Directors, senior management 
and employees of the Group) are set out in note 11(b) to the consolidated financial statements in 
this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, including one non-executive 
Director, namely Mr. Liu, who acts as the chairman, and two independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Dr. Li Yongrui and Mr. Qian Hongji.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include, inter alia, reviewing the structure, 
size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board 
members, assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of Directors. The terms of 
reference of the Nomination Committee are currently available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the 
attendance of each member is listed under the section headed “Attendance Records of the 
Directors” above on a named basis.

The Nomination Committee was primarily responsible for the following duties:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skil ls, knowledge and 
experience) of the Board at least annually and to make recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) developing the criteria for identifying and assessing the qualifications of and evaluating 
candidates for directorship;

(iii) identifying individuals who are suitably qualified to become a member of the Board and to 
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for 
directorships;
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(iv) assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and

(v) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors 
and succession planning for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executive of 
the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity (“Board Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the 
requirements of the Listing Rules which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. 
The Board Diversity Policy is intended to set out the basic principles to ensure that members of 
the Board achieve an appropriate balance of skills, experience and perspectives to enhance the 
effective function of the Board and maintain a high standard of corporate governance.

Nominations and Appointments

All Board nominations and appointments shall be based on the principle of meritocracy, daily 
business needs and the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision will be based 
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination 
Committee is primarily responsible for identifying persons with suitable qualifications and 
selecting nominees to serve as Director or to advise the Board on this.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity and refer to the business model 
and specific needs of the Company, including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, 
language, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and professional 
experience. As at December 31, 2023, the Board comprised eight members, including two 
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors. 
The Directors have balanced experience in overall strategic development, business and risk 
management as well as finance management. The Board members are of all ages, ranging 
from 38 to 56. The Board members are of diverse cultural and educational backgrounds, and 
are comprised of both male and female. After due consideration, the Board believes that the 
Company’s Board has met its measurable objectives and is consistent with the Board Diversity 
Policy. The Board plans to maintain at least 1 female Board member. The Board may identify 
and select suitable female Board members or successors from various sources, including but not 
limited to internal promotion, recommendation from Board members and external recruitment.
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Policy Statement

In order to achieve sustainable and balanced development, the Company regards the increment 
of diversification in board level as the key element to support its strategic goals and sustainable 
development. All appointments of the Board are based on the principle of meritocracy and 
considering the benefits of diversity of the Board.

Gender Diversity in the Workforce

As at December 31, 2023, male employees and female employees accounted for approximately 
50.8% and 49.2% of all employees (including senior management) of the Group, respectively. To 
continue to achieve gender diversity in the workforce, we are committed to creating favourable 
conditions in our working environment to continue to attract both men and women to join the 
Group, thereby maintaining our status as a gender-balanced company. During the process, 
we may face the issue of whether the supply of personnel of a particular gender in the human 
resources market matches the academic qualifications, experience and skills required for positions 
within the Group. Despite these challenges, we will endeavour to maintain gender balance in the 
workforce.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, expanding 
and reviewing measurable objectives to ensure the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy 
and to monitor progress towards measurable objectives. The Nomination Committee reviews 
the Board Diversity Policy and measurable objectives from time to time, to ensure the Board 
continues to be effective. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to 
ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy during 
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) 
which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of nominating, appointing and re-appointing 
a Director. The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter 
alia, his/her academic background and professional qualifications, relevant industry experience, 
character and integrity and whether he/she can contribute to the diversity of the Board 
underpinned in the Board Diversity Policy. The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a 
Director is summarised as follows:

– nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of the Nomination 
Committee or the Board;

– evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection criteria as set out in the 
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

– performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making recommendation for the 
Board’s consideration and approval;

– in case of nomination of an independent non-executive Director, assessing the candidate’s 
independence under the relevant Code Provisions and the Listing Rules;

– where nominating an independent non-executive Director for election at general meetings, 
having due consideration of matters under Code Provision B.3.4;

– in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing the candidate’s overall 
contribution and performance and making recommendations to the Board and/or the 
shareholders for consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general meetings; 
and

– convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or re-appointment of the 
candidate as a Director.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBIL ITY ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of 
annual reports and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory 
requirements. The management has provided necessary explanation and information to the Board 
to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the 
Group presented the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Liu, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder(s)”), 
has entered in the Deed of Non-Competition dated 14 June 2019 in favour of the Company 
to the effect that he will not, and will procure his respective close associates not to, directly or 
indirectly participate in, or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business 
which may be in competition with the business of the Company, further details of which are set 
out in the paragraph entitled “Deed of Non-Competition” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the confirmation from Mr. Liu in respect of his compliance with 
the terms of the non-competition undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2023. The 
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance with and enforcement of the 
terms of the non-competition undertaking by Mr. Liu for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Company’s risk management and internal control systems and 
for reviewing their effectiveness. The systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, 
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information 
for internal use or for publications and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Risk Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of 
the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and 
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted risk management procedures and guidelines with 
defined authority for implementation by key business processes and office functions. The Board, 
together with the Audit Committee, should collect the information from the management system, 
include discussions of risk and oversight of the management of those risks into the agenda of 
Board meetings.

Internal Audit Function

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has an internal control and compliance 
department to monitor the daily operation of the Group. The Group has also engaged an 
external internal control consultant to conduct independent review on specific areas of internal 
control system for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 on the Group and 
certain subsidiaries. The scope of review was previously determined and approved by the Audit 
Committee on behalf of the Board. The internal control consultant has submitted its report of 
findings and recommendations to the management of the Group. The management of the Group 
has responded and taken necessary actions and formulated plans to remedy the findings. The 
Audit Committee has reviewed the report prepared by the internal control consultant. In addition, 
the Company, through the Audit Committee, has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, 
qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting and finance department and internal audit 
department, and their training programmes and budget.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, at least annually, for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. After such review, the Board considered that the Company’s risk 
management and internal control system were adequate and effective.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the 
Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in handling 
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control 
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside 
information are strictly prohibited.
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CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The shareholders of the Company approved the amendments to the previous amended and 
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the “Previous Articles of 
Association”) and to adopt the new second amended and restated memorandum and articles of 
association of the Company (the “New Articles of Association”) by way of a special resolution 
in the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 June 2022 in order to (i) bring the 
Previous Articles of Association in line with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules (in 
particular the core standards set out in Appendix A1 thereto) and the laws of the Cayman Islands; 
and (ii) make other consequential and housekeeping amendments to the Previous Articles of 
Association. Details of the amendments are set in the announcement and circular of the Company 
dated 29 April 2022 and the announcement of the Company dated 24 June 2022.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, no amendment was made to the 
constitutional documents of the Company. A copy of the New Articles of Association is available 
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing 
investor relations and understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The 
Company also recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, 
which will enable the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for Shareholders to 
communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman and Directors of the Company will attend 
the annual general meeting to answer Shareholders’ questions. The auditor of the Company 
will also attend the annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the 
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor 
independence.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.hevolwy.com.cn/ with information and 
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, l ist of Directors and 
their role and function, constitutional documents, terms of reference of the Board and its 
committees, procedures for nomination of Directors for election, Shareholder rights and 
communication policy, corporate governance practices, announcements, circulars and reports 
released to the Stock Exchange, and other information. Information on the Company’s website 
http://www.hevolwy.com.cn/ will be updated from time to time.



53Annual Report 2023

 

Corporate Governance Report 

The Board believes that the diversified shareholder communication channels provide Shareholders 
with effective access to information about the Group, and that Shareholders can contact the 
Board directly on their own initiative through the procedures of making inquiries to the Board. 
The Board, therefore, endorses the effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will be proposed for 
each issue (including election of individual Directors) at general meetings.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing 
Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in 
a timely manner after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meetings and putting forward proposals

There are no provisions under the memorandum and articles of association and the Companies 
Law of the Cayman Islands regarding approval of Shareholders’ proposal of new resolutions 
at the general meeting. The Shareholders who intend to propose a resolution may require the 
Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the procedures as stated 
below. Any Shareholder or Shareholders with the right to vote on the Company’s general 
meetings and a paid-up capital of no less than one-tenth of the total on the date of depositing 
a written requisition shall have the right to call an extraordinary general meetings at any time by 
depositing a written requisition at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the 
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company, 
specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, 
and signed by the Shareholder(s) depositing such requisition. If the Board does not within 21 
days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held 
within a further 21 days, the Shareholder(s) depositing such requisition may convene a meeting 
according to normal procedures and all expenses reasonably incurred by such Shareholder(s) due 
to the Board’s failure to convene such a general meeting shall be compensated by the Company, 
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months 
from the date of deposit of the requisition.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, relevant procedures are available on the 
Company’s website.
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Inquiries to the Board

The Company has established various and a wide range of communication channels with 
Shareholders. These include general meetings, annual and interim results, annual reports and 
interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars. In addition, the Company updates 
its website from time to time to keep the shareholders updated of the Company’s recent 
development. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in 
writing, the contact details of which are contained on the Company’s website.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide his/her/their full name(s), contact 
details and identifications, in the originally signed written requisition, notice or statement (as the 
case may be), in order to give effect thereto. Information of Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as 
required by law.

An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock 
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of the 
rights of shareholders.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings shall be voted by poll pursuant to the 
Listing Rules. The poll voting results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange after each of Shareholders’ meeting.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited (“Hevol Services”, the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group” or “we/us/our”) hereby published the Group’s fifth 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“this Report” or “ESG Report”) to its 
stakeholders to demonstrate our sustainability policy, management approaches, measures and 
performance over the past year.

REPORTING SCOPE AND PERIOD

The reporting period of this Report is from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting 
Period”), which is consistent with the financial year of the Group. Unless otherwise stated, the 
scope of disclosure in this Report covers our main businesses, i.e. property management services 
and related value-added services located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and 
the environmental key performance indicators cover the headquarter of the Group in Beijing, 
and 95 core property management projects mainly managed by the Group. Compared with 
the scope of the report for the last year, during the Reporting Period, the Group excluded 4 
projects in Guizhou, 2 projects in Liaoning and 2 projects in Jiangsu and also expanded 13 
new projects through the acquisition of other property management companies or third-party 
entrustment market expansion. The newly included projects include 7 projects in Guizhou and 6 
projects in Chongqing, in order to disclose the Group’s key sustainability performance in a more 
comprehensive way.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This Report is prepared in compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 
Guide of Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited. According to the guide, the preparation of this Report follows the four 
principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and “consistency”.

Principles Definition Our responses
   

Materiality The issues covered in this Report 
should reflect the significant impacts 
of the Group on the environment 
and society that assessments and 
decis ions of stakeholders being 
influenced.

Through engaging with stakeholders as 
well as considering the Group’s business 
na tu re and deve lopment ,  mate r ia l 
sustainability issues for the Group are 
identified.

Quantitative T h i s  R e p o r t  s h o u l d  d i s c l o s e 
key performance indicators in a 
measurable way.

T h e  G r o u p  d i s c l o s e s  i t s  k e y 
environmental and social performance 
indicators where appropriate.
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Principles Definition Our responses
   

Balance This Report should present all the 
in format ion of  the Group in an 
objective manner, to evaluate the 
comprehensive performance of the 
Group in a reasonable way.

The Group d isc loses ach ievements 
and challenges on identified material 
issues to fully reflect its sustainability 
performance.

Consistency Preparation of this Report should 
be based on methods consistent 
with the one(s) used in previous 
year(s), or this Report should state 
the revised reporting methods, or 
illustrate other relevant factors that 
might affect meaningful comparison.

The report ing scope and report ing 
method are substantially consistent with 
those of the prior year(s), and this Report 
has also disclosed relevant comparative 
information.

LANGUAGE AND FORM OF THE REPORT

There are Chinese and English versions for this Report. If there is any discrepancy, the Chinese 
version prevails. An electronic version of this Report is available on the Stock Exchange website 
(http://www.hkexnews.hk) or our website (http://www.hevolwy.com.cn).

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

This Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.

FEEDBACK

The Group values the valuable opinions of every stakeholder and regards it as an important 
driving force for sustainable development. If you have any comments on this Report or the 
Group’s sustainable development performance, please email to Hehongfuwu@hevol.com.cn.

ABOUT US

Founded in 2002 and listed on 12 July 2019, Hevol Services Group Co. Limited is a reputable 
comprehensive property service provider in the PRC, providing property management services, 
community value-added services and value-added services to non-property owners. It also 
serves as a director of China Property Management Institute and a director of Beijing Property 
Management Association and has the qualification of national first-class property service 
enterprise. As of 31 December 2023, we managed 335 property management projects in 42 cities 
in 17 provinces and municipalities with a total GFA under management of approximately 55.8 
million sq.m..
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Our Businesses

Property management services

The Group provides a range of property management services to property owners and residents 
as well as property developers, including security, cleaning, greening, gardening as well as 
repair and maintenance services. The Group’s property management portfolio focuses on 
serving residential communities and also involves other types of properties, such as commercial 
properties and government institutions, schools, hospitals and other professional projects.

Community value-added services

The Group provides community value-added services to property owners and residents. The 
Group satisfies the quality-life needs of the property owners and residents to enhance their 
customer experience, as well as to create a healthier and more convenient living community. 
These community value-added services mainly include home-living services, real estate agent, 
housing decoration and renovation services, community group purchase, online community 
business platform, leasing of car parking space, and leasing of common facilities.

Value-added services to non-property owners

The Group provides site services and diverse auxiliary property management services for property 
developers, and provides full-cycle and full-process services before property sales and delivery. It 
assists property developers to enhance brand value in an all-round way.

Corporate mission

Serving people with a shared passion

Corporate vision

To become the builder and leader of third-party property service platform in the PRC

Corporate tenet

Quality first, reputation as sincerity

Management-oriented, innovation as wisdom
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Core values

Open, innovation and co-creation

Major Awards and honors in 2023

TOP29 in 2023 Top 100 Property Serv ice 
Enterprises in China

2023 Growth Leading Enterprise of Top 100 
China Property Service Enterprises

TOP2 in 2023 Development Speed of Listed 
Property Companies in China

TOP5 in 2023 Independent Development of 
Listed Property Companies in China

China Leading Property Service Brands in 2023

TOP 100 in 2023 China Property Enterprises in 
respect of Service Satisfaction

2023 Property Value-added Service Operation 
Leading Companies of China

2023 P roper t y  Se rv i ce  Marke t -Or ien ted 
Operation Leading Brand Companies of China

2023 Property Technology Empowerment 
Leading Companies of China

2023 Leading Smart Property Service Company 
of China

2 0 2 3  S o c i a l  R e s p o n s i b i l i t y  B e n c h m a r k 
Enterprise

Top 100 2023 Property In tegr i ty Serv ice 
Companies of China
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE POLICY

As a reputable property service provider in the industry, the Group regards sustainable 
development as the foundation of corporate development. Through our influence, we are 
committed to integrating sustainable development elements into our business operations and 
business decisions, promoting the sustainable development of the environment and society, and 
creating a better environment and community for the next generation.

Sustainability Governance and Supervision by the Board

As the highest governance body of the Group, the Board assumes full responsibility for the 
Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and reporting. The Board delegates 
deputy general managers, representatives from various departments such as the property 
management department, the quality management department and the audit and supervision 
department to form a sustainability working group to assist the Board in implementing 
sustainability strategy and report the performance to the Board on a regular basis. The 
responsibilities of the sustainability working group include:

• Formulating, implementing and reporting the Group’s ESG strategy, management policy, 
ESG indicators and targets

• Identifying, assessing and managing material ESG related issues (including business risks) 
and reporting the same to the Board

• Reporting ESG strategies, performance and progress in relation to ESG related targets and 
indicators

• Supervising, implementing and evaluating ESG related policies, procedures and measures 
to promote sustainable development

• Inspecting the applicability of sustainability strategies in addressing stakeholders’ concerns

• Examining any ESG related violations and non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and 
regulations

• Reviewing and approving the Group’s public reporting/ESG report on its sustainability 
performance
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Sustainability Risk Management

Our Risk Management System provides guidance and framework for the Group’s risk management 
system. We identify and mitigate identified risks, including ESG related risks. We regularly review 
the progress and performance of sustainability. In order to ensure the effective implementation 
of ESG related risk response measures, we regularly identify ESG related risks such as climate 
change risks and supply chain ESG risks based on ESG megatrends and issues, peer analysis, 
collections of opinions from stakeholders and business nature, and rank them according to the 
degree of impact on the Group and possibility of each risk. We will formulate corresponding 
response strategies for major ESG risks, and regularly evaluate and supervise the effectiveness of 
the measures.

Based on the latest market and industry trends, identify 
relevant risks in the industry, environmental industry, and 
environmental, social, and governance trends, including 
climate-related risks and environmental, social, and 
governance risks in the supply chain.

Assess the potential impact and likelihood of signi�cant 
environmental, social, and governance risks.

Consider the potential impact and likelihood of signi�cant 
environmental, social, and governance risks, score the risk 
level, and prioritize these risks.

In order to manage identi�ed environmental, social, and 
governance risks and minimize their impact on business, we 
have established appropriate risk mitigation measures and 
internal controls, and delegated relevant business 
departments to implement these measures.

The senior management reports to the Board of Directors 
on the assessment results of environmental, social, and 
governance risk and other relevant issues for discussion and 
review.

1. Identify

2. Assess

3. Prioritize

4. Mitigate

5. Report

For details on corporate governance and risk management policies of the Group, please refer to 
the Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s Annual Report.
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ENGAGEMENT OF STAKEHOLDERS

We have identified shareholders and investors, property owners and customers, employees, 
governments, subcontractors and suppliers and local communities as the key stakeholder 
category of the Group. We actively maintain close communication with our stakeholders, listen 
and respond in a timely manner to their opinions and expectations on the Group, so as to 
enhance our business and sustainability performance. We have established various communication 
channels to collect their opinions from various aspects. The following table details the Group’s 
stakeholder category, corresponding communication methods, major concerns of stakeholders 
and our response channels:

Stakeholder 
category Communication methods Major concerns Our response channels
    

Shareholders and 
investors

– Convene general 
meetings

– Release circulars, interim 
and annual reports

– Disclose news of listed 
companies

– Investment returns and 
growth

– Protect the interests of 
shareholders and investors

– Realize information 
transparency and efficient 
communication

– Convene annual general 
meetings

– Provide investors detailed 
information on the Group’s 
website

– Timely release of circulars, 
interim and annual reports and 
notices of meetings

Property owners 
and customers

– One-on-one meetings
– Customer communication 

meetings
– Collect feedback from 

property owners and 
customers

– High-quality services
– Customer service and 

experience
– Privacy protection
– Handle opinions and 

complaints

– Regularize and standardize 
services

– Set up property management 
offices with locational 
convenience

– Actively respond to the 
comments and complaints 
from property owners and 
customers

– Take practical steps to protect 
customer privacy
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Stakeholder 
category Communication methods Major concerns Our response channels
    

Employees – Various internal 
communication networks

– Workplace

– Salary and benefits
– Career development
– Equal Opportunity
– Health and safety of 

employees

– Establish a sound performance 
appraisal and compensation 
and welfare system

– Care and welfare activities for 
staff

– Arrange training courses 
according to employees’ 
professional development 
needs

– Staff mailboxes

Government – Tax declaration
– Report on policy 

implementation

– Fulfil regulatory compliance 
requirement

– Payment of taxes on time 
according to laws

– Maintaining good 
relationships with the local 
governments

– Strict comply with national 
laws and regulations

– Full payment of taxes on time 
according to laws

– Maintain dialogue with 
provincial, municipal and 
district governments, and 
understand local practices

Sub-contractors 
and suppliers

– Review and evaluate 
performance of 
sub-contractors and 
suppliers

– Communication meetings
– Information sharing

– Transparent process in 
selecting sub-contractors 
and suppliers

– Business integrity
– Performance of contracts
– Resources sharing

– Establish an open and 
transparent bidding and 
procurement policy

– Regularly assess the service 
quality of sub-contractors and 
suppliers

– Convene meetings with 
qualified suppliers

Local community – Organize/participate in 
community activities

– Media publicity
– Support local 

development

– Promote local employment 
development

– Community culture and 
services

– Community safety 
management

– Environmental protection

– Organize ad hoc recreational 
activities in residential 
communities

– Create career opportunities
– Promote energy conservation 

and environmental protection
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, we also commissioned an independent third-party consultant to 
conduct a stakeholder survey and invited stakeholders to prioritize the importance of various 
ESG issues to the Group, so as to assist us in identifying and managing the Group’s material 
sustainability issues.

Identification of potential 
ESG issues: During the year, 
we have identified 21 ESG 
issues by integrating the 
business development 
strategy of Hevol Services 
and industry trends based on 
the disclosure requirements 
of the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Reporting 
Guide. These issues are 
considered to have an 
impact on the stakeholders 
and the business of the 
Group through our 
operations.

Materiality assessment: 
Stakeholders are invited for 
communication and 
collection of their views to 
determine the importance 
of issues to the Group. The 
management of the Group 
conducts internal 
assessment based on the 
opinions and feedback of 
stakeholders, and scores 
the relevance or materiality 
of each issue.

Prioritization: We use the 
above scoring to plot the 
materiality matrix to identify 
the materiality and impacts 
of the materiality issues on 
stakeholders and the 
business of the Group.
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No. Issues No. Issues
    

1 Air pollutants emission 12 Employee development
2 Greenhouse gas emission 13 Prohibition of hiring child and forced labour
3 Waste treatment and recycling 14 Process of selecting and evaluating suppliers
4 Energy consumption 15 Environmental and social risk management of 

supply chain5 Water consumption
6 Paper consumption 16 Service quality and safety
7 Environmental risk management 17 Customer service and satisfaction
8 Climate changes 18 Protection of intellectual property
9 Equal opportunity 19 Customer data privacy and data security
10 Employee benefits 20 Anti-corruption and anti-money laundering
11 Occupational health and safety 21 Community response and public engagement
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Based on the above materiality matrix, we have identified 9 issues, namely energy consumption, 
employee benefits, occupational health and safety, employee development, process of selecting 
and evaluating suppliers, service quality and safety, customer service and satisfaction, customer 
data privacy and data security, and community response and public engagement as key issues, 
which will be highlighted in this Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

We are committed to building a better and greener community for the next generation. We 
strictly abide by relevant environmental laws and regulations, including but not limited to the 
Law on the Prevention and Control of Air Pollution of PRC, the Environmental Protection laws of 
PRC, the Law on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of PRC, the Water Law of the PRC, 
the National List of Hazardous Wastes, the Administrative Measures for Transfer of Hazardous 
Wastes, and the Law of PRC on the Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution. The Group 
has obtained ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management System certification, and actively 
manages the Group’s environmental performance through a comprehensive environmental 
management system, including the Administrative Regulations on Domestic Waste Classification, 
the Administrative Regulations on Energy Conservation and Consumption Reduction and the 
Pollutant Control Procedures.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any serious violat ions of relevant 
environmental laws and regulations.
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Environmental Objectives

To strengthen environmental performance management, we have set four environmental 
objectives and actively implement them through various plans. During the Reporting Period, we 
made good progress towards each objective.

Indicators Objectives Initiatives implemented

Progress during 
the Reporting 
Period

    

Greenhouse gas 
emissions

Reduce electricity 
consumption 
in offices and 
common areas 
of the projects

• Adopted zoning control for 
public lighting system and reduce 
consumption within reasonable range

• Post electricity-saving labels in office 
areas to strengthen employees’ 
awareness of saving electricity

• Prioritized tools which facilitate energy 
saving and emission reduction in 
purchasing electronic equipment

In progress 

Wastes Improve measures 
of waste 
separation and 
recycling

• Disused computers, monitors, waste 
ink cartridges and other garbage are 
sorted for collection

• Transported to relevant professional 
institutions for recycling

• Office wastes are collected for 
centralized recycling to reduce the 
disposal rate of waste

In progress 

Energy use Raise employees’ 
awareness 
of energy 
conservation

• Encouraged employees to switch 
off lights, air conditioners and office 
equipment before leaving work

• Reduced the use of unnecessary 
lighting systems in office areas

• Post electricity-saving labels in office 
areas to strengthen employees’ 
concerns for energy conservation and 
emission reduction

In progress 

Water consumption Reduce water 
consumption 
in offices and 
common areas 
of the projects

• Drip and spray irrigation is adopted 
for property management projects to 
reduce water consumption

• Water saving posters are in place in 
office areas

Achieved
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Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

We pay close attention to the Group’s air and greenhouse gas emissions. In daily operations, the 
Group’s canteens, generators, weeders, brush cutters, hedge trimmers, rotary tillers and other 
equipment consume energy, such as liquefied petroleum gas, natural gas, biodiesel and diesel, 
which generate air and direct greenhouse gas emissions. Indirect greenhouse gas emissions are 
generated from purchased electricity that supports daily business operations, while other indirect 
emissions are generated from commercial aviation.

In order to reduce the Group’s carbon footprint and implement the principle of environmental 
protection, we actively take the following measures:

• Encourage employees to use video conferencing or teleconferencing as much as possible 
to replace commercial air travel, thereby reducing greenhouse gas emissions

• Encourage employees to use public transport and shared vehicles as much as possible

• Proactively green project communities, and replant green area more than 240,000 square 
meters during the year, including more than 430,000 plants, such as boxwood, Chinese 
rose, Malus spectabilis, azalea, veronica peregrina and trees

KPIs Unit 2023 2022
    

Air emissions Nitrogen oxides kg 203.18 66.34
Sulfur oxides kg 11.79 4.55
Particulate matter kg 687.86 224.59

Greenhouse gas 
emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1)1 tonnes of CO2e 2,545.36 1,771.19
Reduction of greenhouse gas tonnes of CO2e 0.90 0.87
Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)2 tonnes of CO2e 54,468.51 44,931.20
Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3)3 tonnes of CO2e 567.17 533.80
Total greenhouse gas emissions tonnes of CO2e 57,580.14 47,235.32
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity tonnes of CO2e/

million m2

2,058.11 1,759.22

1 Scope 1 covers direct greenhouse gas emissions from operations that are owned or controlled by the Group.

2 Scope 2 covers “energy indirect” greenhouse gas emissions resulting from electricity and heat (purchased or 
acquired) consumed within the Group.

3 Scope 3 covers all other indirect greenhouse gas emissions that occur outside the Group, including paper waste 
disposed of at landfills, electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage by government departments, and 
indirect greenhouse gas emissions from business air travel by employees.



68 Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

 

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Waste

Based on the nature of our business, we generate non-hazardous wastes including household 
waste, paper and food waste as well as a small amount of waste light bulbs, ink cartridges, toner 
cartridges, batteries and disinfection medicine containers and other hazardous wastes. In order to 
avoid significant impact on the surrounding environment caused by waste discharge, we properly 
manage all wastes by collecting wastes separately and handing them over to a qualified third 
party for cleaning and disposal. We advocate the concept of reducing waste from the source, 
encourage employees to use online channels for office as much as possible to reduce paper 
consumption, and guide them to recycle waste paper, plastics, metals and other materials.

The following is the waste discharge data of the Group during the Reporting Period and 2022:

KPIs Unit 2023 2022
    

Non-hazardous 
wastes

Total non-hazardous wastes tonnes 103.01 96.69
Non-hazardous waste 

intensity
tonnes/million m2 3.68 3.60

Disposal amount of 
non-hazardous wastes

tonnes 98.15 92.12

Recycled amount of 
non-hazardous wastes

tonnes 4.86 4.57

Hazardous 
wastes

Total hazardous wastes tonnes 0.51 0.50
Hazardous waste intensity tonnes/million m2 0.02 0.02
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Energy

Based on the nature of our business, we consume purchased electricity to support the electricity 
demand in our operating locations. We also consume gasoline, liquefied petroleum gas, natural 
gas and biodiesel to support the energy needs of vehicles, canteens, generators, weeders, brush 
cutters, hedge trimmers and rotary tillers. In order to reduce the Group’s carbon footprint, we 
vigorously promote the concept of energy-saving, reduce energy consumption and improve 
energy efficiency through the following measures:

• Adopt zoning control for public lighting system to reduce electricity waste

• Procure equipment with higher energy-saving efficiency whenever possible

• Advocate employees to switch off lights, air conditioners and other electronic equipment 
before leaving work

• Air conditioners in office areas are set according to seasons and climates: 26 degrees 
Celsius in summer and 22 degrees Celsius in winter

• Employees are encouraged to use public transportation and share vehicles as much as 
possible

• Post electricity-saving labels in office areas to strengthen employees’ awareness of saving 
electricity
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The following is the energy consumption data of the Group during the Reporting Period and 
2022:

KPls Unit 2023 2022
    

Energy 
consumption

Purchased electricity MWh 89,278.00 73,645.63
Natural gas MWh 111.22 280.12
Biodiesel MWh 162.63 78.36
Liquefied petroleum gas MWh 115.14 130.54
Diesel MWh 64.09 20.41
Gasoline MWh 805.58 193.65
Total energy consumption MWh 90,536.66 74,348.71
Energy consumption 

intensity
MWh/million m2 3,236.09 2,769.02

Water Consumption

Our water is mainly provided by the municipal water supply company for greening, cleaning and 
daily office purposes. During the Reporting Period, we have not encountered any problems in 
obtaining suitable water sources. We actively advocate the concept of cherishing water resources 
and require employees to save water and improve water efficiency. Our water conservation 
measures include:

• Adjust the frequency and amount of water used for greening and cleaning in a timely 
manner

• Set switches or locks at the water outlets to reduce waste of water resources

• Regularly check and maintain water equipment, and monitor the water consumption in 
public areas

• Adopt drip and spray irrigation in public areas of properties to reduce water consumption

• Put up water saving posters in the office area to strengthen employees’ awareness of water 
conservation
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KPls Unit 2023 2022
    

Water 
consumption

Total water consumption m3 1,869,580.21 2,069,778.27
Water consumption 

intensity
m3/million m2 72,036.11 79,749.86

Climate Changes

In response to more frequent weather events, such as typhoons, floods, forest fires, etc., we have 
incorporated the climate-related issues into Group’s risk management process, identified and 
managed climate change risks, including physical and transition risks, and related opportunities 
with reference to the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) recommended 
framework, and made appropriate disclosures. The r isks we identi fy and the relevant 
countermeasures include:

Risk Impact Countermeasures
    

Physical risk Extreme 
weather events

The fac i l i t ies,  equ ipment and 
environment of properties, such 
as walls and elevators, are easily 
damaged due to extreme weather 
events including typhoons and 
water logging, thus requi r ing 
r e p a i r s  a n d  m a i n t e n a n c e , 
increas ing the cost of  repai rs 
and maintenance and preventive 
measures

Regular inspections are carried out 
on fac i l i t ies involv ing drainage, 
power distribution, and public areas, 
and abnormal situations are dealt 
with in a timely manner to minimize 
the risk of damage to equipment 
and faci l i t ies caused by extreme 
weather. In the event of extreme 
special weather, timely measures 
will be taken to protect equipment 
and facilities in accordance with the 
Emergency Response Plan.

Extreme weather events including 
typhoons and water logging may 
cause water leakage, result ing 
in damage to property facilities 
a n d  e q u i p m e n t .  R e p a i r s  a n d 
maintenance will lead to increased 
operating costs, increased capital 
c o s t s  o r  w r i t e - o f f  a n d  e a r l y 
re t i rement o f  ex i s t ing assets, 
and reduced tenant/occupant 
satisfaction

Regular inspection and maintenance 
are conducted for the operation of 
equipment and facilities, and close 
attention is paid to changes in water 
volume.
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Risk Impact Countermeasures
    

Transition 
risks

Low carbon 
economy 
transition

The market demand for low-carbon 
building materials and measures 
has increased. In order to meet the 
market demand, the expenditure 
on building materials has increased, 
and the demand for products and 
services has decreased due to the 
shift of customer demand

We have formulated internal policies 
to standardize supplier selection 
procedures,  and urge suppl iers 
to priorit ize low-carbon building 
materials. Meanwhile, we encourage 
all projects to take energy-saving 
and emission-reduction measures, 
s u c h  a s  r e p l a c i n g  t r a d i t i o n a l 
lamps wi th LED lamps or  us ing 
induct ion lamps, giv ing pr ior i ty 
to energy-saving equipment, and 
implementing paperless office.

EMPLOYMENT

We adhere to the people-oriented employment principle, treat every employee equally, provide 
a harmonious, inclusive, equal working environment for our employees, and prohibit any form of 
discrimination. At the same time, we abide by the laws and regulations related to employment, 
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the 
Law of the PRC on Promotion of Employment, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control 
of Occupational Diseases and the Regulations on Prohibition of the Use of Child Labour, etc. We 
provide employees with market competitive remuneration and benefits, provide adequate career 
training and development opportunities, and pay attention to their physical and mental health, so 
that employees can grow together with the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any major violations with laws and 
regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, 
vacation, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other treatment and benefits.
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Employment Overview

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 4,849 employees, of which 2 were 
part-time employees. The number of employees and turnover rates by gender, age and region 
are as follows:

2,384 2,465

By Gender

Male

Female

1,184

1,797

683

1,185

By Age Group

Aged 30 or below

Aged 31 to 40

Aged 41 to 50

Aged 51 or above

2,230

475

117

1,273

518236

North China

Southwest China

East China

South China

Northeast China

Central China

By Region
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Employee turnover rate

By gender

Male 28.65%

Female 29.09%

By region

North China 20.06%

Northeast China 39.33%

East China 27.38%

Central China 32.37%

Southwest China 27.88%

South China 37.66%

By age group

Under 30 38.85%

31-40 26.94%

41-50 23.27%

Above 51 29.11%

Recruitment

We have formulated the Labour Protection Management System of Hevol Services Group while 
promoting the principles of diversity and equality, respecting the background and culture of 
each employee, and adopting a “zero” tolerance principle for workplace discrimination based 
on gender, age, marital status, family status, pregnancy, disability, race or religion, etc. We 
recruit the most suitable talents to join the Group through online recruitment, media recruitment, 
internal employee competition, job fairs, campus recruitment and other channels.
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Remuneration and Benefits

We provide competitive remuneration and benefits for employees to take care of their well-being. 
We regulate the management of remuneration and benefits through the Remuneration and 
Benefits Management Rules of Hevol Services Group, the Social Insurance and Housing Provident 
Fund Management Rules of Hevol Services Group and the Attendance and Leaves Management 
Rules of Hevol Services Group. The Group reviews remuneration and benefits system from time 
to time to effectively attract and retain the talent. We pay social insurance and housing provident 
fund for our employees in accordance with the Social Insurance Law of the PRC. In addition, 
employees can also enjoy the following benefits:

Sick leave Health checks
Work injury leave Labour protection supplies
Personal leave Overtime pay
Marriage leave Meal subsidies
Bereavement leave Communication subsidies
Maternity leave Transportation subsidies
Abortion leave Holiday fees
Breastfeeding leave Birthday fees
Paid annual leave Labour protection subsidies

In addition to providing diversified benefits, we also hold a variety of employee activities from 
time to time to enhance employees’ sense of belonging to the Group. We are also committed to 
establishing open and transparent work culture. We communicate with our employees in two-way 
through channels such as discussions, interviews and online communication to understand their 
opinions and expectations, and make appropriate responses to make the Group become the 
employer of choice for our employees.
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing employees with a healthy, safe and comfortable working 
environment and strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations such as the Law of the PRC 
on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and the Regulation on Industrial Injury 
Insurance. We have obtained the ISO45001: 2018 Occupational Health and Safety management 
system certification and formulated comprehensive occupational health and safety rules, including 
but not limited to the Emergency Response Plan, the Labour Protection Management Rules of 
Hevol Services Group and the Safety Protection Control Procedures of Hevol Services Group, 
etc., to guide employees to implement strict occupational health and safety management and 
protect the safety and health of employees. During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of 
any major violations with laws and regulations of the Group relating to providing a safe working 
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

The measures of occupational health and safety taken by us include but are not limited to:

Health

• Health check-ups for new employees

• Health check-ups for staff susceptible to occupational disease and 
at special positions

• Annual gynecological check-ups for female employees

• Annual heath check-ups for all staff of the Group

• Provision of necessary labour protection equipment for employees 
such as uniforms, electrician shoes, gloves, cooling supplies and 
insect repellent, etc.

Safety

• Prevent and respond to emergencies according to the Emergency 
Response Plan, including traffic accidents, casualties, natural 
disasters, power outages, water outages, explosions, elevator 
failures, etc.

• Regular identify safety risks, such as electricity leakage, car accident, 
heat stroke, fire, etc., and develop control measures to reduce 
the possibility of risk occurrence and the impact on the Group’s 
employees and community residents
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During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded 37 minor work-related injuries, mainly involving 
falls, bumps, sprains, smashes, etc.. The Group also visited the injured employees and paid close 
attention to the recovery of the injured employees.

Number of work-related 
fatality over the past three 
years

Number of work-related 
injuries in 2023

Lost working days due to 
work-related injuries in 2023

   

2 37 1,757

Development and Training

In order to maintain and enhance our business development, we encourage our employees to 
continue to learn the latest industry knowledge and technology for continuous improvement. We 
have formulated the Training Management System to provide employees with adequate training 
opportunities. The human resources department evaluates the learning needs of employees every 
year, formulates training plans according to the Group’s business development strategy and 
market development, and arranges various internal and external trainings to improve employees’ 
professional knowledge and skills, management ability, comprehensive quality, etc. During the 
Reporting Period, training courses were provided, covering job skills training, personal quality, 
customer service, safety training, energy conservation and consumption reduction training, etc.. 
The ratio of employees participating in the training was 100%.

Average training hours
Male 35.41 hours
Female 36.42 hours
Management 31.09 hours
Middle management 37.94 hours
Entry-level employees 35.89 hours

Training ratio
Male 100%
Female 100%
Management 100%
Middle management 100%
Entry-level employees 100%
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Based on the core values of “open, innovation and co-creation”, we hope that our employees will 
grow together with the Group. Therefore, we attach great importance to the career development 
of employees within the Group, and have a sound career development ladder to match the career 
development path of employees. When there is a job vacancy, we follow the principle of “internal 
employees first and external employees second” and give priority to existing employees who 
are suitable. We have established the Performance Appraisal Management System to conduct 
monthly, quarterly and annual performance appraisals. The assessment indicators include financial 
indicators, customer service, management, training and learning, etc. The appraisal results will be 
used as an important reference for employees’ position adjustment and bonus distribution.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child labour and forced labour and complies with 
the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using 
Child Labour. We have formulated the Labour Protection Management Rules of Hevol Services 
Group to verify the valid identity documents of job applicants during the process of recruitment, 
employment approval and reporting to ensure that they have reached legal working age and 
are not child labour. To avoid forced labour, we also set out the terms on working hours, leave, 
overtime compensation and termination in our Employee Code of Conduct and other human 
resources-related rules. Employees work 40 hours per week. If employees need to work overtime, 
we will provide overtime pay and transportation allowances in accordance with labour regulations.

If violations are found, the Group will immediately take child and forced labour away from 
the workplace and provide appropriate assistance. The Group will also report to relevant 
departments, and review and improve the vulnerabilities in employment practises. During the 
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any child or forced labour in the workplace.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We will cooperate with suppliers of services such as security, cleaning and construction, as well as 
suppliers for office supplies. As of 31 December 2023, the Group cooperated with a total of 619 
suppliers, all of which are located in mainland China. The distribution of suppliers by region is as 
follows:

132

46

64

78

290

99

North China Southwest China

Central ChinaNortheast China South China

By region

East China

As a market player in the property management services industry, we are committed to working 
with suppliers to promote the sustainable development of the supply chain through our influence. 
We will give priority to the procurement of more environmentally friendly products or materials, 
and energy-saving equipment, and actively introduce electric vehicle charging equipment in 
property projects, hoping to popularise electric vehicles and reduce fuel consumption. When 
selecting new suppliers, we will evaluate suppliers comprehensively, and the evaluation criteria 
cover environmental and social elements, including the prohibition of child labour and forced 
labour.

During the Reporting Period, we conducted a risk assessment on the environmental and 
social risks of our major suppliers. The Board and management are responsible for monitoring 
the environmental and social risks of the entire supply chain, reviewing the effectiveness of 
management measures, and continuously optimizing the risk management rules of suppliers. 
Based on the risk assessment results, we did not find any suppliers rated as high risk.
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Apart from focusing on the environmental and social risks of our suppliers, we also attach great 
importance to the quality of their products and services. The Group has formulated systems such 
as the Tender and Procurement Management Procedures, the Supplier Management Regulations 
and the Qualified Supplier Management Control Procedures to regulate the selection, evaluation 
and management procedures of new and existing suppliers. We will conduct an on-site inspection 
of candidate suppliers to check their qualifications, reputation, work quality, business integrity, 
safety level, system certification, working environment and other areas. For existing suppliers, we 
also conduct monthly performance assessments and comprehensive performance assessments to 
ensure that they meet our requirements. The assessment scope includes:

• Service Quality

• Safety Responsibility

• Personnel Management

• Coordination

• Service Attitude

• Satisfaction Level of Property Owners and Customers

• Complaints

If there is any quality, safety, security and fire accident of a supplier in the evaluation process, 
we will immediately require the suppliers to rectify the problems. In case of major problems or 
continuously failing to meet standards, we will consider terminating the cooperation with these 
suppliers. During the Reporting Period, we conducted on-site audits for 607 existing suppliers, 
representing approximately 96% of the total number of existing suppliers.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Adhering to the customer-oriented tenet, we are committed to providing the best property 
management services to property owners and customers. We have complied with laws and 
regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating 
to products and services provided, including but not limited to the Regulations on Property 
Management, the Law on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests of the PRC, the Advertising 
Law of the PRC, etc., and have formulated comprehensive quality management systems to 
maintain high-quality service quality and meet or even exceed customer’s expectations.

Due to the nature of business, advertising, product labelling and intellectual property are not 
material issues to the Group.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material violations of laws and regulations 
related to product responsibility.

Service Quality

In order to maintain high-quality service, we have obtained ISO9001: 2015 Quality Management 
System certification, and standardised the service process and standards of employees through 
relevant systems such as the White Paper on Service Standards of Hevol Services Group, 
the Property Service Business Management Control Procedures and the Quality Inspection 
Management Control Procedures. The quality management department of the Group conducts 
monthly quality inspection on each property, including self-inspection by the property company, 
inspection by the quality management department and national inspection, to comprehensively 
evaluate the services of each property project to ensure compliance with standards.
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Customer Communication

In order to continuously improve the quality of our services, we strive to maintain close 
communication with property owners and customers to collect their opinions and expectations. 
We collect customer feedback by offering twenty-four hour online service for national property 
owners through the 400 customer service center. In response to the demands of property 
owners, we implement nationwide unified acceptance and settlement, strictly supervise and 
assess performance, and conduct multi-dimensional data control to improve property owners’ 
satisfaction. Relevant personnel will handle customer complaints in a timely manner in accordance 
with the Procedures for Handling Complaints from Customers of Hevol Services Group. For 
complaints about construction management, environmental management, customer service 
and safety management, we will inform the project leader within one hour upon receipt of such 
complaint and contact the property owner within one hour and provide a solution within 24 hours. 
In case of material or collective complaints, we will inform the project leader within 0.5 hour and 
communicate with the party involved in a timely manner. We have also formulated the Procedures 
for Assessment and Control on Customers’ Satisfaction, inviting property owners to participate in 
satisfaction surveys every year to understand their opinions on service quality and respond to the 
questions raised by property owners in a timely manner.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received 465 complaints on products and services, all of 
which were handled in a timely manner.

Safety Management

Protecting the safety of property owners and customers is one of our priorities. We have 
formulated the Regulations on Tour Inspection and Examination of Equipment Facilities and the 
Emergency Response Plan. We regularly inspect and maintain equipment and facilities such as 
fire escapes, fire fighting equipment, and underground spaces to identify safety risks. At the 
same time, we prevent and respond to emergencies such as fires, extreme weather events, traffic 
accidents, crimes and equipment failures to ensure the safety of the environment and personnel. 
Safety and fire drills are conducted regularly for each property project to ensure that relevant 
personnel possess relevant safety knowledge and skills.
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Privacy Protection

In order to protect the privacy of property owners and customers at all times, we have formulated 
a series of privacy protection systems, including the Confidentiality Management Rules and the 
Regulation on Management of Documents of Hevol Services Group, requiring relevant employees 
and partners to sign confidentiality agreements, and not to disclose the information of property 
owners and customers to third parties without authorization, including but not limited to the 
property owners’ name, phone number, ID card number, address, and copies of certificates.

Approval is required if the relevant personnel need to use such information. We have also 
formulated a comprehensive information network security system to ensure data security. In case 
of data leakage, follow-up actions and investigations will be carried out in a timely manner to 
prevent the recurrence of similar incidents. During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of 
any complaints in relation to breaches of customer privacy or leak of customer information.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations related to anti-corruption, maintains 
business ethics and integrity, builds a healthy and honest corporate culture, and eliminates all 
corruption and other violations of laws and regulations such as bribery, fraud, extortion and 
money laundering, strictly complying with the relevant laws and regulations such as the Criminal 
Law of the PRC, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of 
the PRC and the Company Law of the PRC.

We have formulated the Corporate Anti-Fraud Rules, requiring employees to uphold the highest 
ethical standards at all times, and not to accept gifts or benefits, gifts or entertainment from 
other third parties. The audit department and relevant personnel are assigned to strictly deal 
with whistle-blowing involving professional ethics issues. In case of any suspected corruption or 
violation, employees can whistle-blow to the Group through telephone, email and other online 
channels. Investigations are conducted and reported to the management in a timely manner. To 
protect the interests of the whistleblower, we will keep their identity confidential.

To enhance the knowledge and awareness of business ethics and integrity of the management 
and employees, relevant training courses are arranged. During the Reporting Period, we arranged 
an one-hour training on integrity.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material violations of laws and regulations 
involving corruption, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a property service provider, the Group always cares about the community and gives back 
to the community through various community investment activities. We have formulated the 
Regulation on Management of Community Culture Activities to standardise the principles 
and provide guidance for the Group’s community investment and other community cultural 
activities. Each community regularly organises festival celebrations, community beautification 
activities, community care activities, cultural activities, etc., to engage with community residents, 
strengthen the cohesion of the community, as well as provide care to the communities in need. 
During the Reporting Period, we actively organised the cultural activities of the community, the 
environmental protection activities and cared for vulnerable groups.

Total hours of community investment Number of Participants
  

7,606 2,943

Community Culture

Various property projects will hold community cultural activities to strengthen the ties among 
residents. During the reporting period, we provided holiday gifts to community residents and 
organized holiday celebrations to send them blessings. We also organized various community 
activities from time to time, such as film viewing, cultural evenings, sports meetings and sports 
activities.
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Environmental Protection

Each community will hold environmental protection activities, such as tree planting and 
community beautification activities, to practice green life with residents. During the reporting 
period, we invited residents to participate in tree planting activities and environmental promotion 
activities to build a better and greener community.

Caring for Disadvantaged

Employees in all communities participated in different voluntary activities and did their best to 
support groups in need. During the reporting period, we encouraged our employees to serve as 
volunteers to undertake visits and voluntary services, so as to send warmth to the elderly in the 
community.
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REFERENCES TO THE METHOD OF CALCULATION AND EMISSION FACTORS 
OF ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

• Unless otherwise specified, the methods and emission factors used in calculation of 
environmental key performance indicators set out in the ESG report are determined with 
reference to “How to prepare an ESG Report? – Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on 
Environmental KPIs” published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

• The total area of 95 projects under management during the year and the headquarters 
office of the Group in Beijing is used as the base unit for the consumption intensity of 
emissions and resources.

• Greenhouse gas emission coefficients refer to the “Pollution Coefficient and Use 
Instructions for Domestic Sources” issued by the South China Institute of Environmental 
Sciences of the Ministry of Environmental Protection, “Guidelines for Accounting Methods 
and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Enterprises in Other Industries” issued by 
the General Office of the National Development and Reform Commission and EMEP/EEA 
Air Pollutant Emission Inventory Guidebook published by European Environment Agency.

• The greenhouse gas emission coefficient per unit of electricity consumption for the 
treatment of freshwater refers to the annual report of Hong Kong Water Supplies 
Department 2021/22.

• The greenhouse gas emission coefficient per unit of electricity consumption for sewage 
treatment refers to the Hong Kong Drainage Services Department’s Sustainability Report 
2021/22.

• The energy consumption conversion coefficient refers to the “Technical Note on Conversion 
of Fuel Data to MWh” issued by CDP.
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INDEX OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement Page

A. Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions

General 
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact 
on the issuer 

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, 
discharges into water and land, and 
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous 
waste.

Note: A i r  emiss ions inc lude NOx, SOx, and other 
p o l l u t a n t s  r e g u l a t e d  u n d e r  n a t i o n a l  l a w s 
and regulat ions.  Greenhouse gases inc lude 
c a r b o n  d i o x i d e ,  m e t h a n e ,  n i t r o u s  o x i d e , 
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur 
hexafluoride. Hazardous wastes are those defined 
by national regulations.

Air and Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions
Waste

P. 66-68

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 
emissions data.

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, 
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 
unit of production volume, per facility).

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in 
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and 
non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a 
description of reduction target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General 
Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, 
including energy, water and other raw 
materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, 
transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment,etc.

Energy
Water Consumption

P. 66,  
69-71

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total 
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. 
per unit of production volume, per facility).

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) 
set and steps taken to achieve them.

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in 
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished 
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 
reference to per unit produced.

The Group does 
not use packaging 
materials for 
finished products.

N/A

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General 
Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant 
impacts on the environment and natural 
resources.

Environmental 
Protection

P. 65-72

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of 
activities on the environment and natural 
resources and the actions taken to manage 
them.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

General 
Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of 
significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the 
issuer.

Climate Changes P. 71-72 
 

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related 
issues which have impacted, and those which 
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken 
to manage them.

B. Social

Employment and Labour Practices

Aspect B1: Employment

General 
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, 
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, 
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and 
welfare.

Employment P. 72-78

KPI B 1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type 
(for example, full- or part-time), age group 
and geographical region.

Employment

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age 
group and geographical region.

Employment
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General 
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working 
environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards.

Health and Safety P. 76-77

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 
occurred in each of the past three years 
including the reporting year.

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 
safety measures adopted, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General 
Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge 
and skills for discharging duties at work. 
Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may 
include internal and external courses paid by the 
employer.

Development and 
Training

P. 77-78

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by 
gender and employee category (e.g. senior 
management, middle management).

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per 
employee by gender and employee category.
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General 
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced 
labour.

Labour Standards P. 78

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 
employment practices to avoid child and 
forced labour.

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 
practices when discovered.

Operating Practices

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management 

General 
Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and 
social risks of the supply chain.

Supply Chain 
Management

P. 79-80

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 
suppliers, number of suppliers where the 
practices are being implemented, and how 
they are implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 
environmental and social risks along the 
supply chain, and how they are implemented 
and monitored.

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 
environmentally preferable products and 
services when selecting suppliers, and how 
they are implemented and monitored.
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General 
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, 
labelling and privacy matters relating to 
products and services provided and methods 
of redress.

Product 
Responsibility

P. 81-83

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped 
subject to recalls for safety and health 
reasons.

No products of the 
Group have to be 
recalled for safety 
and health reasons.

N/A

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related 
complaints received and how they are dealt 
with.

Customer 
Communication

P. 82

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing 
and protecting intellectual property rights.

Due to the nature 
of business, 
intellectual property 
right is not a major 
concern of the 
Group.

N/A

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and 
recall procedures.

The Group is not 
involved in product 
testing and recall.

N/A

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection 
and privacy policies, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Privacy Protection P. 83
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General 
Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact 
on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering.

Anti-corruption P. 83

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding 
corrupt practices brought against the issuer 
or its employees during the reporting period 
and the outcomes of the cases.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and 
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they 
are implemented and monitored.

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training 
provided to directors and staff.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General 
Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to 
understand the needs of the communities 
where the issuer operates and to ensure 
its activities take into consideration the 
communities’ interests.

Community 
Investment

P. 84-85

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 
environmental concerns, labour needs, 
health, culture, sport).

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) 
to the focus area.
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Report of the Directors

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

 

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Hevol Services Group Co. Limited (the 
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present the annual report 
of the Company together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2023.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company carried out the global offering on 12 July 2019, comprising of 100,000,000 shares 
at HK$1.28 per share. The net proceeds from the global offering (as defined in the Prospectus) 
were approximately HK$75.8 million (equivalent to approximately RMB66.6 million), which were 
intended to be utilised for the purposes as set out in the Prospectus. As disclosed in the annual 
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, as at 31 December 2022, all of the 
net proceeds from the listing have been utilised in the manner consistent with that as set out in 
the Prospectus.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged 
in the provision of property management services, community value-added services and 
value-added services to non-property owners in the PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for 
the year by principal activities is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements in this 
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a discussion of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using 
financial key performance indicators, particulars of important events affecting the Group during 
the year, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, could be found 
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and 
“Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this 
directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five 
financial years is set out on pages 246 to 248 of this annual report. This summary does not form 
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company was successfully listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 12 July 
2019 and issued 100,000,000 new shares. The net proceeds from the listing amounted to 
approximately HK$75.8 million (equivalent to approximately RMB66.6 million) after deducting 
share issuance costs, listing expenses and underwriting commissions. As disclosed in the annual 
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, as at 31 December 2022, all of the 
net proceeds from the listing have been utilised in the manner consistent with that as set out in 
the Prospectus.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

We have developed and benefited from solid working relationships with many customers. During 
the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest customer, Hevol Real Estate, which is a connected 
person of the Company, accounted for approximately 3.1% of the Group’s total revenue. The 
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 6.5% of the Group’s total revenue.

We have maintained stable relationships with our major suppliers and procured a wide range of 
services, mainly including security, cleaning and construction. During the Reporting Period, the 
Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 2.5% of the Group’s total purchase. The 
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 8.8% of the Group’s total purchase.

Save for Hevol Real Estate, during the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their 
close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best 
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any 
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or five largest customers.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Friday, 
31 May 2024, both days inclusive and during which period no share transfer will be effected, 
for the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the annual 
general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 31 May 2024 (the “AGM”). In order to 
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share 
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716. 17th Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 pm on 
Monday, 27 May 2024.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 128 in this annual report.
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DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the Companies Act, Cap 22 (law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman 
Islands, the Company may declare dividends in any currency through a general meeting but no 
dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board. The Articles 
provide that dividends may be declared and paid out of profit, realised or unrealised, or from any 
reserve of the Company lawfully available for distribution including share premium.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Directors, and the amounts of 
dividends actually declared and paid will also depend upon the following factors:

• the Group’s general business conditions;

• the Group’s financial results;

• the Group’s capital requirements;

• interests of the Shareholders; and

• any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.

Future dividend payments to Shareholders will also depend upon the availability of dividends 
received from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. PRC laws require that dividends be paid out 
of the net profit calculated according to PRC accounting principles, which differ in certain aspects 
from IFRSs. PRC laws also require enterprises located in the PRC to set aside part of their net 
profit as statutory reserves before they distribute the net proceeds. These statutory reserves are 
not available for distribution as cash dividends. Furthermore, distributions from the Company’s 
subsidiaries may be restricted if they incur debts or losses or as a result of any restrictive 
covenants in bank credit facilities or other agreements that the Company or its subsidiaries may 
enter into in the future.

Any final dividend for any fiscal year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 24 
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity on pages 131 to 132 in this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the Company amounted to approximately 
RMB335.9 million (2022: RMB339.9 million).

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in 
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Our borrowings were denominated 
in RMB. As at 31 December 2023, 100% (31 December 2022: 100%) of the Group’s borrowings 
were on fixed interest rates.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2023 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual 
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group is required to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong for any 
employee in Hong Kong and the employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the 
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees 
of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the 
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to 
this retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated 
financial statements in this annual report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, no contribution was forfeited (by the Group 
on behalf of its employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) 
under the retirement benefit schemes in the PRC and in Hong Kong which may be used by the 
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2) of Appendix 
D2 to the Listing Rules. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution was utilised during the year, and 
as at 31 December 2023, there was no forfeited contribution available to reduce the Group’s 
existing level of contributions to the retirement benefit schemes (2022: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board 
consisted of the following eight Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenhao (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Hu Hongfang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang (“Mr. Liu”) (Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Qian Hongji

Mr. Fan Chi Chiu

Dr. Chen Lei

Dr. Li Yongrui

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, all Directors shall retire by rotation, and being 
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the AGM. Details of the Directors to be 
re-elected at the AGM are set out in the circular to the Shareholders dated 30 April 2024.

B I O G R A P H I C A L  D E T A I L S  O F  T H E D I R E C T O R S A N D T H E S E N I O R 
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group as at the date of 
this annual report are set out on pages 28 to 33 in the section headed “Biography of Directors 
and Senior Management” to this annual report. The Directors confirmed that no information is 
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers 
such Directors to be independent from the date of their appointment to 31 December 2023 and 
remain so as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a 
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date and continue thereafter, which may be 
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors has entered 
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the 
Listing Date and continue thereafter, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ 
notice in writing served by either party on the other. The appointments of the Directors are 
subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation other 
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contract and letters of appointment, no contract concerning the 
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group 
was entered into or in existence at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, a permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is 
currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The Company has purchased 
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to provide protection against claims arising from the 
lawful discharge of duties by the Directors.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided by the Board 
with reference to the recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to 
the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. Details of 
the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the highest paid individuals in the Group by band 
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the senior 
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration
Number of 

senior management
  

Nil to RMB500,000 1
RMB500,001 to RMB1,000,000 0
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 2

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director 
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or 
as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived any emoluments for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for the year 
ended 31 December 2023, by the Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 4,849 employees as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 5,146). The Group 
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as position, term of 
employment, wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees included basic salaries, allowances, bonus and other 
employee benefits, and is determined with reference to their experience, qualifications and 
general market conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the Group was set up by 
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of 
the Company in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO”)), 
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was 
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required 
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as 
follows:

Long positions in the issued shares

Name of Director Nature of interest

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

    

Mr. Liu (1) Interest in a controlled  
corporation

286,439,934 51.15%

Note:

1. The entire issued share capital of Brilliant Brother Group Limited (“Brilliant Brother”) is held by Mr. Liu. 
Accordingly, Mr. Liu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Brilliant Brother under the SFO.

Long position in associated corporation

Name of Director
Nature of 
interest

Associated 
corporation

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

     

Mr. Liu (1) Beneficial owner Brilliant Brother 1 100.00%

Note:

1. Brilliant Brother, a company whose entire issued share capital is held by Mr. Liu, is the ultimate holding company 
of the Company and thus an associated corporation of the Company under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive of 
the Company held or was deemed to have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying 
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of SFO) 
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or deemed 
to have taken under such provisions of SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of 
SFO, to be entered into the register maintained by the Company, or which were required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO, the 
following companies and persons (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) 
had long positions of 5% or more in the Shares and underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed 
to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Interests and long positions in the Shares

Shareholder Name Capacity

Number of 
shares held or 

interested

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

    

Mr. Liu (1) Interest of controlled 
corporation

286,439,934 51.15%

Brilliant Brother Beneficial owner 286,439,934 51.15%
Mrs. Liu Hong (劉宏) (2) Interest of spouse 286,439,934 51.15%

Notes:

(1) The entire issued share capital of Brilliant Brother is held by Mr. Liu. Therefore, Mr. Liu is deemed to be interested 
in the shares held by Brilliant Brother in the Company under the SFO.

(2) By virtue of the SFO, Mrs. Liu Hong (劉宏) is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by her spouse, Mr. Liu, 
whose interests are disclosed in the above section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short 
Position in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company has not been notified of any 
other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) who was recorded in 
the register of the Company as having an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying 
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be 
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting Period was the 
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable 
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities 
including debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT 
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party Transactions”, in note 29 
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report and the connected transactions 
as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the directors’ report, no other 
transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to the business of the Group which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected 
with such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time 
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined 
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete, either 
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company 
and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING 
RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any other disclosure 
obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party Transactions”, in note 29 
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report and the connected transactions as 
disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the directors’ report, no contract of 
significance was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling 
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at 
the end of the year and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries was entered 
into during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has strictly complied with the requirements specified 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of its continuing connected transactions. Details 
of the relevant continuing connected transactions are as follows:

Continuing Connected Transactions Fully Exempt from the Reporting, Annual Review, 
Announcement and Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

Transitional Trademark Licencing Agreement

The trademark used by the Group in the PRC was owned by Hevol Investment. On 30 November 
2018, Beijing Hongsheng, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into the an 
agreement with Hevol Investment under which Hevol Investment agreed to transfer the trademark 
to Beijing Hongsheng at nil consideration (the “Trademark Transfer Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Trademark Transfer Agreement, pending the completion of the registration of 
Beijing Hongsheng as the new registered owner of the trademark in the PRC, Hevol Investment 
granted the Group an exclusive licence for the use of the trademark on a royalty-free basis (the 
“Transitional Trademark Licencing Arrangement”). Such exclusive licence shall be valid until 
the completion of the registration of Beijing Hongsheng as the registered owner of the trademark 
in the PRC.

As the entire equity interest of Hevol Investment was ultimately owned by Mr. Liu, the Group’s 
ultimate Controlling Shareholder, Hevol Investment was an associate of Mr. Liu and a connected 
person of the Company. The transaction under the Transitional Trademark Licencing Arrangement 
constituted a continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules upon Listing.

As the right to use the licence trademarks was granted to the Group on a royalty-free basis 
under the Trademark Transfer Agreement, such transaction was within the de minimis threshold 
provided under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules and was exempt from the reporting, annual 
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules.
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Lease Agreements in Relation to Jiaoda Jiayuan (交大嘉園)

Beijing Hevol Property Services, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and Hevol Real Estate 
entered into certain operation and management agreements in relation to (i) a clubhouse located 
at Jiaoda Jiayuan, one of the residential properties developed by Hevol Real Estate Group 
and managed by the Group, and (ii) the heating facilities in a boiler house, which served as 
the heat generator of the collective heating system of Jiaoda Jiayuan, during the period from 
15 November each year to 15 March of the following year. Under such agreements, Hevol Real 
Estate granted Beijing Hevol Property Services the right to occupy, operate and manage the 
clubhouse and the heating facilities and Beijing Hevol Property Services had the right to enjoy 
all the income generated from such properties, including the heating fees received from the 
residents, the subsidies received from the government for the heating facilities in accordance 
with the local regulations and policies, as well as the services fees received from the residents for 
enjoying the facilities in the clubhouse. In return, Beijing Hevol Property Services shall pay annual 
fees to Hevol Real Estate.

Upon the expiration of the operation and management agreements for the clubhouse and the 
heating facilities referred to above, on 29 January 2019, Beijing Hevol Property Services and 
Hevol Real Estate entered into two lease agreements, one for the clubhouse (the “Clubhouse 
Lease Agreement”) and one for the heating faci l i t ies (the “Heating Faci l it ies Lease 
Agreement”), providing rights and obligations for both parties similar to that under the operation 
and management agreements described above.

Beijing Hevol Property Services and Hevol Real Estate entered into agreements to renew the 
Clubhouse Lease Agreement (the “Renewed Clubhouse Lease Agreement”) on 1 December 
2021 for a term from 1 December 2021 to 30 November 2024 and Heating Facilities Lease 
Agreement (the “Renewed Heating Facilities Lease Agreement”) on 1 July 2021 for a term 
from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024, under which Hevol Real Estate leased the clubhouse and 
the heating facilities to Beijing Hevol Property Services for an annual rent of RMB294,000 and 
RMB432,000, respectively. The rights and obligations of both parties were similar to that under 
the operation and management agreements described above.

As Hevol Real Estate was an associate of Mr. Liu and a connected person of the Group, the 
transactions under the Renewed Clubhouse Lease Agreement and Renewed Heating Facilities 
Lease Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules.
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As the nature of the underlying transactions under the Renewed Clubhouse Lease Agreement and 
Renewed Heating Facilities Lease Agreement are similar and the contracting parties are the same, 
the Directors considered it appropriate to aggregate the amounts under these agreements when 
calculating the maximum annual rent payable under such agreements. The Directors estimated 
that the maximum aggregated annual fee payable by the Group under the Renewed Clubhouse 
Lease Agreement and Renewed Heating Facilities Lease Agreement for each of the three years 
ended 31 December 2024 would not exceed RMB726,000. In arriving at the above aggregated 
annual cap, the Directors have considered (i) the fair rent letters issued by an independent 
valuer in relation to the clubhouse and the heating facilities, respectively, and (ii) the terms and 
conditions of such agreements and the historical transaction amounts in prior years.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the aggregated 
annual cap in relation to the Renewed Clubhouse Lease Agreement and Renewed Heating 
Facil it ies Lease Agreement was less than 5% and the total consideration was less than 
HK$3,000,000, the transactions under such agreements were exempt from the reporting, annual 
review, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Property Interest

The Group entitled to the property interests, including the right to enjoy, occupy, use and 
receive income as well as capital gain (or loss) deriving from the Investment Properties under the 
arrangements entered into between Beijing Hevol Property Services and Beijing Fufa Real Estate 
Development Co., Ltd. (北京福發房地產開發有限公司) (“Fufa Property”), Beijing Donghe Weiye 
Real Estate Development Limited (北京東和偉業房地產開發有限公司), (“Donghe Weiye”) and 
Hevol Real Estate, respectively. Fufa Property and Donghe Weiye were wholly-owned subsidiaries 
of Hevol Real Estate and therefore were associates of Mr. Liu and connected persons of the 
Group. Accordingly, the transactions with Hevol Real Estate, Donghe Weiye and Fufa Property 
under such arrangement constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the Group has fully paid the consideration to own the 
beneficial interest of the Investment Properties and were entitled to such property interests 
without subsequent recurring fees, these transactions were exempt from the reporting, annual 
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions Subject to the Reporting, Annual Review, Announcement 
and Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

Master Services Agreement and the Supplemental Master Services Agreement

The Group entered into certain preliminary property management service agreements with 
subsidiaries of Hevol Real Estate Group for properties developed by them. Pursuant to such 
agreements, the Group provided property management services, mainly including (i) security 
services, (ii) repair and maintenance services, and (iii) cleaning and garden landscape maintenance 
services (the “Hevol Property Management Services”). The Group also provided certain 
value-added services to non-property owners to Hevol Real Estate Group, mainly including sales 
assistance services such as display unit management services, market planning services and visitor 
reception services (the “Hevol Developer-related Services”). In addition, the Group provided 
ancillary property management services, mainly including (i) consultancy and planning services, 
(ii) preliminary stage property management start-up services; (iii) property management services 
of properties held by Hevol Real Estate Group; (iv) inspection services; (v) repair services; (vi) 
cleaning services and (vii) formaldehyde removal services (the “Ancillary Property Management 
Services”).

On 27 June 2019, the Group entered into a master services agreement (the “Master Services 
Agreement”) with Hevol Real Estate in relation to the Group’s continuing provision of the Hevol 
Property Management Services and the Hevol Developer-related Services to Hevol Real Estate 
Group. On 29 April 2020, the Group and Hevol Real Estate entered into the supplemental 
master services agreement (the “Supplemental Master Services Agreement”) for a term from 
29 April 2020 to 31 December 2021 to revise the Master Services Agreement, pursuant to which 
the Group agreed to provide the Ancillary Property Management Services to Hevol Real Estate 
Group in addition to the Hevol Property Management Services and the Hevol Developer-related 
Services. Relevant subsidiaries of both parties would enter into separate service agreements 
which would set out the specific terms and conditions according to the principles provided in the 
Master Services Agreement.

Pursuant to the Master Services Agreement, the maximum annual fees payable by the Hevol 
Real Estate Group in relation to the Hevol Property Management Services to be provided by the 
Group for the three years ended 31 December 2021 would not exceed RMB8.7 million, RMB13.3 
million and RMB15.0 million, respectively; while the maximum annual fee in relation to the Hevol 
Developer-related Services for the same three years would not exceed RMB26.0 million, RMB26.5 
million and RMB22.4 million, respectively. Thus, the total service fees payable to the Group 
under the Master Services Agreement would not exceed RMB34.7 million, RMB39.8 million and 
RMB37.4 million for each of the three years ended 31 December 2021, respectively. In addition, 
the maximum annual fee in relation to the Ancillary Property Management Services under the 
Supplemental Master Services Agreement for the two years ended 31 December 2021 would not 
exceed RMB53.6 million and RMB80.7 million.
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In arriving at the above, the revised annual caps were estimated by the Directors with reference 
to (i) the basis of pricing policy for the Ancillary Property Management Services in each cities, 
(ii) the estimated revenue to be recognised in relation to the Ancillary Property Management 
Services to be provided by the Group pursuant to the Supplemental Master Services Agreement, 
(iii) the original estimated revenue to be recognised in relation to the Master Services Agreement 
to be provided by the Group pursuant to existing contracts and the expected time and volume 
of delivery for the Group’s existing property management projects; and (iv) the estimated GFA of 
the properties to be delivered by Hevol Real Estate Group. The remaining portion represented 
approximately 30% buffer for the Ancillary Property Management Services to be provided by the 
Group for any unforeseeable circumstances.

Each of Hevol Investment and Hevol Real Estate was an associate of Mr. Liu and a connected 
person of the Group. Accordingly, the transactions under the Supplemental Master Services 
Agreement constituted continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

Since the applicable ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the annual caps in relation to 
Supplemental Master Services Agreement were expected to be more than 5%, the transactions 
under the Supplemental Master Services Agreement constituted continuing connected 
transactions of the Company which were subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement 
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The New Master Services Agreement

Following the expiry of the Supplemental Master Services Agreement on 31 December 2021, the 
Group expected that it would continue to enter into transactions of a similar nature to the Master 
Services Agreement and the Supplemental Master Services Agreement.

On 31 December 2021, the Group entered into a New Master Services Agreement (the “New 
Master Services Agreement”) with Hevol Real Estate in relation to the Group’s continuing 
provision of the Hevol Property Management Services, the Hevol Developer-related Services 
and the Ancillary Property Management Services for the period from the date immediately after 
the fulfillment of all conditions set out in the New Master Services Agreement, including the 
approval by the independent shareholders of the Company, to 31 December 2024. The relevant 
subsidiaries of both parties would enter into separate service agreements which would set 
out the specific terms and conditions according to the principles provided in the New Master 
Services Agreement. On 9 March 2022, an extraordinary general meeting was convened by 
the Company for the consideration and the approval of, among other things, the New Master 
Services Agreement, the proposed annual caps and the transactions contemplated thereunder (the 
“Resolutions”) and the Resolutions were duly passed as ordinary resolutions by the independent 
shareholders of the Company.
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The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fees payable by the Hevol Real Estate Group 
in relation to the Hevol Property Management Services to be provided by the Group under the 
New Master Services Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2024 would not exceed 
RMB24.8 million, RMB17.5 million and RMB13.8 million, respectively; the maximum annual fee 
in relation to the Hevol Developer-related Services for the same three years would not exceed 
RMB35.6 million, RMB30.5 million and RMB25.7 million, respectively; and the maximum annual 
fee in relation to the Ancillary Property Management Services for the same three years would not 
exceed RMB70.5 million, RMB53.8 million and RMB53.7 million, respectively.

In arriving at the above proposed annual caps, the Directors had estimated with reference to (i) 
the basis of pricing policy for Hevol Property Management Service, the Hevol Developer-related 
Services and the Ancillary Property Management services in each cities, (ii) the respective 
historical transaction amount in relation to the existing Master Services Agreement and 
Supplemental Master Services Agreement for the two years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 
and the nine months ended 30 September 2021, (iii) the estimated increase in transaction amount 
to be recognised in relation to the New Master Services Agreement pursuant to (a) the existing 
contracts and (b) the potential increase in property management services to be provided to 
Hevol Real Estate Group due to the delay in completion of properties and projects which were 
originally planned to be delivered in the year of 2021 by Hevol Real Estate Group to 2022, (iv) the 
estimated size of projects to be managed by the Group according to the updated development 
plan of property management projects, sales coordination projects and ancillary property 
management projects provided by Hevol Real Estate for the coming three years period ending 
31 December 2024, (v) the local market rates for the provision of similar services in each city 
are used as the basis of pricing policy and (vi) a reasonable buffer of approximately 15% buffer 
to cater for (a) the unexpected business growth, (b) the inflation in the PRC and (c) a potential 
increase in the Ancillary Property Management Services as mentioned in (iii) above.

Each of Hevol Investment and Hevol Real Estate was an associate of Mr. Liu and a connected 
person of the Group. Accordingly, the transactions under the New Master Services Agreement 
constituted continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

Since the applicable ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the annual caps in relation to New 
Master Services Agreement were expected to be more than 5%, the transactions under the New 
Master Services Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company which 
were subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Kunshan Tongzhou Framework Agreement and Zhejiang Zhongzheng Framework Agreement

On 1 April 2021, the Board approved the Kunshan Tongzhou Framework Agreement between 
Shanghai Tongjia Property Service Co., Ltd.* (上海同嘉物業服務有限公司) (“Shanghai Tongjia”), a 
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and Kunshan Tongzhou Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (昆
山同周置業有限公司) (“Kunshan Tongzhou”) with respect to the provision of services by Shanghai 
Tongjia to Kunshan Tongzhou for a term from 2 April 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the “Kunshan 
Tongzhou Framework Agreement”).

On 1 April 2021, the Board approved the Zhejiang Zhongzheng Framework Agreement between 
Shanghai Tongjia, and Zhejiang Zhongzheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. * (浙江中證置業有限公
司) (“Zhejiang Zhongzheng”) with respect to the provision of services by Shanghai Tongjia 
to Zhejiang Zhongzheng for a term from 2 April 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the “Zhejiang 
Zhongzheng Framework Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Kunshan Tongzhou Framework Agreement and Zhejiang Zhongzheng Framework 
Agreement, Shanghai Tongjia agreed to provide to Kunshan Tongzhou and Zhejiang Zhongzheng 
(i) sales facilitation services, (ii) early involvement and consultancy services, (iii) preliminary stage 
property management start-up services and (iv) preliminary property management services. 
Shanghai Tongjia, Kunshan Tongzhou and Zhejiang Zhongzheng shall enter into separate written 
agreements for detailed service scope in respect of the services as and when necessary.

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fees payable by Kunshan Tongzhou in relation 
to services to be provided by Shanghai Tongjia under the Kunshan Tongzhou Framework 
Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2023 would not exceed RMB9.0 million, 
RMB8.1 million and RMB4.5 million, respectively and the maximum annual fees payable by 
Zhejiang Zhongzheng in relation to services to be provided by Shanghai Tongjia under the 
Zhejiang Zhongzheng Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2023 
would not exceed RMB2.3 million, RMB3.3 million and RMB1.9 million, respectively.

The above proposed annual caps were estimated by the Directors with reference to (i) pricing 
guidance of local authorities where the property is located (if any); (ii) staff costs (including salary 
and staff expenses); (iii) current market prices of independent third parties that provide similar 
products and services under normal commercial terms and in the ordinary course of business; 
(iv) the price of connected parties and independent third parties in respect of non-connected 
transactions, and (v) in any event, on terms that are no less favourable than those entered into by 
Shanghai Tongjia for providing similar services and products to independent third parties.
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Kunshan Tongzhou was owned as to 47.5%, 47.5% and 5% by Mr. Liu Zhe, Mr. Sun Yigong and 
Ms. Huang Min respectively. Zhejiang Zhongzheng was owned as to 43.225%, 43.225% and 4.55% 
by Mr. Liu Zhe, Mr. Sun Yigong and Ms. Huang Min respectively. As Shanghai Tongjia was owned 
as to 60% by the Group and 40% by Shanghai Tongjin, which was in turn ultimately owned as to 
47.5%, 47.5% and 5% by Mr. Liu Zhe, Mr. Sun Yigong and Ms. Huang Min respectively. Each of 
Mr. Liu Zhe, Mr. Sun Yigong and Shanghai Tongjin was a connected person or an associate of the 
Group. Accordingly, the transactions under the Kunshan Tongzhou Framework Agreement and 
Zhejiang Zhongzheng Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of 
the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yang Framework Agreement

On 1 April 2021, the Board approved the Mr. Yang Framework Agreement between Guizhou 
Xingji, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Yang Wulin (“Mr. Yang”) with respect 
to the provision of services by Guizhou Xingji to Mr. Yang’s associated companies for a term from 
2 April 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the “Mr. Yang Framework Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Mr. Yang Framework Agreement, Guizhou Xingji agreed to provide to Mr. Yang’s 
associated companies (i) sales facilitation services, (ii) cleaning services, (iii) preliminary stage 
property management start-up services and (iv) preliminary property management services.

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fees payable by Mr. Yang’s associated 
companies in relation to services to be provided by Guizhou Xingji under the Mr. Yang Framework 
Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2023 would not exceed RMB15.6 million, 
RMB11.7 million and RMB10.2 million, respectively.

The above proposed annual caps were estimated by the Directors with reference to (i) pricing 
guidance of local authorities where the property is located (if any), (ii) staff costs (including salary 
and staff expenses), (iii) current market prices of independent third parties that provide similar 
products and services under normal commercial terms and in the ordinary course of business 
(iv) the price of connected parties and independent third parties in respect of non-connected 
transactions and (v) in any event, on terms that are no less favourable than those entered into by 
Guizhou Xingji for providing similar services and products to independent third parties.

Guizhou Xingji was owned as to 51% by the Group and 49% by Mr. Yang Wujun. As Mr. Yang 
Wujun was the brother of Mr. Yang, both Mr. Yang and his associated companies were connected 
persons or associates of the Group. Accordingly, the transactions under the Mr. Yang Framework 
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. As of the date of this annual report, Guizhou Xingji is no longer a subsidiary of the 
Company. For details, please refer to the section headed “Material Acquisition and Disposals of 
Assets” and the announcement of the Company dated 1 December 2023.
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Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement and Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement

On 28 May 2021, the Board approved the Wansheng Framework Agreement between Sichuan 
Wansheng Property Service Co., Ltd.* (四川萬晟物業服務有限公司) (“Sichuan Wansheng”), a 
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and Sichuan Wansheng Investment Co., Ltd.* (四川
萬晟投資有限公司) (“Wansheng Investment”) with respect to the provision of services by Sichuan 
Wansheng to Wansheng Investment for a term from 28 May 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the 
“Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement”).

On 28 May 2021, the Board approved the Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement between 
Sichuan Wansheng and Sichuan Huaxin Wansheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (四川華信萬晟房地產有
限公司) (“Huaxin Wansheng”) with respect to the provision of services by Sichuan Wansheng to 
Huaxin Wansheng Investment for a term from 28 May 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the “Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement”). On 16 November 2023, Sichuan Wansheng entered 
into a supplemental framework agreement with Huaxin Wansheng (the “Supplemental Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement”) to revise the maximum contractual sum payable by Huawin 
Wansheng for the year ending 31 December 2023 pursuant to the Huaxin Wansheng Framework 
Agreement (the “Existing Annual Cap”) to the revised maximum contractual sum payable by 
Huaxin Wansheng for the year ending 31 December 2023 pursuant to the Supplemental Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement (the “Revised Annual Cap”) as it was expected that the 
full-year transaction amount under the Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement for the year 
ending 31 December 2023 would likely exceed the Existing Annual Cap. Save for the revision 
of the Existing Annual Cap to the Revised Annual Cap, all other terms of the Huaxin Wansheng 
Framework Agreement remained unchanged.

On 16 November 2023, Sichuan Wansheng (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered 
into a framework agreement with Wansheng Investment (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) 
(the “2024 Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement”) and a framework agreement with 
Huaxin Wansheng (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) (the “2024 Huaxin Wansheng 
Framework Agreement”) for a term of three years, commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending 
on 31 December 2026 to renew the Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement and the Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement and the relevant annual caps thereunder.
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Pursuant to the Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement, the 2024 Wansheng Investment 
Framework Agreement, the Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement and the 2024 Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement, Sichuan Wansheng and its subsidiaries (the “Sichuan 
Wansheng Group”) agreed to provide to Wansheng Investment and its subsidiaries (the 
“Wansheng Investment Group”) and Huaxin Wansheng and its subsidiaries (the “Huaxin 
Wansheng Group”) (i) preliminary property management services, (ii) sales facilitation services, 
(iii) early planning and consultancy services, (iv) property management office set-up services and 
(v) inspection services. Sichuan Wansheng, Wansheng Investment and Huaxin Wansheng shall 
enter into separate written agreements which will set out the detailed terms for the relevant 
transactions contemplated under their respective service framework agreements as and when 
necessary.

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fees payable by Wansheng Investment in 
relation to services to be provided by Sichuan Wansheng under the Wansheng Investment 
Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2023 will not exceed RMB9.4 
million, RMB9.0 million and RMB8.4 million, respectively and the maximum annual fees payable 
by Huaxin Wansheng in relation to services to be provided by Sichuan Wansheng under the 
Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2023 will not 
exceed RMB11.0 million, RMB11.3 million and RMB11.3 million, respectively.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement, the Existing Annual Cap, 
being RMB11.3 million, for the transaction contemplated under the Huaxin Wansheng Framework 
Agreement for the year ending 31 December 2023 has been revised to the Revised Annual 
Cap, being RMB23.6 million. The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fees payable by 
the Wansheng Investment Group in relation to services to be provided by Sichuan Wansheng 
Group under the 2024 Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement for the three years ending 
31 December 2026 will not exceed RMB7.4 million, RMB5.3 million and RMB4.2 million, 
respectively, and the maximum annual fees payable by Huaxin Wansheng Group in relation 
to services to be provided by Sichuan Wansheng Group under the 2024 Huaxin Wansheng 
Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2026 will not exceed RMB23.2 
million, RMB13.0 million and RMB4.6 million, respectively.
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The proposed annual caps under the Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement and the 
Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement were estimated by the Directors with reference to (i) 
the number, nature, category and location of the properties, (ii) estimated gross floor area of the 
properties, (iii) estimated number of parking spaces, (iv) the rates generally offered by the Group 
to independent third parties in respect of comparable services, (v) anticipated staff costs of the 
Group and (vi) a reasonable buffer to cater for any unexpected property management services. 
The Revised Annual Cap were determined with reference to: (i) the historical transaction amount 
for the transactions under the Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement for the six months ended 
30 June 2023; and (ii) the most up-to-date estimation for the provision of the services to Huaxin 
Wansheng following the increase in the number of the property projects developed by Huaxin 
Wansheng in 2023.

The proposed annual caps under the 2024 Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement and 
the 2024 Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement were estimated by the Directors with 
reference to: (i) the respective historical transaction amounts for the transactions under the 
Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement and the Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement 
for the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2023; 
(ii) the number, nature, category and location of the properties; (iii) the estimated gross floor area 
of the properties; (iv) the estimated number of parking spaces; (v) the rates generally offered by 
Sichuan Wansheng Group to independent third parties in respect of comparable services; (vi) the 
anticipated staff costs of Sichuan Wansheng Group; and (vii) a reasonable buffer to cater for any 
unexpected property management services.

As Sichuan Wansheng was owned as to 60% by the Group and 40% by Mr. Deng Lihua 
(“Mr. Deng”), Mr. Deng was a connected person of the Group. Wansheng Investment was owned 
by Mr. Deng as to 36.55% and Huaxin Wansheng Investment was owned by Mr. Deng as to 90%. 
Accordingly, the transactions under the Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement and Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement constituted, and the transactions under the 2024 Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement and the 2024 Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement will 
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

Since the applicable ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the annual caps in relation 
to Kunshan Tongzhou Framework Agreement, Zhejiang Zhongzheng Framework Agreement, 
Mr. Yang Framework Agreement, Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement, 2024 Wansheng 
Investment Framework Agreement, Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement and 2024 Huaxin 
Wansheng Framework Agreement were expected to be more than 0.1% but less than 5% for the 
Group, the transactions thereunder constituted/ will constitute continuing connected transactions 
of the Company which were/ will be subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement 
but exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.
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Further Details of the Kunshan Tongzhou Framework Agreement, Zhejiang Zhongzheng 
Framework Agreement, Mr. Yang Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 1 April 2021. Further details of the Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement 
and Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company 
dated 28 May 2021 while further details of the 2024 Wansheng Investment Framework Agreement 
and 2024 Huaxin Wansheng Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 16 November 2023.

The Company adjusts the scope and amount of continuing connected transactions and the 
annual caps exempted from disclosure (where necessary) in accordance with its internal control 
procedures. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has followed the pricing 
policies and guidelines for each of the continuing connected transactions disclosed in this annual 
report when determining the price and terms of such transactions conducted. The Directors are 
of the view that the Company’s internal control procedures are adequate and effective to ensure 
that transactions are so conducted.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors of the 
Company have reviewed the continuing connected transactions carried out during the year and 
confirm the transactions thereunder had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions 
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with 
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the 
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The 
Directors confirm that the auditor has issued his letter containing the findings and conclusions in 
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance 
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

(i) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the 
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the Board.

(ii) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the 
disclosed continuing connected transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, 
in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group and the relevant agreements governing 
such transactions.

(iii) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected transactions, 
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the 
disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by the 
Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2023 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Certain material related party transactions, as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements in this annual report, also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected 
transactions of the Company but these transactions are fully exempt from the requirements under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules pursuant to rules 14A.76 and 14A.95 of the Listing Rules, except 
those which are disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions”.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or that 
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing 
Shares, were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration policy (which includes the payment of the emoluments to the employees) of the 
employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of the employees’ 
performance, qualifications and experiences. Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set 
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report, having regard to the 
Company’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior management 
and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of the Cayman 
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
shareholders.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As a property service provider in China, the Group is required to comply with various national 
and local laws and regulations, especially those concerning environmental protection, including 
laws and regulations of air pollution, sound pollution, waste and sewage. During the year ended 
31 December 2023, the Group’s business had complied with the relevant laws and regulations 
in all material respects and there were no material violations or contraventions of any laws or 
regulations applicable to the Group which may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s 
business or financial position as a whole. Further, any changes in applicable laws, rules and 
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units 
from time to time. Details of our compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S STAKEHOLDERS

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that the Directors, senior management and employees of the Group are 
instrumental to the success of the Group and that their industry knowledge and understanding 
of the market will enable the Group to maintain the competitiveness in the market. The Group 
provides on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’ career 
progression. Through different trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, 
occupational and management skills is enhanced. The Group also organised staff-friendly 
activities for employees, such as annual dinner, to promote staff relationship.

The Group provides a safe, ef fect ive and congenial working environment. Adequate 
arrangements, trainings and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working environment 
is healthy and safe. The Group provided health and safety communications for employees to 
present the relevant information and raise awareness of occupational health and safety issues. 
The Group values the health and well-being of its staff. In order to provide employees with health 
coverage, its employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

There are certain on-going litigation claims relating to loan disputes in which Guiyang Xinglong 
and Guizhou Huaxin Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd (貴州華信融資擔保有限公司) (“Guizhou 
Huaxin”), an independent third party, are involved, and the maximum exposure of Guiyang 
Xinglong in the capacity of the guarantor amounts to approximately RMB5,721,000. Please refer 
to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Save as disclosed above, 
the Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the year ended 31 December 
2023.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any 
significant investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES 
AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group plans to expand the breadth and contents of the Group’s service offerings and 
property portfolio by mergers and acquisition by acquiring a majority shareholding of property 
management companies. During the year, the Group has completed several material equity 
acquisitions (details are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual 
report). These acquisitions will enable the Group to further expand the scale and the scope of its 
business, deepen the synergy with the existing projects and achieve the complementary effect 
among regions and industries.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any 
other immediate plans for material investments and capital assets.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders by reason 
of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance for enhancing the 
management of the Company as well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. 
The Company has adopted the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern 
its corporate governance practices. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied 
with the relevant Code Provisions contained in the CG Code during the reporting period.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim to 
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance 
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 
to 54 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and 
development, protecting the environment and giving back to community and achieving 
sustainable growth. The Company’s compliance with the relevant provisions set out in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules for 
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report in this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material events subsequent to 31 December 2023 which could have a material 
impact on our operating and financial performance as of the date of this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the 
securities of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s senior management who, because 
of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to the Group or 
the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code 
during the Reporting Period. In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the 
Model Code by the senior management of the Group during the Reporting Period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge 
of the Board, as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float as 
required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited 
by BDO Limited. A resolution to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditor of the Company will be 
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

With effect from 6 January 2022, Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) 
resigned as the auditor of the Company. BDO Limited was appointed as the new auditor of the 
Company with effect from 6 January 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of 
Grant Thornton. On 24 June 2022 and 31 May 2023, BDO Limited was re-appointed as auditor of 
the Company at the annual general meetings of the Company.

Save as otherwise stated, all references above to other sections, reports or notes in this annual 
report form part of this directors’ report.

On behalf of the Board

WANG WENHAO 
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024



121

 
Independent Auditor’s Report

 

Annual Report 2023

 

To the shareholders of Hevol Services Group Co. Limited 
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hevol Services Group Co. Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 128 to 245, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy 
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance on trade and other receivables

Refer to accounting policies in note 2.9, critical accounting estimates and judgments in note 3, 
the disclosures of trade and other receivables in note 18 and credit risk policy in note 34.2 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had gross balance of trade and other receivables amounting 
to RMB673,991,000 fall within the scope of ECL model. The Group determines the ECL allowance 
on trade and other receivables based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions and 
forward-looking information.

We identified the ECL allowance of trade and other receivables as a key audit matter given the 
significant management judgements and estimates involved in assessing the credit risk and 
determining the amount of allowances under the ECL model. These judgments and assumptions 
including but not limited to the debtors’ payment history and creditworthiness, historical default 
rates, and forward-looking macroeconomic factors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures in relation to the ECL allowance on trade and other receivables included:

– evaluating the competency, capability and objectivity of the independent professional 
valuer engaged by management for the Group’s measurement of ECL allowance on trade 
and other receivables;

– testing the ageing analysis of trade and other receivables prepared by management and 
reviewing the payment history of the debtors on a sample basis;

– assessing the management’s judgement on significant increase in credit risk for other 
receivables measured at amortised cost; and

– engaging our valuat ion expert to assist us in evaluat ing the appropriateness of 
management’s credit loss provisioning methodology and key parameters used in estimating 
the ECL allowance.

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to accounting policies in notes 2.7 and 2.14, critical accounting estimates and judgments in 
note 3 and the disclosures of goodwill in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill arising from business combinations amounting 
to RMB461,296,000.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication 
that it is impaired. Management has tested such goodwill for impairment as at 31 December 
2023 with reference to the valuations performed by the independent professional valuer, and 
concluded that no impairment loss was recognised. This conclusion is based on value in use 
calculations based on five-year financial budgets approved by management with key assumptions 
of revenue growth rates, terminal growth rates, discount rates and gross profit margins that 
required significant management judgment and estimation.

We identified this area as a key audit matter due to the significance of the carrying amount 
of goodwill and the significant judgments and estimates involved in the goodwill impairment 
assessment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit team included a valuation expert. Our procedures in relation to management’s 
impairment assessment of goodwill included:

– evaluating the competency, capability and objectivity of the independent professional 
valuer engaged by management;

– reconciling input data used in the Group’s future cash flow projection of each cash 
generating unit to supporting evidence, such as service contracts and approved budgets 
and considering the reasonableness of these budgets;

– engaging our valuation expert to assist us in assessing the appropriateness of valuation 
methodology adopted and key assumptions used to estimate the value in use calculations 
prepared by the independent professional valuer engaged by management; and

– challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based on our knowledge of the Group’s 
business and industry.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The 
Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, 
in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underly ing transact ions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wendy W.Y. Fong
Practising Certificate No.: P06821

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Revenue 4 1,313,283 1,041,221
Cost of sales (977,067) (745,913)
    

Gross profit 336,216 295,308
Other income and gains and losses 5 39,724 16,220
Expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance on trade 

and other receivables, net (45,519) (46,976)
Administrative expenses (186,583) (145,810)
Finance costs 6(a) (1,380) (465)
Share of profit of associates 16 12 –
    

Profit before income tax 6(b) 142,470 118,277
Income tax expense 8 (28,336) (14,713)
    

Profit for the year 114,134 103,564
    

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of nil tax

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:
– Exchange differences on translation of the 

Company’s financial statements into its 
presentation currency 4,396 22,155

    

Total comprehensive income for the year 118,530 125,719
    

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 77,899 68,718
Non-controlling interests 36,235 34,846
    

114,134 103,564
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 82,295 90,873
Non-controlling interests 36,235 34,846
    

118,530 125,719
    

Earnings per share attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company  
(expressed in RMB cents)
Basic and diluted 10 13.91 12.27

    

The notes on pages 136 to 245 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



129

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

As at 31 December 2023

Annual Report 2023

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 23,581 25,754
Intangible assets 13 107,146 127,496
Investment properties 14 55,005 40,483
Goodwill 15 461,296 481,533
Investments in associates 16 412 –
Other deposits 18 25,329 –
Deferred tax assets 23 31,572 29,460
    

704,341 704,726
    

Current assets
Inventories 17 1,381 1,619
Trade and other receivables 18 565,332 643,677
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 3,180 –
Restricted bank deposits 20 34 7,319
Bank balances and cash 378,205 275,922
    

948,132 928,537
    

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 22 16,500 5,000
Contract liabilities 4(a) 334,877 295,689
Trade and other payables 20 435,602 554,088
Lease liabilities 21 9,477 3,767
Income tax liabilities 9,079 9,138
    

805,535 867,682
    

Net current assets 142,597 60,855
    

Total assets less current liabilities 846,938 765,581
    



130

As at 31 December 2023

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 22 38,500 4,000
Other payables 20 – 20,000
Lease liabilities 21 5,510 3,324
Deferred tax liabilities 23 25,622 26,789
    

69,632 54,113
    

Net assets 777,306 711,468
    

EQUITY
Share capital 24 38 38
Reserves 25 696,916 614,621
    

Equity attributable to equity shareholders of  
the Company 696,954 614,659

Non-controlling interests 80,352 96,809
    

Total equity 777,306 711,468
    

  

Wang Wenhao Hu Hongfang
Director Director

The notes on pages 136 to 245 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium*

Capital 
reserve*

Statutory 
reserve*

Exchange 
reserve*

Retained 
profits* Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 24) (note 25(a)) (note 25(c)) (note 25(b)) (note 25(d))

          

Balance at 1 January 2022 38 319,252 34,226 20,321 (6,554) 156,503 523,786 64,240 588,026
          

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – 68,718 68,718 34,846 103,564
Other comprehensive 

income for the year
– Exchange differences 

on translation of the 
Company’s financial 
statements into its 
presentation currency – – – – 22,155 – 22,155 – 22,155

          

– – – – 22,155 68,718 90,873 34,846 125,719
          

Acquisition of subsidiaries  
(note 28(b)) – – – – – – – 16,707 16,707

Dividends distributed to 
non-controlling interests – – – – – – – (18,984) (18,984)

Appropriation to statutory 
reserve – – – 3,668 – (3,668) – – –

          

Balance at 31 December 2022 38 319,252 34,226 23,989 15,601 221,553 614,659 96,809 711,468
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium*

Capital 
reserve*

Statutory 
reserve*

Exchange 
reserve*

Retained 
profits* Total

Non– 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 24) (note 25(a)) (note 25(c)) (note 25(b)) (note 25(d))

          

Balance at 1 January 2023 38 319,252 34,226 23,989 15,601 221,553 614,659 96,809 711,468
          

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – 77,899 77,899 36,235 114,134
Other comprehensive 

income for the year
– Exchange differences 

on translation of the 
Company’s financial 
statements into its 
presentation currency – – – – 4,396 – 4,396 – 4,396

          

– – – – 4,396 77,899 82,295 36,235 118,530
          

Disposal of a subsidiary  
(note 33) – – – (1,000) – 1,000 – (18,531) (18,531)

Dividends distributed to 
non-controlling interests – – – – – – – (34,161) (34,161)

Appropriation to statutory 
reserve – – – 324 – (324) – – –

          

Balance at 31 December 2023 38 319,252 34,226 23,313 19,997 300,128 696,954 80,352 777,306
          

* The total of these amounts as at the reporting date represents “Reserves” in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

The notes on pages 136 to 245 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 142,470 118,277
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 6(b) 16,273 13,569
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6(b) 8,646 8,068
Depreciation of investment properties 6(b) 6,293 1,110
Interest expenses 6(a) 1,380 465
Bank interest income 5 (420) (1,203)
ECL allowance on trade and other receivables, net 18 45,519 46,976
Recovery of bad debts 5 (43,766) –
Fair value gain on financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss
5

(18) (87)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (81) (133)
Gain on disposal of investment properties 5 (986) –
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 5 14,024 –
Gain on bargain purchase 5 (799) –
Share of profit of associates 16 (12) –

    

Operating profit before working capital changes 188,523 187,042
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 66 (222)
Increase in deposits, trade and other receivables (105,742) (234,111)
Increase in contract liabilities 46,454 46,809
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (19,686) 42,435
    

Cash generated from operations 109,615 41,953
Interest received 420 1,203
Income tax paid (30,737) (66,223)
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities 79,298 (23,067)
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (6,762) (5,706)
Proceeds from disposal of property,  

plant and equipment 221 466
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets – 194
Payments to acquire financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss (8,180) (11,200)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss 5,018 11,287
Purchase of intangible assets (102) (1,196)
Increase in investment in associates (400)
Acquisition of subsidiaries,  

net of cash acquired
28(a)(iv), 

(b)(v) 2,070 (73,515)
Payment of outstanding consideration in respect of 

acquisitions in previous year – (14,645)
Proceed from disposal of investment properties 4,089 –
Purchase of investment properties (4,486) –
Cash proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary,  

net of cash and bank balances disposed of 33 15,051 –
Release of restricted bank deposits 7,285 2,526
    

Net cash generated from/(used in)  
investing activities 14 13,804 (91,789)
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of amounts due to related parties 32 – (634)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 32 (5,674) (2,522)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (34,161) (18,984)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 32 51,000 –
Repayment of bank borrowings 32 (5,000) –
Interest paid on bank borrowings (957) (220)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (423) (245)
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing 
activities 4,785 (22,605)

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 97,887 (137,461)

Cash and cash equivalents* at the beginning  
of the year 275,922 391,228

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,396 22,155
    

Cash and cash equivalents* at the end of the year, 
represented by bank balances and cash 378,205 275,922

    

* Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and on hand.

The notes on pages 136 to 245 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands 
on 28 May 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, 
Cap 22 (law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of 
the Company’s registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, 
Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of property management services and 
related value-added services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate holding company of the 
Company is Brilliant Brother Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin 
Islands (“BVI”). The controlling shareholder of the Company is Mr. Liu Jiang (“Mr. Liu” or 
the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), while the 
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB’000”), 
unless otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB as in 
the opinion of the directors of the Company, it presents more relevant information to the 
management who monitors the performance and financial position of the Group based on 
RMB.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 were 
approved for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.



137

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS Accounting Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
(collectively “IFRS Accounting Standards”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial statements also comply with 
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and 
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except for certain financial assets which are measured at fair value.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. Although these estimates 
are based on the management’s best knowledge and judgement of current events 
and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in 
note 3 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards and changes in accounting 
policies

The IASB has issued the following new and amendments to IFRS Accounting 
Standards that are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality 
Judgements);

• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors);

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes); and

• International Tax Reform – Pillar Tax Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12 
Income taxes) (effective immediately upon the issue of the amendments 
and retrospectively).
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards and changes in accounting 
policies (Continued)

The Group has not applied any new or amended IFRS Accounting Standards 
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the 
adoption of the new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards are discussed 
below:

IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued by the IASB in 2017 and replaces IFRS 4 for annual reporting 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

IFRS 17 introduces an internationally consistent approach to the accounting for 
insurance contracts. Prior to IFRS 17, significant diversity has existed worldwide 
relating to the accounting for and disclosure of insurance contracts, with IFRS 4 
permitting many previous accounting approaches to be followed.

Since IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts issued by the entity (with limited 
scope exclusive), its adoption may have an effect on non-insurers such as the 
Group. The Group carried out an assessment of its contracts and operations 
and concluded that the adoption of IFRS 17 has had no effect on the annual 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS, Presentation of Financial 
Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Making Materiality Judgements)

The amendments aim to make accounting policy disclosures more informative 
by requiring entities to disclose material accounting policy information and 
provide guidance on applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy 
disclosure.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement or presentation of 
any items in the consolidated financial statements of the Group but affect the 
disclosure of accounting policies of the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards and changes in accounting 
policies (Continued)

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors)

The amendments to IAS 8 provide further guidance on the dist inction 
between changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates. 
The amendments do not have a material impact on these consolidated 
financial statements as the Group’s approach in distinguishing changes in 
accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates is consistent with the 
amendments.

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 
(Amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes)

The IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, which clarify whether the initial 
recognition exemption applies to certain transactions that result in both an 
asset and a liability being recognised simultaneously (e.g. a lease in the scope 
of IFRS 16). The amendments introduce an additional criterion for the initial 
recognition exemption, whereby the exemption does not apply to the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability which at the time of the transaction, gives 
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

These amendments had no effect on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.

International Tax Reform – Pillar Tax Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12, 
Income Taxes)

The amendments introduce a temporary mandatory exception from deferred 
tax accounting for the income tax arising from tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted to implement the P i l la r  Two Model Ru les publ i shed by the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) (income 
tax arising from such tax laws is hereafter referred to as “Pillar Two income 
taxes”), including tax laws that implement qualified domestic minimum top-up 
taxes described in those rules. The amendments also introduce disclosure 
requirements about such tax including the estimated tax exposure to Pillar Two 
income taxes.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards and changes in accounting 
policies (Continued)

International Tax Reform – Pillar Tax Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12, 
Income Taxes) (Continued)

Management of the Group has determined that the Group is not within the 
scope of OECD’s Pillar Two Model Rules and the exception to the recognition 
and disclosure of information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to 
Pillar Two income taxes is not applicable to the Group.

2.1.2 Issued but not effective IFRS Accounting Standards

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has 
issued a number of amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards, which are not 
yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been 
early adopted in these consolidated financial statements. These amendments 
which are potentially relevant to the Group are as follows:

Effective for 
accounting 

periods 
beginning on 

or after
  

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
(Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements) 1 January 2024

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements) 1 January 2024

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 
16 Leases) 1 January 2024

Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 
Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures) 1 January 2024

Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rate) 1 January 2025
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Issued but not effective IFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of 
these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far 
the directors considered that the adoption of these amendments is unlikely to 
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity, only substantive rights 
relating to the entity (held by the Group and others) are considered.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions 
between group companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been 
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s 
equity therein, and are initially measured at their proportionate share of the fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. Subsequent 
to the acquisition, profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if 
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisit ion method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which 
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by 
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For 
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders 
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components 
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of 
activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that together 
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwil l  is in i t ia l ly measured at cost, being the excess of the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, 
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, 
after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the 
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (other than right-of-use assets as described in 
note 2.11)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses (note 2.14). The cost comprises its purchase price 
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 
location for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per 
annum:

Buildings 5%
Furniture and fixtures and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%-33.3%

The assets’ depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned to earn rental 
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently 
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or developed for 
future use as investment property.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment 
properties. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (note 2.14), 
if any. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of investment properties 
net of expected residual value over the term of right of use of 20-50 years using a 
straight-line method. The useful life, residual value and depreciation method are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

2.6 Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software. After initial recognition, intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortisation commences when the intangible 
assets are available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Computer software 5 years
Customer relationships 5 to 10 years

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment as described below in note 2.14.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that 
control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being 
the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire over the Group’s interest in the 
net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the 
acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for 
impairment (see note 2.14).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill 
capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of gain or loss on disposal.

2.8 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all of 
its risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is 
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component and are measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15 
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), all financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are 
expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

– amortised cost; or

– FVTPL.

The classification is determined by both:

– the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and

– the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or 
loss are presented within “Finance costs” or “Other income”, except for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) of financial assets.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following 
conditions:

– they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial 
assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

– the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest income from these financial assets is included in profit 
or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The 
Group’s bank balances and cash, other deposits and trade and other receivables fall 
into this category of financial assets.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than “hold to 
collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of 
business model, financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments 
of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted 
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, 
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit 
or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value 
that are reported in profit or loss are included within “Finance costs” or “Other 
income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.11.

Trade and other payables

These are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) ’s requires an entity to use more 
forward-looking information to recognise ECL – the “ECL model”. The Group’s trade 
and other receivables and bank balances and cash fall within the scope of the ECL 
model.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk 
and measuring ECL, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows 
of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

– financial assets that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since 
initial recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

– financial assets that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at 
the reporting date.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime ECL” are 
recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial assets.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are 
the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default 
at any point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the Group 
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience 
and external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors 
and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and the past due status.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal to 12-month 
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of 
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the 
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets at the 
reporting date with the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative 
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 
effort.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether 
credit risk has increased significantly:

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s 
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

– significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a 
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the 
debtor;

– existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business, f inancial, 
economic conditions, or technological environment that are expected to cause 
a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; and

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the 
debtor.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk at each reporting date. A debt instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower has 
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but 
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 
obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs 
when (i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates 
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without 
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and other financial 
assets measured at amortised cost are set out in note 34.2.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis whether 
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable 
events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

– the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 
financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in 
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the 
case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources 
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to 
the write-off. Subsequent recoveries of an assets that was previously written off are 
recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the reversal occurs.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the 
Group recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised 
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group 
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also 
be recognised (see note 2.8).

2.11 Leases

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a contract is, or 
contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that 
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group 
assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

– the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly 
identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the 
time the asset is made available to the lessee;

– the lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic 
benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, 
considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract; and
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Leases (Continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

– the lessee has the r ight to direct the use of the identi f ied asset 
throughout the period of use. The Group assess whether the lessee 
has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used 
throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more additional 
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative 
stand-alone prices. However, for leases of properties in which the Group is 
a lessee, the Group elected not to separate non-lease components and will 
instead account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the 
Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 
at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease 
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets over their estimated useful lives 
on the same basis as owned assets from the lease commencement date to 
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at 
the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for 
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the 
present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Leases (Continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made 
up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate, and 
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease 
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating 
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for lease 
payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease liability. It is 
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there are 
changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on 
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the 
right-of-use asset, or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to 
zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset 
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term 
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group presents 
right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property as 
property, plant and equipment, the same line as it presents the underlying 
assets of the same nature that it owns. Right-of-use assets that meet the 
definition of investment property are presented within “investment properties”.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset, and classified as an 
operating lease if it does not.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and 
the sub-lease as two separate leases. The sub-lease is classified as operating 
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

The Group also earns rental income from operating leases of its investment 
properties. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease.

2.12 Financial guarantees issued

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer (or guarantor) 
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a 
specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a 
debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is 
initially recognised as financial guarantee liabilities within other payables. The 
fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the 
difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required under the 
debt instruments and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, 
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assessing the 
obligations. Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the 
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies 
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or 
receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition 
of any deferred income.

Subsequently, financial guarantees are measured at the higher of the amount 
determined in accordance with ECL under IFRS 9 as set out in note 2.9 and the 
amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised over the guarantee period.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition

The Group provides property management services, community value-added services 
and value-added services to non-property owners.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various 
performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The 
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group 
satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its 
customers as detailed below:

Property management services

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed amount for services 
provided on a monthly basis and recognises as revenue over time in the amount to 
which the Group has a right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the value of 
performance completed.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Property management services (Continued)

For property management services income from properties managed under lump-sum 
basis, where the Group acts as a principal and is primary responsible for providing 
the property management services to the property owners, the Group recognises 
the fee received or receivable from property owners as its revenue and all related 
property management costs as its cost of services. For property management services 
income from properties managed under commission basis, the Group recognises 
the commission, which is calculated by certain percentage of the total property 
management fee received or receivable from the property units, or total property 
management cost incurred or accrual by the property units, as its revenue for 
arranging and monitoring the services as provided by other suppliers to the property 
owners.

Community value-added services

For community value-added services, revenue is recognised over time when the 
related community value-added services are rendered. Community value-added 
services are normally billable immediately upon the services are rendered.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Value-added services to non-property owners include mainly i) on-site sales assistance 
services, which primarily included cleaning and security services to property 
developers, which are billed and settled based on actual level of services provided at 
pre-determined price and revenue is recognised when such services are provided and 
ii) property delivery related and other consulting services with property developers 
which are billed on a monthly basis and revenue is recognised over time when the 
services are provided.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the transaction price will be allocated 
to each performance obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. If 
the stand-alone selling prices are not directly observable, they are estimated based 
on expected cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending 
on the availability of observable information.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets), intangible assets, 
investment properties, goodwil l arising from acquisit ion of subsidiaries and 
investments in subsidiaries in the statement of financial position of the Company are 
subject to impairment testing. Goodwill are tested for impairment at least annually, 
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other assets 
are tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount 
is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash 
inflows largely independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently 
(i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for 
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in particular 
is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within 
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and 
not be larger than an operating segment.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been 
allocated, are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining 
impairment losses are charged pro-rata to the other assets in the cash-generating 
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual 
fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. In respect of 
other assets, an impairment loss is reversed and recognised as income immediately 
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill are not 
reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, 
would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end of 
the financial year to which the interim period relates.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans.

The group entit ies established in the PRC make monthly contributions to a 
state-sponsored defined contribution scheme for the local staff. The contributions are 
made at a specific percentage on the standard salary pursuant to laws of the PRC and 
relevant regulation issued by local social security authorities.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as employees rendered 
services during the year. The Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to the 
fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entit lements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result 
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are 
not recognised until the time of leave.

Termination benefit

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring 
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims 
from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are 
unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and 
tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable 
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a 
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as 
well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, 
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on 
investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainties

The Group makes judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
and also make estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Estimation of fair value of customers relationships and recognition of goodwill arising 
from business combinations

Significant judgments and estimates were involved in the fair value assessment of 
customers relationships and recognition of goodwill arising from business combinations. 
These significant judgement and estimates include the adoption of appropriate valuation 
methodologies and the use of key assumptions in the valuation (mainly including 
the average annual and long term growth rates of revenue, profit margin, discount 
rates, retention rates and expected useful lives of customer relationships). Changes in 
assumptions relating to these factors would result in material adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of customers relationship and goodwill. Further details are set out in notes 13 and 
15.

Estimation of ECL allowance on trade and other receivables

The Group makes ECL allowances on trade and other receivables based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group used judgment in making these 
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s 
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at each 
reporting date.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimation uncertainties (Continued)

Estimation of ECL allowance on trade and other receivables (Continued)

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact 
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables and provision for impairment in the 
periods in which such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of trade and other receivables within 
the scope of the ECL model amounted to RMB673,991,000 (2022: RMB704,452,000). 
Details of the ECL allowance on trade and other receivables are set out in note 34.2.

Goodwill impairment assessment

For the purposes of annual goodwill impairment assessment, management considered each 
of the acquired property management companies a separate CGU and goodwill has been 
allocated to each of the acquired property management companies. Management assessed 
the impairment of goodwill by determining the recoverable amounts of the CGU to which 
goodwill has been allocated based on value in use calculation. Significant judgements 
and estimates were involved in the goodwill impairment assessment. These significant 
judgements and estimates include the adoption of appropriate valuation method and the 
use of key assumptions in the valuation, which primarily include revenue growth rates, 
terminal growth rates, gross profit margins and discount rates. These assumptions related 
to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial year. Further details 
are set out in note 15.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was RMB461,296,000 (2022: 
RMB481,533,000). No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31 
December 2023 and 2022.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimation uncertainties (Continued)

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it 
uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate 
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a 
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would 
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for 
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted 
to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make 
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand alone credit rating).
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property management services and 
related valued-added services and leasing services in the PRC. This operating segment 
has been identified on the basis of internal management reports reviewed by the chief 
operating decision-maker (the “CODM”), being the executive directors of the Company. 
The CODM reviews the operating results of the business as one segment to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the executive directors of the Company regard 
that there is only one segment which is used to make strategic decisions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue from external customers and recognised 
over time

Property management services 987,472 779,422
Community value-added services 243,069 172,569
Value-added services to non-property owners 72,275 85,392
   

1,302,816 1,037,383

Leasing income (not within the scope of IFRS 15) 10,467 3,838
   

1,313,283 1,041,221
   

Geographical information

The major operating entities of the Group are domiciled in the PRC. As at 31 December 
2023 and 2022, substantially all of the non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets) of 
the Group were located in the PRC.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from companies controlled by the 
Controlling Shareholder contributed 3.1% (2022: 5.0%) of the Group’s revenue. Other than 
companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, the Group had a large number of 
customers and none of whom contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(a) Contract liabilities

The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities as at the end 
of the reporting period:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Contract liabilities 334,877 295,689
   

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance payments made by 
customers while the underlying services are yet to be provided. Increase in contract 
liabilities as a result of the growth of the Group’s business and therefore more 
advance payments were made by the property owners.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows the revenue recognised related to brought-forward 
contract liabilities.

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Revenue recognised that was included in 
contract liabilities at the beginning of the 
year

Property management services 232,164 157,929
Community value-added services 15,661 10,926
Value-added services to non-property owners 474 145
   

248,299 169,000
   

(c) Unsatisfied performance obligations

For property management services, the Group recognises revenue in the amount that 
equals to the right to invoice which correspond directly with the value to the customer 
of the Group’s performance to date, on a monthly basis. The Group has elected the 
practical expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligation for these 
types of contracts. The term of the contracts for value-added services to non-property 
owners is generally set to expire when the counterparties notify the Group that the 
services are no longer required.

For community value-added services, they are rendered in short period of time and 
there is no material unsatisfied performance obligation at the reporting date.
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5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Government subsidy income (note) 5,240 7,351
Recovery of bad debts 43,766 5,502
Bank interest income 420 1,203
Sundry income 2,438 1,944
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVTPL  (note 19) 18 87
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 81 133
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (14,024) –
Gain on disposal of investment properties 986 –
Gain on bargain purchase (note 28(a)(iii)) 799 –
   

39,724 16,220
   

Note:

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, government subsidy income mainly related to cash subsidies 
granted by the PRC government in respect of value-added tax relief and in support of the Group’s operating 
activities which are either unconditional or with conditions that having been satisfied.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

(a) Finance costs
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 423 245
Finance costs on interest-bearing bank borrowings 957 220

   

1,380 465
   

(b) Other items
Auditor’s remuneration 2,480 2,400
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 13) 16,273 13,569
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  
 (note 12)
– Owned assets 5,105 4,654
– Right-of-use assets 3,541 3,414
Depreciation of investment properties (note 14)
– Owned properties 3,858 1,110
– Sub-leased properties 2,435 –
Legal and professional fees 14,916 12,026
Short-term leases 1,592 1,595
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7. E M P L O Y E E  B E N E F I T  E X P E N S E S  ( I N C L U D I N G  D I R E C T O R S ’ 
EMOLUMENTS)

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Salaries, bonus and allowances 369,561 323,054
Retirement benefit scheme contributions (note) 72,495 56,489
Severance payments 838 1,193
Other employee benefits 2,662 2,620
   

445,556 383,356
   

Note:

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were neither contributions forfeited by the Group nor had 
there been any utilisation of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31 December 2023 
and 2022, there were no forfeited contributions which were available for utilisation by the Group to reduce the 
existing level of contributions to the defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Current tax – PRC enterprise income tax
Current year 31,719 25,055
Under/(over)-provision in prior years 205 (2,712)
   

31,924 22,343
   

Deferred tax
Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 23) (3,588) (7,630)
   

Total income tax expense 28,336 14,713
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and comprehensive income and the amount which would result from applying 
the enacted tax rate to profit before income tax can be reconciled as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Profit before income tax 142,470 118,277
   

Tax on profit before income tax, calculated at the 
statutory rates applicable to the tax jurisdiction 
concerned 26,986 24,904

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 350 641
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 4,516 240
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (3,721) (8,360)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years 205 (2,712)
   

Income tax expense 28,336 14,713
   

Notes:

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under 
the Companies Law and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

(b) BVI income tax

Pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations of BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in BVI for 
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(c) Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax has been made as the Company has no assessable profits arising in 
Hong Kong in the current and prior years.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of certain PRC entities of the Group has been calculated at the statutory tax rate 
of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, based on the 
existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The preferential income tax rate applicable to certain of the Group’s PRC entities within the scope of the 
China’s Western Development Program and Hainan Free Trade Port Program was 15% for the years ended 
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulation in the PRC, certain of the Group’s PRC entities which are 
qualified as small low-profit enterprises enjoyed a preferential tax rate of 20% for the years ended 
31 December 2023 and 2022. In addition, in accordance with the “Notice on Preferential Income Tax 
Policies Applicable to Small Low-profit Enterprises”, the small and low-profit enterprises are entitled 
to a tax concession for 75% and 50% of its taxable income for the annual taxable income of less than 
RMB1,000,000 and the portion that exceeds RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed RMB3,000,000 (inclusive) 
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(e) PRC withholding income tax

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group is also liable to a 10% withholding 
tax on dividends to be distributed from the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in respect 
of its profits generated from 1 January 2008. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the 
conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC 
and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5% (note 23).

9. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.

2023 2022
   

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the 
Company (RMB’000) 77,899 68,718

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
the purpose of calculating basic earnings per 
share (thousands) 560,000 560,000

   

Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB cents) 13.91 12.27
   

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 equals 
the basic earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in 
existence during the years.
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11. D IRECTORS’  AND CHIEF EXECUT IVE’S  REMUNERAT ION AND 
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, 
section 383 (1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Name of director Fees
Basic salaries 

and allowances
Discretionary

bonus

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

2023
Executive directors:
Mr. Wang Wenhao  

(Chief Executive Officer) – 928 – 153 1,081
Ms. Hu Hongfang – 492 – – 492

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Liu (Chairman) – – – – –
Mr. Zhou Wei – 1,201 – 153 1,354

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Qian Hongji 163 – – – 163
Dr. Li Yongrui 163 – – – 163
Mr. Fan Chi Chiu 163 – – – 163
Dr. Chen Lei 163 – – – 163
      

652 2,621 – 306 3,579
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11. D IRECTORS’  AND CHIEF EXECUT IVE’S  REMUNERAT ION AND 
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, 
section 383 (1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: 
(Continued)

Name of director Fees
Basic salaries 

and allowances
Discretionary

bonus

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

2022
Executive directors:
Mr. Wang Wenhao  

(Chief Executive Officer) – 833 – 140 973
Ms. Hu Hongfang – 492 – – 492

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Liu (Chairman) – – – – –
Mr. Zhou Wei – 974 – 140 1,114

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Qian Hongji 155 – – – 155
Dr. Li Yongrui 155 – – – 155
Mr. Fan Chi Chiu 155 – – – 155
Dr. Chen Lei 155 – – – 155
      

620 2,299 – 280 3,199
      

Note:

Mr. Wang Wenhao is also the chief executive officer of the Group.

The emoluments shown above represent emoluments received by these directors in the capacity as 
directors/employees of the companies comprising the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the Company waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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11. D IRECTORS’  AND CHIEF EXECUT IVE’S  REMUNERAT ION AND 
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year 
included 2 (2022: 2) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis 
presented in note 11(a). The emoluments paid to the remaining 3 (2022: 3) individuals 
during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Basic salaries and allowances 2,884 2,342
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 346 376
Discretionary bonus – –
   

3,230 2,718
   

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2023 2022
   

Emolument bands
RMB Nil – RMB1,000,000 – 3
RMB1,000,000 – RMB1,500,000 3 –
   

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the f ive 
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Furniture 
and fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
premises

Heating 
facility

Staff 
quarters Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

At 1 January 2022 7,902 7,360 2,044 1,612 1,034 302 20,254
        

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening net carrying amount 7,902 7,360 2,044 1,612 1,034 302 20,254
Acquisition of subsidiaries  

(note 28(b)) 306 547 273 – – – 1,126
Additions 293 4,872 541 6,076 97 896 12,775
Disposals – (94) (239) – – – (333)
Depreciation (597) (3,759) (298) (2,629) (377) (408) (8,068)
        

Closing net carrying amount 7,904 8,926 2,321 5,059 754 790 25,754
        

At 31 December 2022
Cost 9,386 19,532 7,370 11,366 2,344 1,307 51,305
Accumulated depreciation (1,482) (10,606) (5,049) (6,307) (1,590) (517) (25,551)
        

Net carrying amount 7,904 8,926 2,321 5,059 754 790 25,754
        

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net carrying amount 7,904 8,926 2,321 5,059 754 790 25,754
Acquisition of subsidiaries  

(note 28(a)) – 56 – – – – 56
Additions 229 4,513 2,020 – – – 6,762
Disposals – (40) (100) – – – (140)
Disposal of a subsidiary  

(note 33) – (198) (7) – – – (205)
Depreciation (661) (3,161) (1,283) (2,760) (377) (404) (8,646)
        

Closing net carrying amount 7,472 10,096 2,951 2,299 377 386 23,581
        

At 31 December 2023
Cost 9,615 23,863 9,283 11,366 2,344 1,307 57,778
Accumulated depreciation (2,143) (13,767) (6,332) (9,067) (1,967) (921) (34,197)
        

Net carrying amount 7,472 10,096 2,951 2,299 377 386 23,581
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation charges recognised is analysed as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Cost of sales 1,627 1,215
Administrative expenses 7,019 6,853
   

8,646 8,068
   

As at 31 December 2023, included in the net carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment are right-of-use assets as follows:

Carrying amount Depreciation

As at 31 
December 

2023

As at 31 
December 

2022

For the year 
ended 31 

December 
2023

For the year 
ended 31 

December 
2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Office premises 2,299 5,059 2,760 2,629
Heating facility 377 754 377 377
Staff quarters 386 790 404 408
     

3,062 6,603 3,541 3,414
     

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total additions to right-of-use assets 
included in property, plant and equipment amounting to RMB7,069,000 (note 32(a)). The 
Group has no addition to right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December 2023. Details 
of these lease arrangements and related lease liabilities are set out in note 21.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer 
relationships

Computer 
software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening net carrying amount 79,276 5,939 85,215
Acquisition of subsidiaries  

(note 28(b)(ii)) 54,763 85 54,848
Additions – 1,196 1,196
Disposals – (194) (194)
Amortisation (11,874) (1,695) (13,569)
    

Closing net carrying amount 122,165 5,331 127,496
    

At 31 December 2022
Cost 142,165 10,356 152,521
Accumulated amortisation (20,000) (5,025) (25,025)
    

Net carrying amount 122,165 5,331 127,496
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Customer 
relationships

Computer 
software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net carrying amount 122,165 5,331 127,496
Acquisition of subsidiaries  

(note 28(a)(ii)) 2,327 – 2,327
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (6,506) – (6,506)
Additions – 102 102
Amortisation (14,598) (1,675) (16,273)
    

Closing net carrying amount 103,388 3,758 107,146
    

At 31 December 2023
Cost 137,986 10,458 148,444
Accumulated amortisation (34,598) (6,700) (41,298)
    

Net carrying amount 103,388 3,758 107,146
    

Amortisation charges recognised is analysed as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Administrative expenses 16,273 13,569
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Sub-leased 
properties

Owned 
properties Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2022 – 28,768 28,768
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(b)(ii)) – 12,825 12,825
Depreciation – (1,110) (1,110)
    

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022  
and 1 January 2023 – 40,483 40,483

Additions 13,570 10,348 23,918
Disposals – (3,103) (3,103)
Depreciation (2,435) (3,858) (6,293)
    

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 11,135 43,870 55,005
    

The Group’s investment properties are residential properties, commercial properties and 
car parks situated in the PRC. These properties are held by the Group to earn rentals or for 
capital appreciation.

Sub-leased properties are those residential properties leased by the Group for sub-leasing 
under operating leases for the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of the leasing 
arrangements are set out in note 21.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s additions to owned properties 
included properties with fair value of RMB6,200,000 transferred by certain trade debtors to 
the Group in settlement of their outstanding trade receivables owed to the Group. The fair 
value of these properties at the dates of transfer approximates the carrying value of these 
trade receivables (note 18(a)).

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s investment properties of approximately 
RMB12,130,000 (2022: RMB12,771,000) were pledged to secure certain bank borrowings 
granted to the Group (note 22).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s owned properties attributable 
to the properties without the relevant title certificates was approximately RMB25,879,000 
(2022: RMB27,712,000). The Group has obtained effective control to these investment 
properties through contractual arrangements with the sellers of the investment properties 
who hold the tit le certif icates (the “Contractual Arrangement”). Pursuant to the 
Contractual Arrangement, the Group was entitled to occupy, use, dispose and lease these 
properties notwithstanding the absence of title certificates. As advised by the Company’s 
PRC legal advisor, the Group had significant risks and rewards of these properties under 
the Contractual Arrangement. As such, the control, significant risks and rewards of these 
properties were vested with the Group and the Group had recognised these properties as 
investment properties.

The Group’s investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of 
right of use.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the Group’s owned properties, situated 
in the PRC under medium term leases, was approximately RMB130,680,000 (2022: 
RMB133,400,000). Valuations of these properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 
were carried out by an independent professional qualified valuer, Savills Valuation and 
Professional Services Limited, who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification 
and has recent experience in the locations and nature of the investment properties being 
valued. The fair value of these properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement and 
is determined using market comparison approach by reference to recent market price for 
similar properties. The fair value of these properties without relevant title certificates were 
estimated as if the Group had valid title certificates. There were no changes to the valuation 
methodologies during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Increase/(decrease) in 
market unit rate would result in an increase/(decrease) in the fair value of these properties.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the Group’s sub-leased properties under 
operating lease was approximately RMB12,230,000 (2022: RMB Nil). Valuations of these 
properties as at 31 December 2023 were carried out by an independent professional 
qualified valuer, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited, who holds a recognised 
relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations and nature 
of the investment properties being valued. The fair value of these properties is a level 3 
recurring fair value measurement and is determined using income capitalisation approach 
on the basis of capitalisation of sub-letting rental incomes receivable until the expiry of the 
tenancy agreement which takes into account market monthly unit rental and capitalisation 
rates of these properties. The fair value measurement of these properties is positively 
correlated to the market monthly unit rental and negatively correlated to capitalisation rate.

The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income for investment properties:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Leasing income from third parties under operating 
leases (notes 4 &27(a)) 10,467 3,838

Depreciation 6,293 1,110
   

The Group has no material direct operating expenses arising from investment properties 
that generate leasing and sub-leased income.
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15. GOODWILL

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

As at 1 January 481,533 292,661
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(b)(iv)) – 188,872
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (20,237) –
   

As at 31 December 461,296 481,533
   

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of two 
(2022: two) subsidiaries engaged in the provision of property management services and 
related value-added services in the PRC. Total identifiable net assets of these companies 
as at their respective acquisition dates amounted to approximately RMB6,799,000 (2022: 
RMB19,285,000). The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of the 
non-controlling interests in the acquirees over the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill or where on the contrary, the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain. Details of these measurements are 
set out in note 28.
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15. GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the 
respective cash generating units (“CGUs”) identified as follows:

CGUs identified Principal activities 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Shanghai Tongjin Property 
Management Services Co. 
Ltd. (上海同進物業服務有限 
公司) (“Shanghai Tongjin”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

20,615 20,615
Shanghai Tongjia Property 

Management Services Co. Ltd 
(上海同嘉物業服務有限公司) 
(“Shanghai Tongjia”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

112 112
Dongguan Baoying Property 

Management Company 
Limited (東莞市寶盈物業管
理有限公司) (“Dongguan 
Baoying”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

10,389 10,389
Guizhou Xingji Property Services 

Company Limited (貴州星際
物業服務有限公司) (“Guizhou 
Xingji”)*

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

– 20,237
Hohhot Huigu Property Services 

Company Limited (呼和浩特市 
慧谷物業服務有限公司) 
(“Hohhot Huigu”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

8,273 8,273
Zhongshan Zhongzheng 

Property Management Co., 
Ltd. (中山市中正物業管理
有限公司) (“Zhongshan 
Zhongzheng”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

8,798 8,798
Sichuan Wansheng Property 

Service Co., Ltd. (四川萬晟
物業服務有限公司) (“Sichuan 
Wansheng”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

34,073 34,073
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CGUs identified Principal activities 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Panjin Four Seasons City 
Property Management  
Co., Ltd. (盤錦四季城物業服
務有限公司) (“Panjin Four 
Seasons City“)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

16,184 16,184
Jiangsu Shenhua Times Property 

Group Co., Ltd. (江蘇深華時代
物業集團有限公司) (“Jiangsu 
Shenhua”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

31,299 31,299
Beijing He Zhong Zhidi Property 

Agency Co., Ltd. (北京和眾
置地房地產經紀有限公司) 
(“Beijing He Zhong”)

Provision of property agency 
services

777 777
Guiyang Xinglong Property 

Management Co., Ltd  
(貴陽興隆物業管理有限公司) 
(“Guiyang Xinglong”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

141,904 141,904
Zunyi Jinning Property 

Management Co., Ltd.  
(遵義市金寧物業管理有限公司) 
(“Zunyi Jinning”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

54,692 54,692
Chongqing Xinlongxin Property 

Management Co., Ltd.  
(重慶新隆信物業管理有限公司) 
(“Chongqing Xinlongxin”)

Provision of property 
management services and 
related value-added services

134,180 134,180
    

461,296 481,533
    

15. GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the 
respective cash generating units (“CGUs”) identified as follows: (Continued)
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15. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill in total of RMB461,296,000 (2022: RMB481,533,000) has been allocated to the 
CGUs of the respective subsidiaries acquired through business combinations for impairment 
testing at the end of the reporting period. The recoverable amounts of these subsidiaries 
are determined based on value in use calculations using pre-tax cash flow projections 
performed by an independent professional valuer, which are based on five-year financial 
budgets approved by management. The following table sets forth each key assumption on 
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of 
goodwill:

2023 2022
   

Shanghai Tongjin CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 5% 3% to 4%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 24% 27% to 29%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 21.5% 23.2%

Shanghai Tongjia CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 6% 5%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 26% to 29% 12% to 15%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 23.1% 23.0%

Dongguan Baoying CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 4% 5% to 6%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 25% 22% to 29%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.6% 26.8%

Guizhou Xingji CGU*
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period N/A 5% to 8%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period N/A 37% to 40%
Terminal growth rate N/A 2%
Pre-tax discount rate N/A 28.1%
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2023 2022
   

Hohhot Huigu CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 6% 7%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 29% 39% to 43%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.3% 27.0%

Zhongshan Zhongzheng CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 5% 4% to 6%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 29% 32% to 34%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.5% 25.7%

Sichuan Wansheng CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 5% 6% to 7%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 28% 25% to 29%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.4% 25.4%

Panjin Four Seasons City CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 8% 8% to 18%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 34% to 39% 38% to 41%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.9% 28.8%

Jiangsu Shenhua CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 10% 7% to 10%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 34% 40% to 42%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 26.1% 27.8%

15. GOODWILL (Continued)

The following table sets forth each key assumption on which management has based its 
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill: (Continued)
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2023 2022
   

Beijing He Zhong CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 3% to 5% 5%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 18% 27%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 21.6% 24.4%

Guiyang Xinglong CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 6% 6% to 7%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 32% to 34% 31% to 34%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 19.3% 20.7%

Zunyi Jinning CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 3% 5% to 8%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 26% 28% to 29%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 22.1% 23.5%

Chongqing Xinlongxin CGU
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 3% to 6% 6% to 7%
Gross profit margin during the forecast period 15% to 18% 14% to 18%
Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate 18.1% 19.5%

The key assumptions were determined based on past performance and managements 
expectation of market development. The discount rates used reflect specific risks relating to 
the Group’s acquired business. Management believes that any reasonably possible change 
in any of these key assumptions and discount rates used would not cause the aggregate 
carrying amount of these CGUs to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

Based on the impairment testing of goodwill as detailed above, the recoverable amount of 
each of the CGUs exceeded the respective carrying amount of the CGUs and therefore no 
impairment of goodwill was considered necessary as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

* The Group fully disposed of its equity interest in Guizhou Xingji on 31 December 
2023 as  detailed in note 33.

15. GOODWILL (Continued)

The following table sets forth each key assumption on which management has based its 
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill: (Continued)
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Share of net assets 412 –
   

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made investments in two associates 
newly established in the PRC.

Particulars of the material associate which has commenced operations are as follows:

Name
Particulars of 
issued shares held

Place of 
incorporation 
registration 
and business

Percentage 
of ownership 

interest 
attributable 

to the Group Principal activity
     

Guizhou Heshun Zhenxuan Agricultural Technology 
Company Limited (“Heshun Zhenxuan”)

Ordinary shares PRC 40% Trading of agricultural 
products

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity shares held by the wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information adjusted for any 
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated 
financial statements:

Heshun 
Zhenxuan

2023
RMB’000

  

Current assets 14,809
Current liabilities (13,779)
  

Net assets 1,030
  

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 40%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate
Carrying amount of the investment 412

Revenue 570
Profit for the year 30
  

17. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Materials to be used in value-added services 762 1,254
Consumable parts 619 365
   

Closing net carrying amount 1,381 1,619
   

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined 
using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and applicable 
selling expenses.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade receivables (a)
– Third parties 397,572 382,025
– Related parties 29(b) 77,094 106,845
    

474,666 488,870
Less: ECL allowance on trade receivables (86,364) (67,766)
    

388,302 421,104
    

Other receivables (b)
Deposits and other receivables 72,685 88,319
Other deposits 117,301 109,693
Payment on behalf of property owners 5,551 13,459
Advances to employees 3,788 4,111
    

199,325 215,582
Less: ECL allowance of other receivables (7,235) (2,029)
    

192,090 213,553
Prepayments 10,269 9,020
    

202,359 222,573
    

Less: O ther deposits classified as non-current 
assets (net of ECL allowance of 
RMB3,709,000 (2022: RMB Nil)) (25,329) –

    

177,030 222,573
    

565,332 643,677
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management services and value-added 
services.

Property management services income are received in accordance with the term of 
the relevant property service agreements. Service income is due for payment upon 
rendering of services.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date, net of ECL allowance, 
is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

0 – 90 days 89,610 99,294
91 – 180 days 61,467 57,481
181 – 365 days 99,659 97,460
1 to 2 years 87,585 104,675
2 to 3 years 26,603 43,917
Over 3 years 23,378 18,277
   

388,302 421,104
   

The movement in the ECL allowance on trade receivables is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 67,766 19,523
Disposal of a subsidiary (6,028) –
Bad debts written off (15,321) –
ECL allowance recognised, net 39,947 48,243
   

Balance at the end of the year 86,364 67,766
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to 
the debtors. Details of the credit risk and ECL allowance on trade receivables are set 
out in note 34.2(i).

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements over 
the impaired trade receivables, whether determined on an individual or collective 
basis.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s trade receivables amounted to 
RMB70,000,000 (2022: RMB Nil) were pledged as securities of the Group’s bank 
borrowings of RMB40,000,000 (note 22).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain trade debtors agreed to transfer the 
legal title of their owned properties to the Group in settlement of their outstanding 
trade receivables owed to the Group totalling RMB6,200,000. The fair value of these 
properties at the dates of transfer approximates the carrying amount of these trade 
receivables.

The Group also signed several tripartite agreements with its trade debtors and trade 
creditors during the year ended 31 December 2023, pursuant to which the Group 
agreed to assign to these creditors the entire rights, titles and interests in and to the 
outstanding debts in total of RMB55,091,000 owed by these debtors by offsetting 
against the Group’s trade payables owed to these creditors.

In addition, the Group made partial settlement of the consideration payables in 
respect of the acquisition of Chongqing Xinlongxin by assigning its entire rights, titles 
and interests in and to certain of its trade receivables amounted to RMB36,911,000 to 
the vendor during the year ended 31 December 2023 (note 20(ii)).
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Other receivables

Payment on behalf of property owners

The balance mainly represents the payments on behalf of property owners in respect 
of utilities and maintenance costs of the properties.

Advances to employees

Advances to employees mainly represent advances for various expenses to be 
incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Other deposits

Other deposits mainly represent deposits paid to government or property developers 
at the inception of entering into tenders for property management services contracts.

ECL allowance on other receivables measured at amortised cost

Impairment of other receivables from third parties (excluding prepayments) are 
assessed collectively and individually and measured as either 12-month ECL or 
lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. Impairment of amounts due from related parties was 
limited to 12-month ECL since the related parties have a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow in the near term. Details of the credit risk and ECL allowance on 
other receivables are set out in note 34.2(ii).
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Other receivables (Continued)

ECL allowance on other receivables measured at amortised cost

The movement of gross balance of other receivables measured at amortised cost is as 
follows:

Stage 1
RMB’000

  

Balance at 1 January 2022 113,626
Acquisition of subsidiaries 76,501
New advances 163,432
Repayments during the year (137,977)
  

Balance at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 215,582
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,531
New advances 249,993
Disposal of a subsidiary (17,832)
Repayments during the year (250,949)
  

Balance at 31 December 2023 199,325
  

The movement in the ECL allowance on other receivables measured at amortised cost 
is as follows:

Stage 1
RMB’000

  

Balance at 1 January 2022 3,296
ECL allowance reversed, net (1,267)
  

Balance at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2,029
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (366)
ECL allowance recognised, net 5,572
  

Balance at 31 December 2023 7,235
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Unlisted investments, at fair value
Balance at 1 January – –
Additions 8,180 11,200
Fair value gain (note 5) 18 87
Disposals (5,018) (11,287)
    

Balance at 31 December 3,180 –
    

Note:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss mainly represented the Group’s investments in various 
wealth management products issued by banks in the PRC. These products have no fixed term and have an 
expected return rate of 2.23% per annum (2022: 2.23% per annum). The fair values of these investments were 
determined based on the expected return as stipulated in relevant contracts with the counterparties. The 
significant unobservable input for the fair value measurement is the expected annual return rate. The higher the 
expected annual return rate, the higher the fair value. The fair value of these investments is classified as a Level 3 
measurement as further detailed in note 34.6.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade payables
– Third parties (iii) 128,400 123,448

    

Other payables
Accrued charges and other payables 104,463 169,650
Consideration payables (ii) 6,089 59,138
Financial guarantees issued (i) 5,721 18,439
Renovation deposits collected from property 

owners 68,055 75,074
Amounts collected on behalf of property 

owners 31,008 35,362
Other tax liabilities 31,939 25,975
Staff costs and welfare accruals 59,927 67,002
    

307,202 450,640
    

Less non-current portion:
Consideration payable – (20,000)

    

307,202 430,640
    

435,602 554,088
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) In prior years, Guizhou Huaxin Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd (“Guizhou Huaxin”), an independent third 
party, which was engaged in provision of financial services, had entered into certain financial guarantee 
contracts to provide financial guarantees to independent third parties borrowers (“Independent 
Borrower”) in relation to the bank borrowings obtained by the Independent Borrowers from certain PRC 
banks. A subsidiary of the Company, Guiyang Xinglong, had also entered into financial guarantee contracts 
with Guizhou Huaxin and the PRC banks to provide financial guarantees to Guizhou Huaxin. Pursuant to the 
terms of the above guarantees, upon default of bank borrowings by the Independent Borrowers, Guizhou 
Huaxin and Guiyang Xinglong are jointly and severally liable for the repayment of the outstanding principal 
together with accrued interest and penalties (the “Default Payment”) owed by the Independent Borrowers 
to the PRC banks. The guarantees periods start from the date of grant of the bank borrowings to expiry of 
the financial guarantee contracts. Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement of the Group’s acquisition 
of Guiyang Xinglong, the vendor had undertaken to indemnify the Group against any losses arising from 
the litigations and claims against Guiyang Xinglong which had been incurred before the acquisition date. 
As at 31 December 2022, there were three financial guarantee contracts outstanding with maximum 
exposure amounted to RMB18,439,000. According to the final court orders issued in respect of two 
financial guarantee contracts during the year, the Group had to undertake the repayment of total amount 
of RMB12,718,000 to the PRC banks in respect of the two financial guarantee contracts. The vendor of 
Guiyang Xinglong had indemnified the Group for the total loss of RMB12,718,000 undertook by the 
Group by offsetting this amount against the outstanding consideration payable to the vendor amounted 
to RMB6,534,000 and by cash settlement of the remaining balance of RMB6,184,000 to the Group. As at 
31 December 2023, the maximum exposure of the remaining financial guarantee contract is RMB5,721,000 
and the financial liabilities relating to this remaining financial guarantee contract of RMB5,721,000 was 
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2022, restricted bank deposits included balances of RMB6,794,000 which have been 
frozen by the PRC court pending the outcome of the legal proceedings initiated by PRC banks relating to 
certain bank borrowing contracts which related to the two financial guarantee contracts issued by Guiyang 
Xinglong. Upon the final settlement of these two financial guarantee contracts during the year as detailed 
above, these restricted bank balances were released as at 31 December 2023.

(ii) As at 31 December 2022, the consideration payables in respect of the acquisition of Chongqing Xinlongxin 
and Guiyang Xinglong amounted to RMB43,000,000 and RMB16,138,000 respectively.

As detailed in note 18(a), the Group made partial settlement of the consideration payables in respect of 
the acquisition of Chongqing Xinlongxin during the year by assigning to the vendor the entire rights, titles 
and interests in and to certain trade receivables of the Group of RMB36,911,000. As at 31 December 2023, 
the remaining consideration payables to the vendor of Chongqing Xinlongxin amounted to RMB6,089,000.

During the year, the Group fully settled the consideration payables in respect of the acquisition of Guiyang 
Xinglong by (i) settlement of tax expenses of RMB7,500,000 related to this acquisition on behalf of the 
vendor; (ii) offsetting the amount of the indemnification of financial guarantee contracts of RMB6,534,000 
(note (i) above) and (iii) cash settlement of the remaining balance of RMB2,104,000.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

Trade payables

(iii) The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods ranging from 30 to 90 days. The ageing analysis of 
trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

0 to 30 days 59,310 43,522
31 to 180 days 48,670 49,561
181 to 365 days 12,462 20,339
Over 1 year 7,958 10,026
   

128,400 123,448
   

21. LEASE LIABILITIES

Set out below are the carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movement during the 
year:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

As at 1 January 7,091 2,544
Interests (note 6(a)) 423 245
Lease payments (6,097) (2,767)
New leases 13,570 7,069
   

As at 31 December 14,987 7,091
Less: Current portion (9,477) (3,767)
   

Non-current portion 5,510 3,324
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease 
liabilities:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Total lease payments:
Due within one year 9,671 3,923
Due over one year but less than five years 6,217 3,401

   

15,888 7,324
Future finance charges on lease liabilities (901) (233)
   

Present value of lease liabilities 14,987 7,091
   

Present value of the lease payments:
Due within one year 9,477 3,767
Due over one year but less than five years 5,510 3,324

   

14,987 7,091
Less:  Portion due within one year included under  

 current liabilities (9,477) (3,767)
   

Portion due after one year included under non-current 
liabilities 5,510 3,324

   

As at 31 December 2023, lease l iabi l i t ies amount ing to RMB14,987,000 (2022: 
RMB7,091,000) carried weighted-average effective interest rate ranging from 3.80% to 
7.10% per annum (2022: 3.80% to 7.10% per annum) and are effectively secured by the 
related underlying assets as the rights to the leased assets would be reverted to the lessor 
in the event of default on repayment by the Group.
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Details of the lease activities

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has entered into leases for office premises, 
heating facility, staff quarters and residential properties.

Types of 
right-of-use 
assets

Financial 
statements items 
of right-of-use 
assets included in Number of leases

Range of 
remaining lease 
term Particulars

     

Office premises Office premises in 
“Property, plant 
and equipment”

9 (2022: 9) 0.3 to 2 years 
(2022: 1.3 to 3 
years)

• Contains an option to renew the lease after 
the end of the contract by giving one-month 
notice to landlord before the end of the 
contract

Heating facility Heating facility in 
“Property, plant 
and equipment”

1 (2022: 1) 0.5 years  
(2022: 1.5 years)

• Contains an option to renew the lease 
after the end of the contract by giving 
three-months notice to lessor before the end 
of the contract

Staff quarters Staff quarters in 
“Property, plant 
and equipment”

3 (2022: 4) 1.7 years  
(2022: 0.8 to  
2.7 years)

• Contains an option to renew the lease after 
the end of the contract by giving one-month 
notice to lessor before the end of the contract

Residential 
properties

Sub-leased 
properties in 
“Investment 
properties”

65 (2022: nil) 1.1 to 3.5 years  
(2022: N/A)

• Contain an option to renew the lease after 
the end of the contract by giving one-month 
notice to lessor before the end of the contract

The Group considered that no extension option or termination option would be exercised 
at the lease commencement date.
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22. BANK BORROWINGS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Bank borrowings:
– Secured 55,000 9,000
   

The bank borrowings were secured by the following:

(i) certain investment properties (note 14) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

(ii) certain trade receivables (note 18(a)) as at 31 December 2023;

(iii) certain personal properties of the former shareholders of a subsidiary as at 31 
December 2022;

(iv) corporate guarantee by the Company as at 31 December 2023;

(v) corporate guarantee by a subsidiary of the Company as at 31 December 2023; and

(vi) personal guarantee by a major shareholder and director of the Company, Mr. Liu as 
at 31 December 2023.

The bank borrowings are repayable as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within one year or on demand 16,500 5,000
After one year but within two years 9,000 1,000
After two years but within three years 9,000 3,000
After three years but within four years 10,500 –
After four years but within five years 10,000 –
   

55,000 9,000
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22. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

These borrowings carried interest at fixed rate ranging from 3.95% to 5% per annum (2022: 
3.95% to 4.2% per annum).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following undrawn borrowing 
facilities:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Fixed rate
– Expiring beyond one year 1,000 477
   

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 31,572 29,460

Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position (25,622) (26,789)

   

The movement of net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

At the beginning of the year 2,671 (10,101)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28) (300) 5,142
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (9) –
Credited to profit or loss (note 8) 3,588 7,630
   

At the end of the year 5,950 2,671
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Provision and 
accruals

ECL allowance 
on receivables

Recognition of 
lease liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At 1 January 2022 2,001 8,751 – 10,752
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(b)(ii)) 242 13,114 – 13,356
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss 412 4,940 – 5,352
     

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2,655 26,805 – 29,460
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(a)(ii)) 7 – – 7
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) – (1,636) – (1,636)
Initial recognition of lease liabilities – – 3,392 3,392
Credited to profit or loss 500 613 (764) 349
     

At 31 December 2023 3,162 25,782 2,628 31,572
     

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value 
adjustments 
on business 

combinations

Withholding tax 
on undistributed 

earnings

Recognition 
of right-of-use 

assets Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

At 1 January 2022 (16,253) (4,600) – (20,853)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(b)(ii)) (8,214) – – (8,214)
Credited to profit or loss 2,278 – – 2,278
     

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 (22,189) (4,600) – (26,789)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(a)(ii)) (307) – – (307)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) 1,627 – – 1,627
Initial recognition of right-of-use assets – – (3,392) (3,392)
Credited to profit or loss 2,630 – 609 3,239
     

At 31 December 2023 (18,239) (4,600) (2,783) (25,622)
     



208

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Hevol Services Group Co. Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, accumulated profits of the Group’s subsidiaries established in 
the PRC amounted to RMB318,634,000 (2022: RMB297,355,000) which would be subject to 
withholding taxes according to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. In the opinion 
of the directors, the Group controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries, deferred tax 
liabilities are only provided to the extent that such profits are expected to be distributed in 
the foreseeable future.

The directors expect to declare and distribute the accumulated profits amounting to 
RMB46,000,000 (2022: RMB46,000,000) in the foreseeable future and accordingly, 
deferred tax liabilities of RMB4,600,000 (2022: RMB4,600,000) was recognised. As at 31 
December 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated undistributed 
retained earnings for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised amounting to 
approximately RMB272,634,000 (2022: RMB251,355,000).

As a t  31 December 2023,  the Group had unused tax losses o f  approx imate ly 
RMB27,519,000 (2022: RMB12,796,000) to carry forward against future taxable income of 
certain subsidiaries. No deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of these losses 
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the unrecognised tax losses at the 
reporting date will expire in the following years:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

2023 – 2,776
2024 3,743 3,942
2025 221 598
2026 4,532 4,620
2027 960 860
2028 18,063 –
   

27,519 12,796
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares

Nominal value 
of shares

United States 
dollar (“US$”)

   

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of the Company:
Ordinary shares at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 

1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 5,000,000,000 50,000
   

Number of 
shares

Nominal value 
of shares

Equivalent 
nominal value 

of shares
US$ RMB’000

    

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of the Company:
    

As at 1, January 2022,  
31 December 2022,  
1 January 2023 and  
31 December 2023 560,000,000 5,600 38
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25. RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from issuance of the 
Company’s shares over its par value.

(b) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for the Group’s subsidiaries 
incorporated in the PRC, it is required to appropriate 10% of its annual statutory net 
profit determined in accordance with China Accounting Standards for Enterprises 
issued by the Ministry of Finance of PRC, after offsetting any prior years’ losses, to the 
statutory reserve. When the balance of such a reserve reaches 50% of the registered 
capital of the respective company, any further appropriation is at the discretion of 
shareholders. The statutory reserve can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, 
and may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in 
proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing the par value of the shares 
currently held by them, provided that the remaining balance of the reserve after 
such an issue is not less than 25% of registered capital. The statutory reserve is 
non-distributable.

(c) Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contribution from the 
shareholders.

(d) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchanges differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
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25. RESERVES (Continued)

(e) The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the movements are presented as 
follows:

Share 
premium

Merger 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses

Total 
reserves

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note)

      

At 1 January 2022 319,252 101,178 (14,754) (74,510) 331,166
Loss for the year – – – (6,023) (6,023)
Other comprehensive income 

for the year
– Exchange differences 

on translation of the 
Company’s financial 
statements into its 
presentation currency – – 22,899 – 22,899

      

At 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 319,252 101,178 8,145 (80,533) 348,042

Loss for the year – – – (4,013) (4,013)
Other comprehensive
income for the year

– Exchange differences 
on translation of the 
Company’s financial 
statements into its 
presentation currency – – 5,006 – 5,006

      

At 31 December 2023 319,252 101,178 13,151 (84,546) 349,035
      

Note:  Merger reserve represents the difference between the fair values of the subsidiaries being acquired 
and the nominal value of the Company’s share capital issued in exchange.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution 
to equity holders of the Company was RMB335,884,000 (2022: RMB339,897,000).
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 June 2019 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company adopted a share option scheme (the 
“Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected 
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to 
encourage the selected participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company 
and the shareholders as a whole.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the 
Adoption Date unless terminated earlier by the shareholders in general meeting.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under 
the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares 
in issue.

No option of the Company was granted to the Company’s employees and other eligible 
participants since the Adoption Date and up to the date of these consolidated financial 
statements.

27. COMMITMENTS

(a) Lease commitments

As lessor

The Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable 
operating leases falling due as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Within one year 1,479 686
After one year but within two years 686 686
After two years but within three years 343 686
After three years but within four years – 343
   

2,508 2,401
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27. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the reporting period not provided for 
were as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Capital injection into certain subsidiaries 3,510 –
Capital injection into the associates 960 –
   

4,470 –
   

28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
a director of a subsidiary of the Company and independent third parties.

(i) Subsidiaries acquired

Principal activities
Date of 
acquisition

Proportion 
of shares 
acquired

Cash 
consideration 

transferred
RMB’000

     

Zhumadian (駐馬店市現
代物業管理有限公司)

Provision of property 
management 
services and related 
value-added services

2 July 2023 100% –*

Sichuan Renjun (四川仁
郡物業服務有限公司)

Provision of property 
management 
services and related 
value-added services

17 August 2023 100% 6,000

The English names of the PRC companies referred to above in this note 
represent management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of those 
companies as no English names have been registered or available.

The above subsidiaries were acquired to expand the Group’s property 
management service portfolio and provide synergies to its existing property 
management business.

* Represents amount less than RMB1,000.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
a director of a subsidiary of the Company and independent third parties. (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries 
acquired at the respective acquisition dates

Zhumadian
Sichuan 
Renjun Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Property, plant and 
equipment (note 12) – 56 56

Intangible assets (note 13) – 2,327 2,327
Deferred tax assets  

(note 23) 7 – 7
Trade and other receivables, 

net of ECL allowance 1,713 2,905 4,618
Prepayments – 19 19
Bank balances and cash 107 7,963 8,070
Contract liabilities (1,007) (3,297) (4,304)
Trade and other payables (740) (2,899) (3,639)
Income tax liabilities (10) (38) (48)
Deferred tax liabilities  

(note 23) – (307) (307)
    

Total identifiable net assets 
acquired 70 6,729 6,799
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
a director of a subsidiary of the Company and independent third parties. (Continued)

(iii) Gain on bargain purchase arising on acquisitions

Zhumadian
Sichuan 
Renjun Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Cash considerations –* 6,000 6,000
Less: Fa ir value of identifiable 

net assets (70) (6,729) (6,799)
    

Gain on bargain purchase (70) (729) (799)
    

* Represents amount less than RMB1,000.

None of the negative goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to be 
taxable for tax purposes.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
a director of a subsidiary of the Company and independent third parties. (Continued)

(iv) Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

RMB’000
  

Cash consideration paid (6,000)
Bank balances and cash acquired 8,070
  

2,070
  

(v) Impact on acquisitions on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 is profit of 
RMB413,000 attributable to the additional business generated by Zhumadian 
and profit of RMB1,607,000 attributable to Sichuan Renjun. Revenue for the 
year ended includes RMB2,091,000 in respect of Zhumadian and RMB4,041,000 
in respect of Sichuan Renjun.

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2023, the Group’s revenue 
and prof i t  fo r  the year  ended 31 December 2023 would have been 
RMB1,319,497,000 and RMB114,991,000 respect ively. This pro forma 
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication 
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have 
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2023, nor is it 
intended to be a projection of future results.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
independent third parties.

(i) Subsidiaries acquired

Principal activities
Date of 
acquisition

Proportion 
of shares 
acquired

Cash 
consideration 

transferred
RMB’000

     

Zunyi Jinning (遵義市金
寧物業管理有限公司)

Provision of property 
management 
services and related 
value-added services

10 April 2022 68.75% 91,450

Chongqing Xinlongxin 
(重慶新隆信物業管理
有限公司)

Provision of property 
management 
services and related 
value-added services

23 October 
2022

100% 100,000

The English names of the PRC companies referred to above in this note 
represent management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of those 
companies as no English names have been registered or available.

The above subsidiaries were acquired to expand the Group’s property 
management service portfolio and provide synergies to its existing property 
management business.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
independent third parties. (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries 
acquired at the respective acquisition dates

Zunyi Jinning
Chongqing 
Xinlongxin Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Property, plant and 
equipment (note 12) 187 939 1,126

Intangible assets (note 13) 26,242 28,606 54,848
Investment properties 

(note 14) – 12,825 12,825
Deferred tax assets  

(note 23) 3,424 9,932 13,356
Trade and other 

receivables 58,827 136,388 195,215
Inventories 267 545 812
Bank balances and cash 12,456 10,229 22,685
Contract liabilities (18,615) (47,551) (66,166)
Trade and other payables (18,320) (174,300) (192,620)
Long-term borrowings – (5,000) (5,000)
Income tax liabilities (7,067) (2,515) (9,582)
Deferred tax liabilities 

(note 23) (3,936) (4,278) (8,214)
    

Total identifiable net 
assets/(liabilities) 
acquired 53,465 (34,180) 19,285
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
independent third parties. (Continued)

(iii) Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 31.25% in Zunyi Jinning at the acquisition 
date of RMB16,707,000 were measured by reference to the proportionate 
share of the recognised amount of net assets of Zunyi Jinning at the end of the 
reporting period.

(iv) Goodwill arising on acquisitions

Zunyi Jinning
Chongqing 
Xinlongxin Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Cash considerations 91,450 100,000 191,450
Fair value of identifiable 

net assets/(liabilities) (53,465) 34,180 (19,285)
Non-controlling interests 16,707 – 16,707
    

Goodwill arising on 
acquisition 54,692 134,180 188,872

    

Goodwill arose in the acquisitions of Zunyi Jinning and Chongqing Xinlongxin 
as the considerations transferred included a control premium. In addition, 
the considerations transferred effectively included amounts in relation to the 
benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and 
the assembled workforce of Zunyi Jinning and Chongqing Xinlongxin. These 
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet 
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to be deductible 
for tax purposes.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
independent third parties. (Continued)

(v) Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

RMB’000
  

Total consideration satisfied by:
Cash deposit paid as at 31 December 2021 52,250
Deferred consideration included in other payables as at  

31 December 2022 (note) 43,000
Cash paid during the year ended 31 December 2022 96,200
  

191,450
  

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries  
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Cash paid (96,200)
Bank balances and cash acquired 22,685
  

(73,515)
  

Note:

Part of the consideration payable for the acquisition of Chongqing Xinlongxin amounting to 
RMB43,000,000 were included in other payables as at 31 December 2022.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired two subsidiaries from 
independent third parties. (Continued)

(vi) Impact on acquisitions on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 is profit of 
RMB14,821,000 attributable to the additional business generated by Zunyi 
Jinning and profit of RMB4,334,000 attributable to Chongqing Xinlongxin. 
Revenue for the year ended includes RMB90,980,000 in respect of Zunyi Jinning 
and RMB40,631,000 in respect of Chongqing Xinlongxin.

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2022, the Group’s revenue 
and prof i t  fo r  the year  ended 31 December 2022 would have been 
RMB1,232,449,000 and RMB107,998,000 respect ively. This pro forma 
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication 
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have 
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022, nor is it 
intended to be a projection of future results.

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated 
financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties:

(a) The transactions with related parties of the Group carried out in the ordinary course 
of business were as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Companies controlled by Mr. Liu
Revenue arising from provision of property 

management and value-added services* 40,344 52,433
   

* These related party transactions constitute connected transactions or continuing connected 
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Amounts due from related parties
Trade receivables

– companies controlled by Mr. Liu 75,872 80,759
– co mpanies with common key management 

personnel 1,222 26,086
   

(c) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management of the Group are members of the board of directors and senior 
management. Included in employee benefit expenses are key management personnel 
remuneration which includes the following expenses:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Directors’ fees 652 620
Salaries, bonus and allowances 2,621 2,299
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 306 280
   

3,579 3,199
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries (note) 104,357 102,870
   

104,357 102,870
   

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 251,142 254,875
Bank balances and cash 4,232 3,752
   

255,374 258,627
   

Current liabilities
Other payables 10,658 13,417
   

Net current assets 244,716 245,210
   

Net assets 349,073 348,080
   

EQUITY
Share capital 38 38
Reserves (note 25(e)) 349,035 348,042
   

Total equity 349,073 348,080
   

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

Note:  Details of the principal subsidiaries are stated in note 31.

  

Wang Wenhao Hu Hongfang
Director Director
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Directly held by the Company
Hevol Group Limited3 Hong Kong/ 

7 June 2018
Not applicable/

US$1
100%

(2022: 100%)
Agency business and 

Investment holding 
in Hong Kong

Rime Venture Limited3 BVI/ 
28 March 2018

Not applicable/
US$1

100%
(2022: 100%)

Investment holding 
in the British Virgin 
Islands

Indirectly held by the Company
Rime Venture (HK) Limited3 Hong Kong/ 

23 May 2018
Not applicable/

US$1
100%

(2022: 100%)
Investment holding in 

Hong Kong
Guizhou WFOE1 

貴州福瑞盈信息咨詢有限公司1

PRC/ 
13 September 
2018

RMB387,575,600/
RMB387,575,600

100%
(2022: 100%)

Management 
consultation and 
Investment holding 
in Mainland China

Guizhou Hevol Abundance 
Property Management Limited2 

貴州和泓豐盈物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
19 July 2018

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

 100%
(2022: 100%)

Investment holding in 
Mainland China

Beijing Hongsheng Investment 
Limited (“Beijing Hongsheng”)
北京泓升投資有限責任公司2

PRC/ 
13 January 2006

RMB30,000,000
RMB30,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Management 
consultation and 
Investment holding 
in Mainland China

Beijing Hevol Property Services2 

北京和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
9 April 2002

RMB60,000,000/
RMB12,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Guiyang Hevol Property Services 
Company Limited2 

貴陽和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
9 November 2006

RMB500,000/
RMB500,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Indirectly held by the Company 
(Continued)

Panzhoushi Hongsheng Property 
Services Co. Ltd2 

盤州市泓升物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
28 March 2022

RMB800,000/
RMB800,000

60%
(2022: 60%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Hainan Hevol Hotel Property 
Services Company Limited2 

海南和泓酒店物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
18 January 2012

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Guizhou Hevol Property Services2 

貴州和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
21 May 2021

RMB1,000,000/
–4

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Guangzhou Hevol Property 
Services Co., Ltd.2 

廣州和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
9 June 2023

RMB1,000,000/
–4

100%
(2022: –)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Zhengzhou Hevol Property 
Services Co., Ltd.2 

鄭州和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
15 December 
2022

RMB2,000,000/
–4

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Zhumadianshi Modern Property 
Management Co. Ltd2  

駐馬店市現代物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
20 September 
2006

RMB3,000,000/
RMB500,000

51%
(2022: –)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Beijing Shangxianghui Trade 
Company Limited2 

北京商享匯貿易有限公司2

PRC/ 
12 October 2020

RMB1,000,000/
RMB200,000

100% 
(2022: 100%)

Trading services in 
Mainland China

Danya Decoration (Beijing) 
Company Limited2 

澹雅裝飾裝修(北京)有限公司2

PRC/ 
21 October 2022

RMB1,000,000/
RMB300,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Decoration services in 
Mainland China

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Indirectly held by the Company 
(Continued)

Inner Mongolia Hevol Travel 
Agency Company Limited2 

內蒙古和泓旅行社有限公司2

PRC/ 
5 July 2023

RMB1,000,000/
–4

100%
(2022: –)

Travel agency services 
in Mainland China

Chongqing Hevol Property 
Services Company Limited2 

重慶和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
22 June 2007

RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Chongqing Hengshuo Wisdom 
Life Services Company Limited2 
重慶恆碩智慧生活服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
24 August 2020

RMB1,000,000/
RMB500,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Community living 
services in Mainland 
China

Chongqing Chengshuo Wisdom 
Life Services Company Limited2 
重慶誠碩智慧生活服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
26 June 2023

RMB100,000/
RMB100,000

100%
(2022: –)

Community living 
services in Mainland 
China

Tianjin Hevol Property 
Management Services Company 
Limited2 

天津和泓物業管理服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
30 April 2008

RMB50,000,000/
RMB1,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Shenyang Hevol Property Services 
Company Limited2 

瀋陽和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
16 August 2010

RMB1,000,000/
RMB1,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Tangshan Hevol Property Services 
Company Limited2 

唐山和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
11 January 2011

RMB500,000/
RMB500,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Hunan Hehua Property Services 
Company Limited2 

湖南和華物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
26 November 
2012

RMB2,000,000/
RMB2,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Indirectly held by the Company 
(Continued)

Hunan Jinying Property 
Management Co., Ltd.2 

湖南金鷹物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
22 May 2019

RMB3,000,000/
–4

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Yiyang Hevol Property 
Management Services Company 
Limited2 
益陽和泓物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
25 December 
2020

RMB10,000,000/
RMB170,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Beijing He Zhong Real Estate 
Agency Co., Ltd.2 

北京和眾置地房地產經紀有限 
公司2

PRC/ 
5 January 2007

RMB10,000,000/ 
RMB1,000,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Real estate brokerage 
services in Mainland 
China

Beijing Hetianyu Housing Rental 
Company Limited2 
北京和甜寓住房租賃有限公司2

PRC/ 
4 August 2023

RMB1,000,000/
–4

51%
(2022: –)

Housing rental services 
in Mainland China

Shanghai Tongjin Property 
Management Services Co. Ltd2

上海同進物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
29 May 2003

RMB50,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

70%
(2022: 70%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Shanghai Wanrun Property 
Management Co., Ltd.2 

上海萬潤物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
5 April 2005

RMB500,000/
RMB500,000

70%
(2022: 70%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Jiangsu Tongjin Property 
Management Services2 

江蘇同進物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
9 January 2009

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

70%
(2022: 70%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Shanghai Haoshi Trade Company 
Limited2 
上海浩獅商貿有限公司2

PRC/ 
2 September 
2022

RMB3,000,000/
–4

70%
(2022: 70%)

Trading services in 
Mainland China

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Indirectly held by the Company 
(Continued)

Shanghai Tongjia Property 
Management Services Co. Ltd2

上海同嘉物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
31 October 2018

RMB25,000,000/
RMB6,250,000

60%
(2022: 60%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Dongguan Baoying Property 
Management Company 
Limited2 

東莞市寶盈物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
2 May 2013

RMB5,000,000/
RMB3,000,000

60%
(2022: 60%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Guizhou Xingji Property Services 
Company Limited2 

貴州星際物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
11 September 
2009

RMB2,000,000/
RMB2,000,000

–*
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Hohhot Huigu Property Services 
Company Limited2 

呼和浩特市慧谷物業服務有限 
公司2

PRC/ 
26 October 2012

RMB500,000/
RMB500,000

65%
(2022: 65%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Zhongshan Zhongzheng Property 
Management Co., Ltd.2 

中山市中正物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
18 January 2008

RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Zhongshanshi Hezhong Land 
Real Estate Agency Company 
Limited2 
中山市和眾置地房地產經紀有限

公司2

PRC/ 
25 May 2021

RMB500,000/
RMB98,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Real estate brokerage 
services in Mainland 
China

Sichuan Wansheng Property 
Service Co., Ltd.2 

四川萬晟物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
23 April 2013

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

60%
(2022: 60%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Indirectly held by the Company 
(Continued)

Sichuan Renjun Property Services 
Company Limited2 
四川仁郡物業服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
7 May 2020

RMB3,000,000/
RMB3,000,000

60%
(2022: –)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Jiangsu Shenhua Times Property 
Group Co., Ltd.2 

江蘇深華時代物業集團有限公司2

PRC/ 
5 September 
2008

RMB20,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Panjin Four Seasons City Property 
Management Co., Ltd.2 

盤錦四季城物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
23 August 2006

RMB10,000,000/
RMB3,000,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Panjin Yongli Property 
Management Company Limited2 
盤錦永利物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
18 April 2012

RMB1,000,000/
RMB1,000,000

51%
(2022: 51%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Guiyang Xinglong Property 
Management Co., Ltd2 

貴陽興隆物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
10 June 2004

RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

70%
(2022: 70%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Guizhou Hevol Xinglong Property 
Management Company Limited2 
貴州和泓興隆物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
23 September 
2011

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

56.7%
(2022: 56.7%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Country/place 
and date of 
incorporation/
establishment 

Registered/ 
issued and 

paid-up capital
Equity  

interest held

Principal activities 
and principal country 
of operation     

Indirectly held by the Company 
(Continued)

Zunyi Jinning Property 
Management Co., Ltd.2 

遵義市金寧物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
19 August 2004

RMB5,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

68.75%
(2022: 68.75%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Chongqing Xinlongxin Property 
Management Co., Ltd.2 

重慶新隆信物業管理有限公司2

PRC/ 
01 August 2003

RMB30,000,000/
RMB5,000,000

100%
(2022: 100%)

Property management 
services in Mainland 
China

Chongqing Hexinjia Life Services 
Company Limited2 
重慶和信家生活服務有限公司2

PRC/ 
5 June 2023

RMB1,000,000/
–4

100%
(2022: –)

Community living 
services in Mainland 
China

1 Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law

2 Registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law

3 Incorporated as a limited liability company under local jurisdiction

4 The capital has not yet been paid-up by the Group

* The Group fully disposed of its equity interest in Guizhou Xingji on 31 December 2023 as detailed in note 
33

The English names of certain companies referred herein represent management’s best 
effort at translating the Chinese names of these companies as no English name has been 
registered.

All companies comprising the Group have adopted 31 December as their financial year end 
date.
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The Group includes the following subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (“NCI”), 
the details and the summarised financial information, before intragroup eliminations, are as 
follows:

Zunyi Jinning:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

NCI percentage 31.25% 31.25%

Current assets 78,870 87,190
Non-current assets 4,294 3,626
Current liabilities (61,614) (44,227)
Non-current liabilities (283) (607)
Net assets 21,267 45,982
Carrying amount of NCI 6,646 14,369
   

Revenue 126,918 90,980
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period 13,767 14,821
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to 

NCI 4,302 4,631
Net cash generated from operating activities 14,127 11,693
Net cash used in investing activities (957) (3,282)
Net cash inflows for the period 13,170 8,361
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Guiyang Xinglong and its subsidiary:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

NCI percentage 30% 30%
Current assets 215,239 207,326
Non-current assets 8,962 6,960
Current liabilities (186,317) (179,723)
Non-current liabilities – (521)
Net assets 37,884 34,042
Carrying amount of NCI 11,365 10,213
   

Revenue 194,375 174,842
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year/

period 17,433 24,288
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to 

NCI 5,230 7,286
Net cash generated/(used in) from operating activities 10,300 (69,487)
Net cash generated/(used in) from investing activities 5,303 (215)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) for the year/period 15,603 (69,702)
   

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

Other than those disclosed in notes 18(a) and 20(ii), the Group has entered into the 
following major non-cash transaction during the year ended 31 December 2023:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into certain lease 
contracts in which additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in respect of 
investment properties amounting to RMB13,570,000 (2022: RMB Nil) (note 14) was 
recognised at the lease commencement date.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into certain lease 
contracts in which additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in respect of 
property, plant and equipment amounting to RMB7,069,000 (note 12) was recognised 
at the lease commencement date.
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below set out the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Bank 
borrowings

Lease 
liabilities

Amounts 
due to 

related 
parties Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At 1 January 2022 4,000 2,544 634 7,178

Cash flows from financing activities
– Repayments – – (634) (634)
– Payment of capital element of leases – (2,522) – (2,522)
– Payment of interest element of leases – (245) – (245)
– P ayment of interest element of  

bank borrowings (220) – – (220)
– Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28(b)) 5,000 – – 5,000
Other changes:
– Entering into new leases – 7,069 – 7,069
– Interest expenses on lease liabilities – 245 – 245
– Interest expenses on bank borrowings 220 – – 220
     

At 31 December 2022 9,000 7,091 – 16,091

Cash flows from financing activities
– Proceeds 51,000 – – 51,000
– Repayments (5,000) – – (5,000)
– Payment of capital element of leases – (5,674) – (5,674)
– Payment of interest element of leases – (423) – (423)
– P ayment of interest element of  

bank borrowings (957) – – (957)

Other changes:
– Entering into new leases – 13,570 – 13,570
– Interest expenses on lease liabilities – 423 – 423
– Interest expenses on bank borrowings 957 – – 957
     

At 31 December 2023 55,000 14,987 – 69,987
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33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 1 December 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a 
connected person of the Company to dispose of its 51% equity interest in Guizhou Xingji 
for a consideration of RMB25,500,000. This transaction constituted a disclosable transaction  
of the Company and details of this transaction were set out in the Company’s circular dated 
1 December 2023. The disposal was duly completed on 31 December 2023.

2023
RMB’000

  

Net assets disposed of at the date of disposal:
Property, plant and equipment 205
Intangible assets (note 13) 6,506
Deferred tax assets (note 23) 1,636
Inventories 172
Cash and bank balances 10,449
Trade and other receivables 63,778
Accruals and other payables (42,007)
Tax payable (1,294)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 23) (1,627)
Non-controlling interests (18,531)
  

Subtotal 19,287
Goodwill (note 15) 20,237
  

Total 39,524
  

Cash consideration 25,500
  

Loss on disposal of subsidiary 14,024
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33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of a 
subsidiary is as follows:

2023
RMB’000

  

Cash consideration 25,500
Cash and bank balances disposed of (10,449)
  

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
In respect of the disposal of a subsidiary 15,051
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its 
ordinary course of operations and in its investment activities. The financial risks include 
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency 
risk). The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior 
management of the Group and approved by the board of directors.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in respect of financial 
instruments or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

34.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
relate to the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

– Trade and other receivables 555,063 634,657
– Restricted bank deposits 34 7,319
– Bank balances and cash 378,205 275,922

   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

– Bank borrowings 55,000 9,000
– Trade and other payables 397,942 529,674

Financial guarantee issued 5,721 18,439
Lease liabilities 14,987 7,091
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.2 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial assets would fail to 
discharge its obligation under the terms of the financial assets and cause a financial 
loss to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to 
financial assets is limited to the carrying amount at each reporting date as disclosed 
in note 34.1.

(i) Trade receivables

The Group’s policy is to deal only with credit worthy counterparties. Payment 
record of customers is closely monitored. It is not the Group’s policy to request 
collateral from its customers.

In addition, as set out in note 2.9, the Group assesses ECL under IFRS 9 on 
trade receivables based on provision matrix, the ECL rates are based on the 
payment profile for sales in the past 36 months as well as the corresponding 
historical credit losses during that period. The management would also 
make individual assessment on the recoverability of trade receivables from 
related parties. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forwarding-looking macroeconomic factors (including the change in economic 
environment arising from COVID-19) affecting the customer’s ability to settle 
the amount outstanding. At each reporting date, the historical default rates are 
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Failure to make payments within credit terms and 
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment arrangement amongst 
other are considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of recovery.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Details of the estimation of ECL allowance on trade receivables are set out 
below:

Third parties
Related 
parties Total

   

0-90  
days

91-180 
days

181-365 
days 1-2 years 2-3 years >3 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

At 31 December 2023
Weighted average expected 

credit loss rate 2.8% 6.3% 9.7% 22.8% 35.9% 51.9% 15%
Gross carrying amount 103,285 46,352 73,783 78,727 35,416 60,009 77,094 474,666
ECL allowance 2,937 2,903 7,121 17,966 12,716 31,168 11,553 86,364
         

At 31 December 2022
Weighted average expected 

credit loss rate 0.8% 2.3% 2.6% 8.3% 21.3% 38.1% 19.1%
Gross carrying amount 66,959 40,267 63,464 87,127 61,308 62,900 106,845 488,870
ECL allowance 505 946 1,675 7,207 13,063 23,962 20,408 67,766
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables, amounts due 
from related parties and bank balances and cash. The Group has large number 
of counterparties for its other receivables other than those from related parties. 
There was no concentration of credit risk. In order to minimise the credit risk 
of other receivables and amounts due from related parties, the management 
would make periodic collective and individual assessment on the recoverability 
of other receivables and amounts due from related parties based on historical 
settlement records and past experience as well as collateral and current external 
information and adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking 
information, including the default rate where the relevant debtors operates. 
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up actions are 
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management is of the opinion 
that there is no significant increase in credit risk on these financial assets since 
initial recognition as the risk of default is low after considering the factors as set 
out in note 2.9 and, thus, ECL recognised is based on 12-month ECL.

Bank deposits are mainly placed with state-owned financial institutions and 
reputable banks which are all high-credit-quality financial institutions. The 
management does not expect that there will be any significant losses from 
non-performance by these counterparties.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The gross carrying amount of other receivables by stage is as follows:

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

At 31 December 2023
Other receivables 195,493 – 3,832 199,325

At 31 December 2022
Other receivables 215,582 – – 215,582
     

The movement in provision for impairment of other receivables are as follows:

12-month 
ECLs

Lifetime 
ECLs Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

At 1 January 2022 3,296 – 3,296
ECL allowance reversed, net (1,267) – (1,267)
    

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2,029 – 2,029
Disposal of a subsidiary (366) – (366)
ECL allowance recognised, net 1,740 3,832 5,572
    

At 31 December 2023 3,403 3,832 7,235
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of their 
recognised financial liabilities as summarised in note 34.1, and also in respect of its 
cash flow management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of 
liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the 
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial 
liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. When the creditor has a choice of when 
the liability is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the earliest date on 
when the Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the liability is in 
instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is 
committed to pay.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The contractual maturity analyses below is based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
the financial liabilities:

Within 1 
year or on 

demand

Over 1 year 
but within 2 

years

Over 2 years 
but within 5 

years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
amount

Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

As at 31 December 
2023

Trade and other payables 397,942 – – 397,942 397,942
Bank borrowings 16,920 7,319 33,075 57,314 55,000
Lease liabilities 9,671 5,102 1,115 15,888 14,987
      

424,533 12,421 34,190 471,144 467,929
      

Financial guarantee 5,721 – – 5,721 5,721
      

As at 31 December 
2022

Trade and other payables 509,674 20,000 – 529,674 529,674
Bank borrowings 5,282 1,136 3,071 9,489 9,000
Lease liabilities 3,923 3,012 389 7,324 7,091
      

518,879 24,148 3,460 546,487 545,765
      

Financial guarantee 18,439 – – 18,439 18,439
      



243

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.4 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to the cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate 
risk for its bank deposits, bank borrowings and lease liabilities, respectively. No 
sensitivity analysis is presented since the directors consider the exposure of cash flow 
interest rate and fair value interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank deposits, 
bank borrowings and lease liabilities, respectively, will not be significant in the near 
future.

34.5 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised 
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional 
currency.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has bank balances of RMB373,901,000 (2022: 
RMB271,545,000) denominated in RMB placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion 
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign 
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risk. However, management monitors 
the foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency 
exposure should the need arise.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.6 Fair value measurements

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement 
of financial position are grouped into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The 
three levels are defined based on the observability and significance of inputs to the 
measurements, as follows:

– Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and 
liabilities.

– Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and 
not using significant unobservable inputs.

– Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

There was no transfer into or out of level 3 during the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial assets for the years 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

RMB’000
  

At 1 January 2022 –
Additions 11,200
Fair value change included in profit or loss 87
Disposals (11,287)
  

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 –
Additions 8,180
Fair value change included in profit or loss 18
Disposals (5,018)
  

At 31 December 2023 3,180
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
(Continued)

34.6 Fair value measurements (Continued)

The fair values of these investments were determined based on the expected return 
rate as stipulated in relevant contract with the counterparties.

The fair values of these investments were determined based on the expected return 
rate as stipulated in relevant contract with the counterparties.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities other than financial assets 
at FVTPL are not materially different from their carrying amounts because of the 
immediate or short maturity of these financial instruments.

35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and to provide an adequate return to shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in 
the long term.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes adjustments in light 
of changes in economic conditions. As part of this review, the directors of the Company 
consider cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued share capital. The Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital 
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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CONSOL IDATED STATEMENTS OF PROF IT  OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Revenue 248,275 415,870 766,791 1,041,221 1,313,283
Cost of sales (164,142) (266,965) (502,598) (745,913) (977,067)
      

Gross profit 84,133 148,905 264,193 295,308 (336,216)
Other income 4,743 9,529 15,496 16,220 39,724
Expected credit loss (“ECL”) 

allowance on trade and other 
receivables, net 4,534 (6,162) (5,810) (46,976) (45,519)

Administrative expenses (52,353) (77,265) (134,464) (145,810) (186,583)
Listing-related expenses (17,693) – – – –
Finance costs (150) (187) (465) (465) (1,380)
Share of profit of associates – – – – 12
      

Profit before income tax 23,214 74,820 138,950 118,277 142,470
Income tax expense (9,421) (14,843) (30,314) (14,713) (28,336)
      

Profit for the year 13,793 59,977 108,636 103,564 114,134
      

Other comprehensive expense 
for the year, net of nil tax

Items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

– Exchange differences on 
translation of the Company’s 
financial statements into its 
presentation currency – (5,573) (981) 22,155 4,396

      

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 13,793 54,404 107,655 125,719 118,530
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Year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Profit for the year attributable 
to:

Equity shareholders of the 
Company 13,793 56,357 86,194 68,718 77,899

Non-controlling interests – 3,620 22,442 34,846 36,235
      

13,793 59,977 108,636 103,564 114,134
      

Total comprehensive income 
for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the 
Company 13,793 50,784 85,213 90,873 82,295

Non-controlling interests – 3,620 22,442 34,846 36,235
      

13,793 54,404 107,655 125,719 118,530
      

Earnings per share attributable 
to owners of the Company 
(expressed in RMB cents)
Basic and diluted 3.97 12.76 15.60 12.27 13.91
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CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Assets
Non-current assets 67,966 142,571 488,385 704,726 704,341
Current assets 238,690 470,675 685,862 928,537 948,132
      

Total assets 306,656 613,246 1,174,247 1,633,263 1,652,473
      

Equity and Liabilities
Total equity 164,456 327,199 588,026 711,468 777,306

Non-current liabilities 6,788 12,559 25,500 54,113 69,632
Current liabilities 135,412 273,488 560,721 867,682 805,535
      

Total Liabilities 142,200 286,047 586,221 921,795 875,167
      

Total equity and liabilities 306,656 613,246 1,174,247 1,633,263 1,652,473
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